
THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. IF YOU ARE
IN ANY DOUBT ABOUT THE OFFER, THE CONTENTS OF THIS DOCUMENT OR THE ACTION
YOU SHOULD TAKE, YOU ARE RECOMMENDED TO SEEK YOUR OWN INDEPENDENT
FINANCIAL ADVICE FROM A STOCKBROKER, BANK MANAGER, SOLICITOR, ACCOUNTANT OR
OTHER INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER AUTHORISED UNDER THE FINANCIAL SERVICES
AND MARKETS ACT 2000. IF YOU ARE OUTSIDE THE UNITED KINGDOM YOU SHOULD
IMMEDIATELY CONSULT AN APPROPRIATELY AUTHORISED INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL
ADVISER.

If you have sold or otherwise transferred all your Modern Water Shares, please send this
document and the accompanying documents (but not the accompanying Form of Acceptance),
as soon as possible, to the purchaser or transferee or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent
through whom the sale or transfer was effected for delivery to the purchaser or transferee. If you
have sold or transferred only part of your holding of Modern Water Shares, you should retain
these documents and consult the stockbroker, bank manager or other agent through whom the
sale or transfer was effected. However, neither this document nor the Form of Acceptance
should be distributed, forwarded or transmitted in or into any jurisdiction in which such an act
would constitute a violation of the relevant laws in such jurisdiction.

The distribution of this document or the Form of Acceptance in or into jurisdictions other than the United

Kingdom may be restricted by the laws of those jurisdictions and therefore persons into whose

possession this document comes should inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions.

Failure to comply with any such restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such

jurisdiction.

Application will be made for the First Tranche of the New DeepVerge Shares (and in due course all New

DeepVerge Shares to be issued under the Offer) to be admitted to trading on AIM. It is expected that,

subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, Admission will become effective and trading in the First

Tranche of the New DeepVerge Shares will commence at 8.00 a.m. on 23 November 2020.

Recommended All-Equity Offer

by

DeepVerge plc (formerly Integumen plc)

for

Modern Water plc

Modern Water Shareholders should carefully read the whole of this document and the
information incorporated by reference. In particular, your attention is drawn to the letter from the
Independent Modern Water Directors which is set out in Part I of this document and which
contains, inter alia, the recommendation of the Independent Modern Water Directors to accept
the Offer.

THE PROCEDURE FOR ACCEPTANCE OF THE OFFER IS SET OUT ON PAGES 55 TO 58 OF THIS
DOCUMENT AND, IN RESPECT OF MODERN WATER SHARES IN CERTIFICATED FORM, IN THE
ACCOMPANYING FORM OF ACCEPTANCE. IF YOU HOLD MODERN WATER SHARES IN
CERTIFICATED FORM THEN, TO ACCEPT THE OFFER, THE FORM OF ACCEPTANCE MUST BE
COMPLETED AND RETURNED AS SOON AS POSSIBLE AND, IN ANY EVENT, SO AS TO BE
RECEIVED BY NEVILLE REGISTRARS BY POST AT NEVILLE HOUSE, STEELPARK ROAD,
HALESOWEN B62 8HD NO LATER THAN 1.00 P.M. (LONDON TIME) ON 3 NOVEMBER 2020.

IF YOU HOLD MODERN WATER SHARES IN UNCERTIFICATED FORM THEN, TO ACCEPT THE
OFFER, YOU SHOULD INSTEAD COMPLY WITH THE PROCEDURE FOR ACCEPTANCE SET OUT
ON PAGES 59 TO 62 OF THIS DOCUMENT AND ENSURE THAT ACCEPTANCE IS MADE
ELECTRONICALLY THROUGH CREST SO THAT THE TRANSFER TO ESCROW (“TTE”)
INSTRUCTION SETTLES NO LATER THAN 1.00 P.M. (LONDON TIME) ON 3 NOVEMBER 2020. IF
YOU ARE A CREST SPONSORED MEMBER, YOU MUST REFER TO YOUR CREST SPONSOR
BEFORE TAKING ANY ACTION AS ONLY YOUR CREST SPONSOR WILL BE ABLE TO SEND THE
NECESSARY TTE INSTRUCTIONS TO EUROCLEAR.
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SPARK Advisory Partners Limited, which, in the United Kingdom, is authorised and regulated by the

Financial Conduct Authority, is acting exclusively for DeepVerge and no one else in connection with the

Offer and will not be responsible to anyone other than DeepVerge for providing the protections afforded

to clients of SPARK Advisory Partners Limited nor for providing advice in relation to the Offer or any

other matter or arrangement referred to in this document. Neither SPARK Advisory Partners Limited nor

any of its partners, directors, officers, employees or agents owes or accepts any duty, liability or

responsibility whatsoever (whether direct or indirect, whether in contract, in tort, under statute or

otherwise) to any person who is not a client of SPARK Advisory Partners Limited in connection with this

document, any statement contained herein, the Offer or otherwise.

Cairn Financial Advisers LLP, which, in the United Kingdom, is authorised and regulated by the

Financial Conduct Authority, is acting exclusively for Modern Water and no one else in connection with

the Offer and will not be responsible to anyone other than Modern Water for providing the protections

afforded to clients of Cairn Financial Advisers LLP nor for providing advice in relation to the Offer or any

other matter or arrangement referred to in this document. Neither Cairn Financial Advisers LLP nor any

of its partners, directors, officers, employees or agents owes or accepts any duty, liability or

responsibility whatsoever (whether direct or indirect, whether in contract, in tort, under statute or

otherwise) to any person who is not a client of Cairn Financial Advisers LLP in connection with this

document, any statement contained herein, the Offer or otherwise.

IMPORTANT NOTICE

The release, publication or distribution of this document in jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom

may be restricted by law and therefore persons into whose possession this document comes should

inform themselves about, and observe, any applicable restrictions or requirements. Any failure to

comply with such restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

To the fullest extent possible, the companies involved in the Offer disclaim any responsibility or liability

for the violation of such requirements by any person.

This document has been prepared for the purposes of complying with English law, the Code, the Rules

of the London Stock Exchange and the AIM Rules and the information disclosed may not be the same

as that which would have been disclosed if this document had been prepared in accordance with the

laws and regulations of any jurisdiction outside England and Wales.

This document and the accompanying documents do not constitute an offer or form part of any offer or

an invitation to purchase, subscribe for, sell or issue, any securities or a solicitation of any offer to

purchase, subscribe for, sell or issue any securities pursuant to this document or otherwise in any

jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. This document does not constitute a

prospectus within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 but does constitute an exemption

document for the purposes of the current draft Delegated Regulation supplementing Regulation (EU)

2017/1129. This document has not been subject to the scrutiny and approval by the relevant competent

authority in accordance with Article 20 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. The FCA, being the supervisory

authority that has the competence to review this offer document under Directive 2004/25/EC, has

issued a prior approval of this document. The statements contained herein are made as at the date of

this document, unless some other time is specified in relation to them, and service of this document

shall not give rise to any implication that there has been no change in the facts set forth herein since

such date.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document, including certain information incorporated by reference, contains certain forward-

looking statements with respect to the financial condition, results of operations and business of

DeepVerge or the DeepVerge Group and Modern Water or the Modern Water Group and certain plans

and objectives of the Modern Water Board and the DeepVerge Board. These forward-looking

statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate to historical or current facts. Forward-

looking statements often use words such as “anticipate”, “target”, “expect”, “estimate”, “intend”, “plan”,

“goal”, “believe”, “will”, “may”, “should”, “would”, “could” or other words of similar meaning. These

statements are based on assumptions and assessments made by the Modern Water Board and the

DeepVerge Board in the light of their experience and their perception of historical trends, current

conditions, expected future developments and other factors they believe appropriate. By their nature,

forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainty and the factors described in the context of such

4.7.1

4.7.1

1.5.1

a,b,c
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forward-looking statements in this document could cause actual results and developments to differ

materially from those expressed in or implied by such forward-looking statements.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialise, or should underlying assumptions prove

incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described in this document. Except as required

by the FCA, the London Stock Exchange, the AIM Rules, the Code, the Prospectus Regulation Rules,

the Commission Delegated Regulation supplementing Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, the Listing Rules,

the DTRs or any other applicable law, Modern Water and DeepVerge assume no obligation to update

or correct the information contained in this document.

INFORMATION FOR OVERSEAS SHAREHOLDERS

The release, publication or distribution of this document in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law.

Persons who are not resident in the United Kingdom or who are subject to other jurisdictions should

inform themselves of, and should observe, any applicable requirements. Any failure to comply with

these requirements may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. To the

fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the companies and persons involved in the Offer disclaim any

responsibility or liability for the violation of such requirements by any person.

Unless otherwise determined by DeepVerge or required by the Code, and permitted by applicable law

and regulation, the Offer will not be made, directly or indirectly, in, into or from a jurisdiction where to

do so would violate the laws in that jurisdiction and no person may accept the Offer by any such use,

means, instrumentality or form within any jurisdiction if to do so would constitute a violation of the laws

of that jurisdiction. Accordingly, copies of this document and all documents relating to the Offer are not

being, and must not be, directly or indirectly, mailed or otherwise forwarded, distributed or sent in, into

or from a jurisdiction where to do so would violate the laws in that jurisdiction, and persons receiving

this document and all documents relating to the Offer (including custodians, nominees and trustees)

must not mail or otherwise distribute or send them in, into or from such jurisdictions where to do so

would violate the laws in that jurisdiction.

The availability of the New DeepVerge Shares to Modern Water Shareholders who are not resident in

the United Kingdom may be affected by the laws of the relevant jurisdictions in which they are located.

Persons who are not resident in the United Kingdom should inform themselves of, and observe, any

applicable requirements.

NO PROFIT FORECASTS OR ESTIMATES OR QUANTIFIED FINANCIAL
BENEFITS STATEMENTS

No statement in this document is intended as a profit forecast or estimate for any period or a quantified

financial benefit statement and no statement in this document should be interpreted to mean that

earnings or earnings per share for DeepVerge or Modern Water, as appropriate, for the current or future

financial years would necessarily match or exceed the historical published earnings or earnings per

share for DeepVerge or Modern Water, as appropriate.

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS OF THE CODE

Under Rule 8.3(a) of the Code, any person who is interested in 1 per cent. or more of any class of

relevant securities of an offeree company or of any securities exchange offeror (being any offeror other

than an offeror in respect of which it has been announced that its offer is, or is likely to be, solely in

cash) must make an Opening Position Disclosure following the commencement of the offer period and,

if later, following the announcement in which any securities exchange offeror is first identified. An

Opening Position Disclosure must contain details of the person’s interests and short positions in, and

rights to subscribe for, any relevant securities of each of (i) the offeree company and (ii) any securities

exchange offeror(s). An Opening Position Disclosure by a person to whom Rule 8.3(a) applies must be

made by no later than 3.30 p.m. (London time) on the 10th business day following the commencement

of the offer period and, if appropriate, by no later than 3.30 p.m. (London time) on the 10th business

day following the announcement in which any securities exchange offeror is first identified. Relevant

persons who deal in the relevant securities of the offeree company or of a securities exchange offeror

prior to the deadline for making an Opening Position Disclosure must instead make a Dealing

Disclosure.

3
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Under Rule 8.3(b) of the Code, any person who is, or becomes, interested in 1 per cent. or more of any

class of relevant securities of the offeree company or of any securities exchange offeror must make a

Dealing Disclosure if the person deals in any relevant securities of the offeree company or of any

securities exchange offeror. A Dealing Disclosure must contain details of the dealing concerned and of

the person’s interests and short positions in, and rights to subscribe for, any relevant securities of each

of (i) the offeree company and (ii) any securities exchange offeror, save to the extent that these details

have previously been disclosed under Rule 8. A Dealing Disclosure by a person to whom Rule 8.3(b)

applies must be made by no later than 3.30 p.m. (London time) on the business day following the date

of the relevant dealing.

If two or more persons act together pursuant to an agreement or understanding, whether formal or

informal, to acquire or control an interest in relevant securities of an offeree company or a securities

exchange offeror, they will be deemed to be a single person for the purpose of Rule 8.3.

Opening Position Disclosures must also be made by the offeree company and by any offeror and

Dealing Disclosures must also be made by the offeree company, by any offeror and by any persons

acting in concert with any of them (see Rules 8.1, 8.2 and 8.4).

Details of the offeree and offeror companies in respect of whose relevant securities Opening Position

Disclosures and Dealing Disclosures must be made can be found in the Disclosure Table on the

Takeover Panel’s website at www.thetakeoverpanel.org.uk, including details of the number of relevant

securities in issue, when the offer period commenced and when any offeror was first identified. You

should contact the Panel’s Market Surveillance Unit on +44 (0)20 7638 0129 if you are in any doubt as

to whether you are required to make an Opening Position Disclosure or a Dealing Disclosure.

ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS

Modern Water Shareholders should note that addresses, electronic addresses and certain other

information provided by them, persons with information rights and other relevant persons for the receipt

of communications from Modern Water may be provided to DeepVerge during the Offer Period as

required under section 4 of appendix 4 to the Code.

PUBLICATION ON WEBSITES AND AVAILABILITY OF HARD COPIES

In accordance with Rule 26.1 of the Code, a copy of this document and the information incorporated by

reference in this document, subject to certain restrictions relating to Restricted Overseas Shareholders,

will be published on the websites of Modern Water and DeepVerge respectively, in each case promptly

following the publication of this document and in any event by no later than 12 noon on the business

day following the publication of this document until the end of the Offer Period (or, if later, the end of

any competition reference period).

For the avoidance of doubt, the content of the websites referred to above is not incorporated into and

does not form part of this document.

Copies of this document, the information incorporated by reference in this document, and all future

documents, announcements and information required to be sent to persons in relation to the Offer may

be requested to be received by such persons in hard copy form by writing to Neville Registrars at Neville

House, Steelpark Road, Halesowen, B62 8HD, or by calling telephone number 0121 585 1131 (from

within the UK) or +44 (0)121 585 1131 (from outside the UK) between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m., Monday

to Friday (excluding public holidays in England and Wales).

4
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INCORPORATION OF INFORMATION BY REFERENCE INTO THIS DOCUMENT

The following information in the following documents is incorporated by reference into this document:

Modern Water
                                                          Report and     Report and     Report and
                                                                Annual            Annual            Annual            Interim            Interim
                                                             Accounts        Accounts        Accounts            Report            Report
                                                              (Audited)         (Audited)         (Audited)    (Unaudited)    (Unaudited)
                                                               for Year           for Year           for Year   for 6 months   for 6 months
                                                                 Ended             Ended             Ended             ended             ended
                                                      31 December 31 December 31 December          30 June          30 June
                                                                    2017               2018               2019               2019               2020
Nature of  information                          Page No.        Page No.        Page No.        Page No.        Page No.

Group statement of comprehensive

income                                                      20                   22                   25                     3                     3

Group and Company statements

of financial position                                   21                   23                   26                     4                     4  

Group and Company statements

of changes in equity                                  22                   24                   27                     5                     5

Group and Company statements

of cash flows                                             23                   26                   29                     6                     6

Notes to the financial statements                 24                   27                   30                     6                     7

Accounting policies                                       24                   27                   30                     7                     7

Independent auditors’ report                        14                   15                   17                  n/a                  n/a

DeepVerge
                                                       Report and     Report and     Report and
                                                              Annual           Annual           Annual            Interim            Interim
                                                          Accounts        Accounts        Accounts            Report            Report
                                                            (Audited)        (Audited)        (Audited)    (Unaudited)    (Unaudited)
                                                             for Year          for Year          for Year  for 6 months  for 6 months
                                                               Ended            Ended            Ended             ended             ended
                                                   31 December 31 December 31 December          30 June          30 June
                                                                 2017               2018               2019               2019               2020
Nature of  information                        Page No.        Page No.        Page No.        Page No.        Page No.

Consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income                             20                   22                   26                     6                     3

Consolidated and Company’s 

statement of financial position                  21                   23                   27                     6                     4

Consolidated and Company’s 

statement of cash flows                            22                   24                   28                     7                     5

Consolidated and Company’s 

Statement of Changes in 

Shareholders’ Equity                                 23                   25                   29                     8                     6

Notes to the financial statements                 24                   26                   30                     9                     7

Accounting policies                                       24                   26                   30                  n/a                  n/a

Independent auditors’ report                         14                   17                   18                  n/a                  n/a

This information is available on www.modernwater.com and www.deepverge.com. To obtain a hard

copy of any of the information listed above as having been incorporated by reference into this document

contact the DeepVerge offices on +44 20 3239 3716. You will not receive a hard copy of this information

unless you so request. You may also inform DeepVerge that you wish all future documents,

announcements and information in relation to the Offer be sent to you in hard copy.

The information on the above websites does not form part of this document unless that
information is incorporated by reference into this document.

2.1.2e

2.1.2e
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ROUNDING

Certain figures included in this document have been subjected to rounding adjustments. Accordingly,

figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown

as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them.

DOCUMENT DATE

This document is dated 13 October 2020.

ACTION TO BE TAKEN TO ACCEPT THE OFFER

The procedure for acceptance of the Offer is set out in paragraph 13 of the letter in Part II of this

document.

1.       If you hold Modern Water Shares in certificated form (i.e. not in CREST) to accept the Offer you

must:

(A)      complete, sign and return the Form of Acceptance in accordance with paragraph 13 of the

letter in Part II of this document and the instructions printed thereon; and

(B)      return the completed Form of Acceptance (with original share certificate(s) and/or other

document(s) of title) by post to Neville Registrars at Neville House, Steelpark Road,

Halesowen, B62 8HD, as soon as possible, and in any event so as to be received no later

than 1.00 p.m. (London time) on 3 November 2020. A reply paid envelope has been

enclosed for your convenience.

2.       If you hold Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form (i.e. in CREST), to accept the Offer you

must take (or procure the taking of) the action set out in paragraph 13 of the letter in Part II of

this document to transfer the Modern Water Shares in respect of which you wish to accept the

Offer to the appropriate escrow balance(s) as soon as possible and in any event so that the TTE

Instruction settles not later than 1.00 p.m. (London time) on 3 November 2020. If you are a

CREST sponsored member, you should refer to your CREST sponsor before taking any action.

If you have any questions about the Offer, or are in any doubt as to how to complete the
accompanying Form of Acceptance or make an Electronic Acceptance, please call Neville
Registrars on telephone number 0121 585 1131 (or +44 (0)121 585 1131 from outside of the UK)
on Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays in England and Wales). This helpline is available
from 9.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m.

For legal reasons, the helpline will not be able to provide advice on the merits of the Offer or to
provide financial, legal or tax advice.

Copies of this document (and any information incorporated into it by reference to another
source) sent to persons in electronic form or by means of being published on DeepVerge’s
and/or Modern Water’s websites and all future documents, announcements and information
required to be sent to persons in relation to the Offer may be requested to be received by such
persons in hard copy form by writing to Neville Registrars, Neville House, Steelpark Road,
Halesowen, B62 8HD or by calling Neville Registrars on telephone number 0121 585 1131 (or +44
(0)121 585 1131 from outside of the UK) on Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays in
England and Wales). A hard copy of this document will not otherwise be sent unless so
requested.

Calls are charged at the standard geographic rate and will vary by provider. Calls to the helpline
from outside the United Kingdom will be charged at the applicable international rate. The
helpline is open between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. (London time) Monday to Friday, excluding
public holidays in England and Wales. Different charges may apply to calls from mobile
telephones and calls may be recorded and randomly monitored for security and training
purposes. Please note that, for legal reasons, Neville Registrars (acting as the Receiving Agent)
will only be able to provide you with information contained in this document and will be unable
to give advice on the merits of the Offer nor give any financial, legal or tax advice on the
contents of this document.

THE FIRST CLOSING DATE OF THE OFFER IS 3 NOVEMBER 2020

ACCEPTANCE OF THE OFFER SHOULD BE RECEIVED BY NO LATER THAN 1.00 P.M.
(LONDON TIME) on 3 NOVEMBER 2020

6
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You should carefully read the whole of this document, including any documents incorporated into it by

reference, and the accompanying Form of Acceptance, the terms of which are deemed to form part of

the Offer. Your attention is drawn to the letter from the Independent Modern Water Directors set out in

Part I of this document, which contains the unanimous recommendation of the Independent Modern

Water Directors to accept the Offer.

7
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                          EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS                           

Announcement of the Offer 28 August 2020

Posting to Modern Water Shareholders of this document and

(if appropriate) the Form of Acceptance 13 October 2020

First closing time and date of the Offer 1.00 p.m. on 3 November 2020

Earliest date on which the Offer is expected to become or be declared

unconditional in all respects 17 November 2020

Admission of the First Tranche of New DeepVerge Shares to trading 8.00 a.m. on

on AIM expected to become effective and dealings expected to commence* 23 November 2020

CREST accounts expected to be credited in respect of the First Tranche 8.00 a.m. on

of new DeepVerge Shares (where applicable)* 23 November 2020

Date by which certificates in respect of the First Tranche of new within 10 business days

DeepVerge Shares are expected to be despatched (where applicable)* of Admission

*      assuming that the Offer is declared unconditional as to acceptances on the First Closing Date

3.2.6
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PART I

LETTER OF RECOMMENDATION FROM THE INDEPENDENT MODERN WATER
DIRECTORS

(Incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 1985 with registered number 05963927)

Independent Modern Water Directors: Registered office:

Simon Humphrey (Chief  Executive Officer)

Nigel Burton (Non-Executive director)

Director:

Gerard Brandon (Non-Executive Chairman)

13 October 2020

To Modern Water Shareholders and, for information only, to holders of  options under the Modern Water
Share Schemes, holders of  warrants and persons with information rights

Dear Modern Water Shareholder,

Recommended offer for Modern Water by DeepVerge (previously named Integumen plc)

1.       Introduction

On 28 August 2020, it was announced that the DeepVerge Board and the Modern Water Board had

reached agreement on the terms of a recommended offer to be made by DeepVerge for the entire

issued and to be issued share capital of Modern Water.

This document explains the background to the Offer and the reasons why the Independent Modern

Water Directors, who have been so advised by Cairn as to the financial terms of the Offer, consider the

Offer to be fair and reasonable and why they unanimously recommend that you accept the Offer in

respect of all of your Modern Water Shares. In providing advice to the Independent Modern Water

Directors, Cairn has taken into account the commercial assessments of the Independent Modern Water

Directors. Cairn is providing independent financial advice to the Independent Modern Water Directors

for the purposes of Rule 3 of the Code.

Details of the actions you should take and the recommendation of the Independent Modern Water

Directors are set out in paragraphs 12 and 14 respectively of this Part I.

2.       Summary terms of the Offer

Under the terms of the Offer, which is subject to the satisfaction (or where applicable, waiver) of the

conditions and further terms set out in Part III of this document and (where applicable) the

accompanying Form of Acceptance, Modern Water Shareholders will be entitled to receive:

1 New DeepVerge Share for every 10 Modern Water Shares

Based on the Closing Price of 30.5 pence per DeepVerge Share on the Latest Practicable Date, the

Offer values the entire issued share capital of Modern Water at approximately £16.0 million.

•         The Offer represents a value of 3.05 pence per Modern Water Share and a premium of

approximately:

–        3.4 per cent. based upon the Modern Water Share Closing Price of 2.95 pence on the

Latest Practicable Date;

–        8.9 per cent. based upon the Modern Water Share Closing Price of 2.80 pence on 27

August 2020, being the day before the Announcement was made; and 

–        58.9 per cent. to the 90 trading day average price of 1.92 pence per Modern Water Share

as at 27 August 2020, being the day before the Announcement was made.

Fractions of New DeepVerge Shares will not be allotted and issued to Modern Water
Shareholders pursuant to the Offer and shall be disregarded.

Assuming that a maximum number of 52,469,321 New DeepVerge Shares are issued pursuant to the

Offer, Modern Water Shareholders will hold New DeepVerge Shares representing approximately

32 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital.

3.5.1

3.5.2

3.5.4

12th Floor

6 New Street Square

London

EC4A 3BF
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If all outstanding options and warrants over Modern Water Shares are exercised (including those which

are currently out of the money), and all other obligations to issue Modern Water Shares are fulfilled (as

set out in paragraph 7 of this Part I), a maximum of 63,766,121 Offer Shares will be issued pursuant to

the Offer. In these circumstances Modern Water Shareholders will hold New DeepVerge Shares

representing approximately 34 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital (assuming all DeepVerge

warrants and options are exercised).

If any dividend or other distribution or return of value is proposed, declared, made, paid or becomes

payable by Modern Water in respect of the Modern Water Shares on or after the date of this document,

DeepVerge will have the right to reduce the value of the consideration payable for each Modern Water

Share by up to the amount per Modern Water Share of such dividend, distribution or return of value.

3.       Responsibility for considering the Offer                                                                                     

In light of his role as Chief Executive Officer of DeepVerge, Gerard Brandon, Non-Executive Chairman

of Modern Water, has not participated in the appraisal by the Board of Modern Water of the Offer. The

Board of Modern Water has constituted a committee comprised of the Independent Modern Water

Directors for the purpose of evaluating the Offer to Modern Water Shareholders.

The Independent Modern Water Directors are Simon Humphrey, Chief Executive Officer, and Nigel

Burton, Non-Executive Director.

The Independent Modern Water Directors, who have taken responsibility for considering the terms of

the Offer, are independent of, and not connected with, DeepVerge.

4.       Background to and reasons for the Offer                                                                                    

Since Modern Water was admitted to AIM, revenues have peaked at £4.2 million, but it has been

consistently lossmaking. Modern Water’s accumulated losses stood at approximately £42.8 million as

at 31 December 2019.

In June 2019, Modern Water announced cash flow difficulties, and that it was looking to raise additional

capital. In August 2019, it announced that it was putting the Monitoring Division up for sale, and that it

had appointed liquidators for two of its subsidiaries, being Modern Water Services Limited and Cogent

Environmental Ltd.

Modern Water was unable to agree acceptable terms for the sale of the Monitoring Division, and

instead, in February 2020 completed a placing of 370,000,000 new Modern Water Shares at 0.5 pence

per Modern Water Share raising a total of £1.85 million. This placing enabled Modern Water to address

all outstanding liabilities, and provided the working capital needed to begin to rebuild and strengthen its

sales, marketing and distribution channels. Following the placing, Nigel Burton and Gerard Brandon

joined the Board of Modern Water.

Since then, Modern Water has implemented structural changes that were necessary to expose the

opportunity to move from high-ticket sales, which had a high employee support cost, in desalinisation

and the membrane divisions, to a high volume, high margin recurring revenue strategy that already

existed within the Monitoring Division. Modern Water continues to retain a leadership position within the

water contamination monitoring sector and is adding the latest technologies in e-commerce, logistics,

communications, networking and data encryption which extends Modern Water’s global reach beyond

the US, Europe and Far East offices.

As part of this strategy, Modern Water joined the EcoWaterOS Consortium, launched by DeepVerge in

February 2020. The EcoWaterOS Consortium is an end-to-end water contamination detection and

decontamination solutions provider network, for real-time monitoring and detection of contaminated

water. Modern Water also entered into a reagent supply agreement with DeepVerge in March 2020 for

its Microtox equipment. Furthermore, DeepVerge announced in July 2020 that it had entered into a

collaboration agreement with Avacta plc for the evaluation of Avacta Affimers for the real-time

identification of localised COVID-19 hotspots in wastewater, with the intention of using Modern Water’s

water monitoring distribution channels to sell upgraded Microtox equipment with DeepVerge sensors to

detect COVID-19, subject to positive test evaluation results.

The Independent Modern Water Directors consider that the Offer provides the opportunity for Modern

Water to accelerate its new strategy as part of a larger group with greater access to capital and to
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reduce implementation risks, enhance the technical and human resources available, and grow

shareholder value more quickly than any of the alternatives available.

As shareholders in an enlarged combined group, Modern Water Shareholders will be able to benefit

from DeepVerge’s expertise in the cosmetics, personal healthcare and environmental sectors as well

as in the areas of microbiology, AI and software. Its research and testing capabilities are able to turn

data monitoring into predictive insights with state-of-the-art AI models. The combination of DeepVerge

and Modern Water will enhance both companies’ worldwide reach from research and development

projects to commercialisation and building worldwide distribution in the fields of environmental

toxicology services and monitoring and testing technology supported by AI modelling to enhance and

accelerate data analysis.

The Independent Modern Water Directors have also given due consideration to DeepVerge’s strategic

objectives and welcome DeepVerge’s stated intentions concerning the Modern Water Group’s

management and employees, locations of business and strategic plans. The Independent Modern

Water Directors also welcome DeepVerge’s confirmation that, following the completion of the Offer, the

existing contractual and statutory employment rights of all Modern Water Group management and

employees will be fully safeguarded in accordance with applicable law, including any employer

contributions into Modern Water’s pension scheme. The Independent Modern Water Directors further

welcome the confirmation that DeepVerge does not intend to make any immediate restructurings or

changes in location of Modern Water’s headquarters and headquarter functions, operations and places

of business.

The Independent Modern Water Directors have carefully considered both this Offer and the alternatives.

The Offer provides the opportunity to reduce implementation risks, enhance the technical and human

resources available, and grow shareholder value more quickly than any of the alternatives available.

The recommendation of the Independent Modern Water Directors is set out in paragraph 14 of this

Part I.

5.       Information on Modern Water                                                                                                       

Modern Water was established in 2006 as a joint venture between the IP Group and its management

team, based on technology spun out of Cardiff and Surrey universities relating to membrane

desalination and domestic wastewater treatment. It floated on AIM in 2007, and in 2011, Modern Water

acquired Microtox, a US based business supplying water monitoring equipment, for $4.5 million.

Following the acquisition, the Modern Water business had two core divisions, the Membrane Division

and the Monitoring Division.

Modern Water’s Monitoring Division is based in the US and has a portfolio of toxicity and trace metal

monitoring products, some of which constitute the regulatory standard. The toxicity monitors comprise

the Microtox LX (lab based), Microtox FX (portable) and Microtox CTM (continuous monitoring)

derivatives. All require a regular supply of reagents to detect toxicity. Trace metals are detected using

the Microtrace PDV (portable and lab based) and the Microtrace OVA (continuous monitoring). The

Monitoring Division has a sales presence in almost 60 countries, and six countries across the world

have legislated that Modern Water monitoring test systems are written into their environmental

protection legislation.

The headline technology of the Modern Water’s Membrane Division, All-Membrane Brine Concentration

(“AMBC”), can be used to tackle complex wastewater treatment problems at a reduced cost compared

to standard processes, while being simple to operate. Modern Water’s revenues are based on a design

and installation fee and ongoing licence fees. The division also offers containerised desalination plants

under the Aquapak brand.

Modern Water has a joint venture partner in China, Hangzhou Shangtuo Environmental Technology Co.

Ltd (“Sunup”), and partners in India, Advent Envirocare Technology Pvt Ltd and Ion Exchange (India)

Ltd, and South Africa, WEC Projects (Pty) Ltd.

Modern Water employs 15 people across the UK, US, Japan and China.

On 22 September 2020, Modern Water announced its unaudited interim results for the six month period

ended 30 June 2020, including revenue from continuing operations of approximately of £0.7 million

(2019: £1.9 million) and an operating loss of £0.8 million (2019: £0.9 million). As at 30 June 2020, the

2.2.1

2.2.2

2.2.3

2.3.1

12

174138      Proof 11 Tuesday, October 13, 2020 11:32



Modern Water Group had net assets of approximately £1.8 million (2019: £1.3 million) with £0.8 million

cash in the bank (2019: £0.1 million cash) and a bank loan of £0.4 million (2019: £0.5 million).

The principal markets currently served by Modern Water are those which utilise its services in relation

to:

Membrane Division                                                                                            Monitoring Division

All-Membrane Brine Concentration (Industrial)                                                 Trace Metal Products

Thermal Desalination (Industrial)                                                                      Toxicity Products

Evaporative Cooling Systems (Industrial)                                                         Environmental Products

Packaged SWRO Desalination Systems (Industrial & Municipal)

Forward Osmosis Desalination (Industrial & Municipal)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, Modern Water’s revenue by geography and division was as

follows:

                                                                                               Membrane        Monitoring
                                                                                                   Division            Division                  Total
Breakdown of  Revenue – Geography                                             £000                  £000                  £000
Americas                                                                                               –                 1,143                 1,143

Europe                                                                                                   –                   650                  650

Middle East and Africa                                                                          –                   231                  231

Asia Pacific                                                                                        119                  798                  917
                                                                                                ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Total                                                                                                  119                 2,822                 2,941                                                                                                ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Since the year end the following events have taken place:

•         January: Oversubscribed £1.85 million placing;

•         February: Appointment of Dr Nigel Burton to the Modern Water Board;

•         February: Agreement to join EcoWaterOS consortium for real-time water monitoring, recovery,

treatment and recycling;

•         March: Appointment of Gerard Brandon as Chairman of the Modern Water Board;

•         March: Orders of water contamination detection consumables up 46% in Q1 2020 compared to

Q1 2019;

•         May: First Modern Water patented AMBC wastewater plant order from Ion Exchange (India);

•         May: Modern Water Microtox® LX declared winner in China laboratory instrument award;

•         May: Sichuan Province China orders Modern Water equipment.

There have been no significant changes in the operations and principal activities of Modern Water, nor

material investments made, since 30 June 2020, being the date to which Modern Water’s latest set of

unaudited financial information has been prepared.

Outlook                                                                                                                                                      

Following the liquidity issues in 2019, Modern Water has made a significant reduction in group

overheads, and implemented structural changes that were necessary to expose the opportunity to

move from high-ticket sales, which had a high employee support cost, in desalinisation and the

membrane divisions. The Modern Water business model in 2020 is now focused on a high volume, high

margin recurring revenue strategy that has been in existence within the Monitoring Division.

Modern Water continues to develop its position within the water contamination monitoring sector and is

adding the latest technologies in e-commerce, logistics, communications, networking and data encryption

which extends Modern Water’s global reach beyond the US, Europe and Far East offices. With thousands

of sites and hundreds of water systems installed over the last 30 years, Modern Water’s Monitoring Division

retains a strong international position in water monitoring. The strategic challenge through this COVID-

19 pandemic is being met with the move to provide support services online, making it easier and safer to

interact with customers while at the same time to increase the capacity of its equipment to provide

surveillance against all sorts of contaminants and threats including viruses and infectious pathogens.

2.2.3
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The new platform gives it the ability to fully exploit the data generated from different water systems

across the world. Data analytics with the latest AI systems in collaboration partners set Modern Water

up for multiple revenue streams from equipment, consumables and predictive services for existing and

new clients coming online to manage their COVID-19 risk.

Your attention is drawn to the financial information in respect of Modern Water contained in
Part V of this document.

6.       Arrangements with Management

Dr Nigel Burton is a Non-Executive Director of Modern Water. He owns 4,300,000 Modern Water

Shares. Under the terms of Dr Nigel Burton’s service contract with Modern Water, he is entitled to

receive his salary of £30,000 per annum for the two years from 20 February 2020 in Modern Water

Shares at an issue price of 0.5 pence per Modern Water Share. Upon a change of control, these

amounts fall due to be settled, to the extent not already settled, by the issue of 12,000,000 Modern

Water Shares at an issue price of 0.5 pence per Modern Water Share.

Conditional upon, and following completion of the Offer, it is intended that Dr Nigel Burton will be invited

to join the DeepVerge Board as a non-executive director.

Gerard Brandon, Chief Executive of DeepVerge is also the Non-Executive Chairman of Modern Water.

He owns 10,000,000 Modern Water Shares. Under the terms of Gerard Brandon’s service contract with

Modern Water, he is entitled to receive his salary of £50,000 per annum for the two years from 4 March

2020 in Modern Water Shares at an issue price of 0.5 pence per Modern Water Share. Upon a change

of control, these amounts fall due to be settled, to the extent not already settled, by the issue of

20,000,000 Modern Water Shares at an issue price of 0.5 pence per Modern Water Share.

It is intended that these entitlements will be fulfilled on or around the date of the Offer becoming

unconditional in all respects.

Other than Gerard Brandon being a director of both companies, Gerard Brandon’s and Nigel Burton’s

remuneration arrangements, as set out in this paragraph 6, and the intention for Nigel Burton to be

invited to join the DeepVerge board of directors upon the Offer becoming unconditional in all respects:

(i)       the DeepVerge Directors confirm there are no conflicts that may arise as a result of any

DeepVerge Director carrying out any duties on behalf of DeepVerge and their private interests;

and

(ii)      DeepVerge and Modern Water confirm that there are no conflicts in connection with the

Acquisition.

No proposals have been made on the terms of any incentive arrangements for relevant managers or

the continuing Modern Water Directors and there have been no discussions in respect of the terms of

these arrangements.

7.       Modern Water Share Schemes and Warrants

Under the Code, by virtue of making an offer for the voting equity share capital of Modern Water,

DeepVerge must make an appropriate offer or proposal to the participants in the Modern Water Share

Schemes and to holders of warrants to ensure that their interests are safeguarded. Equality of treatment

is required.

Based on the financial terms of the Offer, certain of the options granted under the Modern Water Share

Schemes (“Options”) and the unexercised Broker Warrants will have exercise prices at below the Offer

Price and therefore DeepVerge has today published, in accordance with the Code, an appropriate offer

or proposal to the holders of the Options and the holders of Broker Warrants.

Modern Water Share Schemes

Under the Modern Water Share Schemes, there are a total of 90,000 non-EMI options in issue with a

nil-cost exercise price. In addition, there are 800,000 EMI options in issue with a nil-cost exercise price.

5.5.1b
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Warrants

In relation to a placing of 9,038,000 Modern Water Shares on 21 January 2019, Modern Water granted

warrants over 9,038,000 Modern Water Shares at an exercise price of 9.75 pence per Modern Water

Share and a further 540,000 Modern Water Shares at an exercise price of 6.5 pence per Modern Water

Share. The warrants will expire on 22 January 2021.

On 31 March 2020, Modern Water issued to JIM Nominees, acting as nominee for Turner Pope, Broker

Warrants to subscribe for 92,500,000 Modern Water Shares with an exercise price of 0.5 pence per

Modern Water Share and an expiry date of 16 February 2023. On 2 June 2020, Turner Pope exercised

Broker Warrants in respect of 22,000,000 Modern Water Shares, which resulted in the receipt of an

additional £110,000 in cash by Modern Water. As at the Latest Practicable Date, there are Broker

Warrants to subscribe for 70,500,000 Modern Water Shares outstanding.

8.       Modern Water current trading and prospects

In its interim results for the 6 months ended 30 June 2020 Modern Water reported:

“The necessary structural changes that were outlined in the recently published 2019 annual

results, were carried on through H1 2020. The Company business model in 2020 has moved to

a collaboration, cooperation and partnership business model resulting in a high volume, high

margin recurring revenue strategy. The increased order levels, seen in H1, are currently being

prepared for shipping in H2 2020. 

Modern Water continues to retain a leadership position within the water contamination monitoring

sector and is adding the latest technologies in ecommerce, logistics, comms, networking and

data encryption which extends the global reach of the Company beyond the US, Europe and Far

East offices. With thousands of sites and hundreds of water systems installed over the last

30 years, the Company retains a strong international position in water monitoring. The strategic

challenge through this COVID-19 pandemic is being met with the move to provide support

services online, making it easier and safer to interact with customers while at the same time to

increase the capacity of our equipment to provide surveillance against all sorts of contaminants

and threats including viruses and pathogens. 

The new platform gives us the ability to further exploit the data the Company generates from

different water systems across the world. Data analytics within the latest AI systems, produced

in collaboration with Company partners positions Modern Water to receive multiple revenue

streams from equipment, consumables and predictive services for our existing and new clients

coming online to manage their COVID-19 risk.” 

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of Modern Water since 30 June

2020, the date to which the unaudited interim financial information (released on 22 September 2020)

was prepared. 

9.       Offer Shares                                                                                                                                    

The DeepVerge Shares are admitted to trading on AIM. The Offer Shares will be allotted and issued

credited as fully paid and will rank pari passu in all respects with the DeepVerge Shares in issue at the

time the Offer Shares are allotted and issued pursuant to the Offer, including the right to receive and

retain dividends and other distributions declared, made or paid by reference to a record date falling on

or after the date of completion of the Offer.

Application will be made by DeepVerge for the admission of the Offer Shares to trading on AIM. It is

expected that, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set out in Part A of Part III of this document,

Admission will become effective and trading in the First Tranche of the Offer Shares will commence at

8.00 a.m. on 23 November 2020.

10.     Taxation

Your attention is drawn to paragraph 14 of Part II of this document which contains a summary of certain

UK tax consequences arising out of the Offer. The summary set out in paragraph 14 of Part II of this

document is intended to be a general guide only. Modern Water Shareholders who are in any doubt
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about their tax position or are subject to taxation in any jurisdiction other than the UK are
strongly advised to consult an appropriate professional independent tax adviser.

11.     Overseas Shareholders

Persons resident in, or citizens of, jurisdictions outside the United Kingdom should refer to paragraph 21

of Part B of Part III of this document which contains important information for such shareholders.

12.     Action to be taken

The procedure for acceptance of the Offer is set out in paragraph 13 of the letter from DeepVerge in

Part II of this document and, if you hold your Modern Water Shares in certificated form, in the

accompanying Form of Acceptance.

If you have any questions relating to the procedure for acceptance of the Offer, please contact the

Receiving Agent, Neville Registrars, on 0121 585 1131 (or +44 (0) 121 585 1131 from outside the UK)

on Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays in England and Wales). This helpline is available from

9.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m. Calls are charged at the standard geographic rate and will vary by provider.

Different charges may apply to calls made from mobile phones and calls may be recorded and

monitored randomly for security and training purposes. The Receiving Agent cannot provide advice on

the merits of the Offer nor give any financial, legal or tax advice. If you are a CREST sponsored

member, you should contact your CREST sponsor before taking any action.

13.     Further information

The terms and conditions of the Offer are set out in full in Part III of this Document. Your attention is

drawn to the further information in the remaining Parts of this Document, including the letter from the

Independent DeepVerge Directors in Part II of this document, which form part of this document and, if

your Modern Water Shares are in certificated form, to the accompanying Form of Acceptance, which

should be read in conjunction with this document.

Modern Water Shareholders and persons with information rights should note that DeepVerge may

request details of addresses, electronic addresses and other information provided to Modern Water for

the receipt of documents, announcements and other information in hard copy form or electronic form

(as the case may be).

14.     Recommendation

The Independent Modern Water Directors, who have been so advised by Cairn as to the financial
terms of the Offer, consider the terms of the Offer to be fair and reasonable. In providing advice
to the Independent Modern Water Directors, Cairn has taken into account the commercial
assessments of the Independent Modern Water Directors. Cairn is providing independent
financial advice to the Independent Modern Water Directors for the purposes of Rule 3 of the
Code.

Accordingly the Independent Modern Water Directors recommend unanimously that Modern
Water Shareholders accept the Offer, as they intend to do in respect of their own beneficial
holdings and, following the change of control, in respect of the Modern Water Shares to be
issued pursuant to their letter of appointment as set out in paragraph 6 of this Part I. Each of
the Modern Water Directors has given irrevocable undertakings to accept the Offer in respect of
their current registered holdings in Modern Water Shares amounting in aggregate to 16,182,000
Modern Water Shares, representing, in aggregate, approximately 3.08 per cent. of the Modern
Water Shares in issue on the Latest Practicable Date and, following the change of control, in
respect of the Modern Water Shares to be issued pursuant to their letters of appointment as set
out in paragraph 6 of this Part I.

Yours faithfully,

The Independent Modern Water Directors

for and on behalf of

Modern Water plc
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PART II

LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT DEEPVERGE DIRECTORS
(Incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 with registered number 10205396)

Directors:                                                                                                                       Registered Office:

Ross Andrews (Non-Executive Chairman) Sand Hutton Applied Innovation Campus

Gerard Brandon (Chief  Executive Officer) Sand Hutton, York

Camillus Glover (Chief Financial Officer) North Yorkshire YO41 1LZ

Fionan Murray (Chief  Operations Officer) United Kingdom

13 October 2020

To Modern Water Shareholders and, for information only, to holders of  options under the Modern Water
Share Schemes, holders of  warrants and persons with information rights

Dear Modern Water Shareholder,

Recommended offer for Modern Water by DeepVerge (previously named Integumen plc)

1.       Introduction

On 28 August 2020, it was announced that the DeepVerge Board and the Modern Water Board had

reached agreement on the terms of a recommended offer to be made by DeepVerge for the entire

issued and to be issued share capital of Modern Water (the “Offer”).

This letter contains the formal Offer by DeepVerge and is accompanied by, and should be read in

conjunction with, the Form of Acceptance.

For the purposes of this document, as Gerard Brandon is the non-executive Chairman of Modern Water

he has a conflict of interests in terms of the Offer, and as such he is not considered to be independent.

This letter is from the Independent Directors of DeepVerge, being Ross Andrews, Camillus Glover and

Fionan Murray only.

Your attention is drawn to the letter from the Independent Modern Water Directors, set out in
Part I on pages 10 to 16 of this document, which sets out the reasons why the Independent
Modern Water Directors, who have been advised by Cairn as to the financial terms of the Offer,
consider the terms of the Offer to be fair and reasonable and are therefore unanimously
recommending that all Modern Water Shareholders accept the Offer.

2.       Summary terms of the Offer

Under the terms of the Offer, which is subject to the satisfaction (or where applicable, waiver) of the

conditions and further terms set out in Part III of this document and (where applicable) the

accompanying Form of Acceptance, Modern Water Shareholders will be entitled to receive:

1 New DeepVerge Share for every 10 Modern Water Shares

Based on the Closing Price of 30.5 pence per DeepVerge Share on the Latest Practicable Date, the

Offer values the entire issued share capital of Modern Water at approximately £16.0 million.

•         The Offer represents a value of approximately 3.05 pence per Modern Water Share and a

premium of approximately:

–        3.4 per cent. based upon the Modern Water Share Closing Price of 2.95 pence on the

Latest Practicable Date;

–        8.9 per cent. based upon the Modern Water Share Closing Price of 2.80 pence on 27

August 2020, being the day before the Announcement was made; and 

–        58.9 per cent. to the 90 trading day average price of 1.92 pence per Modern Water Share

as at 27 August 2020, being the day before the Announcement was made.

3.5.1
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As at 30 June 2020, the value of DeepVerge’s net assets was £4.325 million being 0.4 pence per Old

DeepVerge Share (equivalent to 4.0 pence per Existing DeepVerge Share). The Offer Shares are

effectively being issued at 30.5 pence per share, being the closing share price of a DeepVerge Share

on the Latest Practicable Date.

The Offer is conditional upon, amongst other things, DeepVerge receiving valid acceptances (which

have not been withdrawn) in respect of and/or having otherwise acquired or agreed to acquire Modern

Water Shares which constitute more than 90 per cent. of the voting rights attached to the Modern Water

Shares. Immediately upon the Offer becoming unconditional as to acceptances, subject to DeepVerge

having not invoked or sought to invoke any Condition prior to that time, DeepVerge will declare the Offer

wholly unconditional.

Assuming that a maximum number of 52,469,321 New DeepVerge Shares are issued pursuant to the

Offer, Modern Water Shareholders will hold New DeepVerge Shares representing approximately

32 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital. Completed Forms of Acceptance (in respect of certificated

Modern Water Shares) in relation to the Offer should be received as soon as possible but in any event

by not later than 1.00 p.m. on 3 November 2020. Electronic Acceptances (in respect of uncertificated

Modern Water Shares) through CREST should be received as soon as possible but in any event should

be made so that the TTE Instruction settles by no later than 1.00 p.m. on 3 November 2020. The

procedure for acceptance of the Offer is set out in paragraph 13 of this letter and in Parts C and D of

Part III of this document.

Details of the further terms and conditions of the Offer are set out below and in Part III of this document.

3.       Financial effect of the Offer on DeepVerge Shareholders                                                         

Following the issue of 52,469,321 Offer Shares (assuming 100% of Modern Water Shares are

acquired), DeepVerge Shareholders will own 68 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital. The

Acquisition will result in a dilution of 32 per cent. to DeepVerge Shareholders.

If all outstanding options and warrants over Modern Water Shares are exercised (including those which

are currently out of the money), and all other obligations to issue Modern Water Shares are fulfilled (as

set out in paragraph 7 of Part I of this document), a maximum of 63,766,121 Offer Shares will be issued

pursuant to the Offer. In these circumstances the Acquisition will result in a dilution of 34 per cent. to

DeepVerge Shareholders (assuming all DeepVerge warrants and options are exercised).

4.       Background to and reasons for the Offer                                                                                    

DeepVerge and Modern Water have been working together since signing a production and logistics

agreement on 17 March 2020, under which DeepVerge is contracted to produce test kits for Modern

Water.

DeepVerge has seen significant growth opportunities for its real time water contamination detection and

environmental sector solutions as a result of COVID-19. This in turn has resulted in contracts for

reagents with Modern Water. These reagents are used by many water authorities and environmental

management authorities to monitor systems with more than 2,900 Microtox units installed around the

world.

This has led to significant collaboration between the two companies which has provided invaluable

insight into the Modern Water business. The DeepVerge Board has identified a number of synergies of

combining the two businesses:

•         Facilities and on the ground sales capability on three continents, Europe, US and China

•         Comprehensive monitoring systems from trace metals to viruses

•         AI database that can learn from thousands of data points monitoring a myriad of contaminants to

provide early warning, analysis and prediction capabilities

•         Ability to expand routes to markets with an online affiliate system and partnering with major water

players across SCADA/asset/work management

•         A bigger group will have greater credibility in the marketplace

4.6.2
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•         Corporate cost savings with a single listed entity.

The DeepVerge Board therefore believes a merger of the two businesses is a natural next step.

5.       Strategy and future intentions for Modern Water, its management and employees and the
Enlarged Group

Strategy

As a result of COVID-19, significant opportunities exist to expand sales of the Enlarged Group’s real

time water contamination detection and environmental sector solutions. The Enlarged Group’s strategy

is: (i) to continue to focus on the high volume, high recurring revenue strategy within Modern Water’s

divisions, generating multiple revenue streams from equipment consumables and predictive services;

and (ii) continue to develop DeepVerge’s core service offering to its principal markets (as set out in

paragraph 7 below). Following a proposed operational and administrative review, the DeepVerge

Directors will seek to maximise the benefits of combining the two businesses. The DeepVerge board

anticipates that all parts of this strategy will be implemented in the 12 months following the publication

of this document.

Save as detailed below, DeepVerge management see the US, China and Japan locations and

management teams in each respective office of Modern Water as valuable assets extending the reach

and support of DeepVerge subsidiaries. DeepVerge intend to retain each Modern Water location office

and personnel, and does not intend to make any material changes in relation to:

i.         the conditions of employment of the Modern Water employees and management;

ii.        the balance of the skills and functions of the Modern Water employees and management;

iii.       the pension contributions made by Modern Water into the Modern Water pension scheme, the

admission of new members to such pension schemes and the current arrangements for the

funding of any scheme deficit (of which there is none);

iv.       the deployment of Modern Water’s fixed assets; or

v.        the research and development functions of Modern Water.

Locations

DeepVerge has no intention to change the location of Modern Water’s places of business. DeepVerge

believes that Modern Water’s staff in the UK, US, China, and Japan have deep domain knowledge and

are experts in their fields, both in relation to the Monitoring and the Membrane divisions, and

DeepVerge recognises they will be critical to the combined business model going forward.

Staff  terms and conditions

DeepVerge confirms that it has no intention to make material changes to the conditions of employment

of the Modern Water employees and intends to safeguard fully the existing employment and pension

rights of Modern Water’s local management and employees in accordance with applicable law and to

comply with Modern Water’s pension obligations for existing employees and members of Modern

Water’s pension schemes. DeepVerge confirms it has no intentions to make material changes to the

current arrangements for the funding of any pension scheme deficit (of which there is none).

The DeepVerge Board envisages revenue synergies from the Offer. In addition, it believes that some

cost savings will be available from an operational and administrative review of the Enlarged Group,

which is likely to be required following the Offer to reduce costs arising from duplicated administrative

functions. DeepVerge anticipates that this could result in the relocation of its central administrative

function in order that it is located alongside complementary Modern Water functions. It is anticipated

that such relocation may lead to a reduction in headcount of administrative employees given the overlap

in expertise between the DeepVerge Group and the Modern Water Group.

Whilst any review is subject to detailed planning, DeepVerge intends to engage with appropriate

stakeholders, including employee representative bodies, to assess the overall impact of the finalisation

of any such plans.
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Further, following completion of the Offer, the Enlarged Group will undertake a review of the business

to ensure that all its businesses and operations are sufficiently resourced to help grow the Enlarged

Group in the future. DeepVerge has not yet developed any specific proposals as to how this review

would be implemented and DeepVerge will have regard to ensuring that the current balance of skills

and functions across the Enlarged Group is maintained.

Operations

Following completion of the Offer, it is intended that the Modern Water and DeepVerge company names

will continue to be employed with respect to the services offered by each group respectively under the

ultimate holding company DeepVerge with the Modern Water name used in respect of the Modern

Water operations alongside the DeepVerge name.

The Enlarged Group’s focus will be to build the group profitably both organically initially and by

acquisition as demand and opportunity arise. Both groups have in the recent past undertaken cost and

overhead restructuring to improve operational efficiency and best position themselves for future

profitability.

DeepVerge does not intend to redeploy any fixed assets of Modern Water following completion of the

Offer.

Management

Conditional upon, and following completion of the Offer, it is intended that Dr Nigel Burton will be invited

to join the DeepVerge Board as a non-executive director.

Following completion of the Offer, the board of the Enlarged Group is expected to be composed of five

directors of whom two will be non-executive directors and that Ross Andrews and Nigel Burton will be

considered by the Board to be independent non-executive directors.

Notwithstanding the above, no proposals have been made on the terms of any incentive arrangements

for relevant managers or the continuing Modern Water Directors and there have been no discussions

in respect of the terms of these arrangements.

Research and Development functions of  Modern Water

DeepVerge intends to maintain the existing research and development activities of Modern Water.

6.       Information on Modern Water                                                                                                       

Information on Modern Water is set out in paragraph 5 of Part I of this document.

Your attention is drawn to the information on Modern Water in paragraph 5 of Part I of this
document and to the financial information in respect of Modern Water contained in Part V of this
document.

7.       Information on DeepVerge

DeepVerge is a vertically integrated business, collaborating its Labskin technology platform with

partners in artificial intelligence, clinical research, medical device and life science. These collaborators

are building their own technology on top of the Labskin AI backbone. Labskin allows skin-care, health-

care, pharmaceutical manufacturers and cosmetic companies to test their products on human-like skin

in a real-world environment with full access to multiple state-of-the-art partner technologies.

Its subsidiary companies have individual domain expertise and synergies to leverage product and

business development. Its focus is in the cosmetics, personal healthcare and environmental sectors

with several blue chip companies as customers. Its domain expertise is in the areas of microbiology, AI

and software. It has a 12 year track record on working with bacteria, fungi and viruses. This has led to

new business producing reagents for water monitoring and cutting-edge research into understanding

viruses such as COVID-19. With its research and testing it turns data (on skin microbiome, on data from

E.Coli, nutrients and phosphates) monitoring into predictive insights with state-of-the-art AI models that

it has been developing and fine tuning over the past 4 years.

DeepVerge has completed some acquisitions, notably the acquisition of Rinocloud Limited in May 2019

and a commercial technology licence from Cellulac of a solvent free extraction process for oils

specifically intended for skincare products and nutritional food supplements. Moreover, within the

5.4.1
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Company’s core physical skincare testing business, the addition of a digital platform, provided by

Rinocloud, has contributed substantially to the creation of Labskin AI. This cloud-based eco-system

validates skincare products and ingredients, remotely for clients, and has been the focus of the strategic

change in the Company business model from equipment and product sales to an AI and Laboratory-as-

a-Service recurring revenue from framework agreements with large global cosmetic and skincare

companies.

Since 31 December 2019 DeepVerge has invested £250,000 to rapidly expand its laboratories by 100%

to 6,000 square feet in order to maintain the growth of Labskin and accelerate production of bacteria

that is used by a range of monitoring equipment for the detection of bacteria, viruses and toxins that

contaminate water around the world.

The Company has a proven management team with experience floating businesses, trade sales with

international reach and taking research projects to commercialisation as well as building international

distribution that is rapidly scaling the DeepVerge business. There have been no significant changes in

the operations and principal activities of the Company, nor material investments made, since 30 June

2020, being the date to which the Company’s latest set of (unaudited) interim financial information has

been prepared.

The principal markets served by DeepVerge are those which utilise the Company’s services in relation

to:

(i)       Regulated environmental toxicology services;

(ii)      Human skin equivalent platform – to validate and verify the safety and impact on client products

for regulatory authority approval;

(iii)      The Company’s AI and microbiome platform to facilitate clinical testing of pharmacological

effects; and

(iv)     The Company’s monitoring platform for pathogens in water and wastewater.

They are currently all classed as one business segment.

                                                                                                                                  2019                  2018
Breakdown of  Revenue – Geography                                                                     £’000                 £’000

United Kingdom                                                                                                          222                      52

Europe                                                                                                                        270                    187

United States of America                                                                                            112                      12

Rest of World                                                                                                              219                      23
                                                                                                                         ––––––––          ––––––––
Total Revenue                                                                                                             823                    274                                                                                                                          ––––––––          ––––––––
Your attention is drawn to the financial information in respect of DeepVerge contained in Part VI
of this document.

8.       Financial effects of acceptance of the Offer                                                                               

Under the terms of the Offer, Modern Water Shareholders will receive 1 New DeepVerge Share for

every 10 Modern Water Shares held.

The following table shows, for illustrative purposes only and on the bases and assumptions set out in

the notes below, the financial effects on capital value for a holder of 10 Modern Water Shares if the Offer

is accepted. The table below compares the value of the Offer based on the Closing Price of 30.5 pence

per DeepVerge Share on the Latest Practicable Date to the market value of Modern Water Shares on:

a)       27 August 2020 (being the last business day prior to the commencement of the Offer Period); and

b)       the Latest Practicable Date.

As at 27 August 2020 As at 12 October 2020
                                                                               Note               (pence)                 Note               (pence)

Market value of 10 Modern Water Shares                 (1)               28.0p                      (1)               29.5p

Increase in capital value                                          (2)                 2.5p                      (2)                 1.0p
Representing an increase in capital value 

of approximately                                                      (3)                8.9%                      (3)                3.4%

2.5.3

4.6.2

2.2.2

2.5.3

21

174138      Proof 11 Tuesday, October 13, 2020 11:32



Notes:
1.     The market value of 10 Modern Water Shares is based on the Closing Price of 2.80 pence per Modern Water Share on

27 August 2020 (being the last business day prior to the commencement of the Offer Period), and 2.95 pence per Modern

Water Share on 12 October 2020.

2.     The increase in capital value compares the Closing Price of a DeepVerge Share on the Latest Practicable Date to the values

shown in (1). No account has been taken of any costs associated with the Offer or other potential effects on the Offer. In

assessing the financial effects on the capital position of the Modern Water Shareholders, no account has been taken of any

potential liability to taxation of a Modern Water Shareholder, or a beneficial owner of Modern Water Shares. The attention of

beneficial owners of Modern Water Shares and Modern Water Shareholders is drawn to paragraph 14 of this Part II

(Taxation) of this document. The tax implications of the financial effects of the Offer will depend on the individual

circumstances of each beneficial owner of Modern Water Shares and Modern Water Shareholders. Beneficial owners of the

Modern Water Shares and Modern Water Shareholders should consult their own tax advisers.

3.     Presents the increase in capital value as a proportion of (2) in percentage terms.

4.     Neither Modern Water nor DeepVerge has paid dividends to shareholders in recent years. There is no effect on the income

of the Modern Water Shareholders as a result of the Acquisition.

Effect on Voting Rights of  DeepVerge Shareholders

Following the issue of 52,469,321 Offer Shares (assuming 100% of Modern Water Shares are acquired)

DeepVerge Shareholders will own 68 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital. The Acquisition will result

in a dilution of 32 per cent. to DeepVerge Shareholders.

If all outstanding options and warrants in Modern Water are exercised (including those which are

currently out of the money) and all other obligations to issue Modern Water Shares are fulfilled (as set

out in paragraph 6 of Part I), a maximum of 63,766,121 Offer Shares will be issued pursuant to the

Offer. DeepVerge Shareholders will own 66 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital. In this

circumstance the Acquisition will result in a dilution of 34 per cent. to DeepVerge Shareholders

(assuming all DeepVerge warrants and options are exercised).

9.       Arrangements with Management

Other than Gerard Brandon being a director of both companies, Gerard Brandon and Nigel Burton’s

remuneration arrangements as out in paragraph 6 of Part I above, and the intention for Nigel Burton to

be invited to join the DeepVerge board of directors upon completion of the Offer:

(i)       the DeepVerge Directors confirm there are no conflicts that may arise as a result of any

DeepVerge Director carrying out any duties on behalf of DeepVerge and their private interests;

and

(ii)      DeepVerge and Modern Water confirm that there are no conflicts in connection with the

Acquisition.

Notwithstanding the above, no proposals have been made on the terms of any incentive arrangements

for relevant managers or the continuing Modern Water Directors and there have been no discussions

in respect of the terms of these arrangements.

10.     Irrevocable undertakings in relation to the Offer

Irrevocable undertakings from Modern Water Directors and Modern Water Shareholders

The Modern Water Directors have irrevocably undertaken to accept the Offer in respect of their own

entire legal and beneficial holdings of Modern Water Shares (and those of connected persons)

amounting to, in aggregate, 16,182,000 Modern Water Shares, representing approximately 3.08 per

cent. of the Modern Water Shares in issue on the Latest Practicable Date.

DeepVerge has not sought irrevocable undertakings to accept the Offer from any other Modern Water

Shareholder.

DeepVerge has therefore received irrevocable undertakings to accept the Offer in respect of a
total of 16,182,000 Modern Water Shares, representing, in aggregate, approximately 3.08 per
cent. of the Modern Water Shares in issue on the Latest Practicable Date.

5.5.1b
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11.     Employees and management

The current management of DeepVerge and Modern Water is as follows:–

DeepVerge Management                                                                                                                          

Ross Andrews, Non-Executive Chairman

Ross was appointed Chairman on 21 May 2019, having been a non-executive director since April 2017.

He is a corporate financier with over 30 years’ experience, has a strong understanding of corporate

governance regimes and is chairman and non-executive director of several UK quoted companies. In

2018, he established Guild Financial Advisory Limited, a corporate finance boutique focused on

ambitious and fast-growing companies. Ross chairs the Audit and Risk, Remuneration and Nomination

Committees.

Gerard Brandon, Chief  Executive Officer                                                                                                 

Gerard was appointed Director and CEO of DeepVerge in August 2018. Previously, he joined Cellulac

Limited (Ireland) as its Chief Executive Officer in May 2012 and assumed the same role for Cellulac plc

in October 2013. In 1996 he became founder and CEO of Alltracel Pharmaceuticals PLC, where he built

a team that oversaw numerous patents granted on refined cellulose. Alltracel was admitted to trading

on AIM in 2001. In 2004, he was appointed as a Managing Partner for Farmabrand Private Equity. In

2009, he was appointed as an Executive Consultant to Eplixo Limited. He is a Fellow of the Ryan

Academy of Entrepreneurs in Dublin.

Camillus Glover, Chief  Financial Officer

Camillus was appointed Director and COO of DeepVerge in August 2018. On 29 August 2018 he took

over as Chief Financial Officer. Previously, he joined Cellulac Limited (Ireland) as Chief Financial Officer

in May 2012 and assumed the same role for Cellulac plc in October 2013. He is a member of the

Institute of Chartered Accountants Ireland. In 2003, he joined Alltracel as Commercial Director and was

appointed Chief Operations Officer in 2005 until it was acquired in 2008 by Hemcon Medical

Technologies (“Hemcon”). Between 2009 and 2012, he was VP of Global Business Development for

Hemcon prior to joining Cellulac.

Fionan Murray, Chief  Operations Officer

Fin is a co-founder of Rinocloud Limited. He was appointed Sales Director of DeepVerge on 2 May 2019

following the acquisition of Rinocloud Ltd. On 26 February 2020 he was appointed COO of DeepVerge.

He is a seasoned sales executive with more than 30 years’ experience in international distribution

deals, selling complex software solutions into the multi-national corporate sectors in financial services,

biotech, utilities and government departments. He is former CEO of LeT Systems Ltd and a senior

executive at KBC Bank and Kindle Banking systems. He was appointed Chief Operations Officer on

26 February 2020. Fionan is a member of the Audit and Risk, Remuneration and Nomination

Committees.

Modern Water Management

Simon Humphrey, Chief  Executive Officer

Simon Humphrey is a co-founder of Modern Water and has been CEO since Modern Water’s inception

in December 2006. Simon oversees the day-to-day running of Modern Water, ensuring that the

company and its investments progress successfully. He brings a host of water industry and capital

investment experience to the role, and travels to Modern Water’s sites internationally to ensure their

smooth operation.

Dr Nigel Burton, Non-Executive Director

Following over 14 years as an investment banker at leading City institutions including UBS Warburg and

Deutsche Bank, including as the Managing Director responsible for the energy and utilities industries,

Nigel spent 15 years as Chief Financial Officer or Chief Executive Officer of a number of private and

public companies. Nigel is currently a Non-Executive Director of AIM quoted companies Digitalbox plc,

eEnergy Group plc, Corcel plc and Mobile Streams plc.

5.5.1a
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Gerard Brandon, Non-Executive Chairman

Gerard was appointed as Chairman of Modern Water in March 2020 and details about previous

businesses he has been involved with are set out above.

Conditional upon, and following completion of, the Offer it is intended that Dr Nigel Burton will be invited

to join the DeepVerge Board. Following completion of the Offer, the board of the Enlarged Group is

expected to be composed of five directors of whom two, Ross Andrews and Nigel Burton, will be non-

executive Directors and are considered by the Board to be independent.

12.     Modern Water Share Schemes and Warrants

Under the Code, by virtue of making an offer for the voting equity share capital of Modern Water,

DeepVerge must make an appropriate offer or proposal to the participants in the Modern Water Share

Schemes and to holders of warrants to ensure that their interests are safeguarded. Equality of treatment

is required.

Based on the financial terms of the Offer, certain of the options granted under the Modern Water Share

Schemes (“Options”) and the remainder of the Broker Warrants will have exercise prices at below the

Offer Price and therefore DeepVerge has today published, in accordance with the Code, an appropriate

offer or proposal to the holders of the Options and the holders of Broker Warrants.

Modern Water Share Schemes

Under the Modern Water Share Schemes, there are a total of 90,000 non-EMI options in issue with a

nil-cost exercise price. In addition, there are 800,000 EMI options in issue with a nil-cost exercise price.

Warrants

In relation to a placing of 9,038,000 Modern Water Shares on 21 January 2019, Modern Water granted

warrants over 9,038,000 Modern Water Shares at an exercise price of 9.75 pence per Modern Water

Share and a further 540,000 Modern Water Shares at an exercise price of 6.5 pence per Modern Water

Share. The warrants will expire on 22 January 2021.

On 31 March 2020 Modern Water issued to JIM Nominees, acting as nominee for Turner Pope, Broker

Warrants to subscribe for 92,500,000 Modern Water Shares with an exercise price of 0.5 pence per

Modern Water Share and an expiry date of 16 February 2023. On 2 June 2020 Turner Pope exercised

Broker Warrants in respect of 22,000,000 Modern Water Shares, which resulted in the receipt of an

additional £110,000 cash by Modern Water. As at the Last Practicable Date there are ‘in the money’

Broker Warrants to subscribe for 70,500,000 Modern Water Shares outstanding.

13.     Procedure for acceptance of the Offer

This paragraph 13 should be read in conjunction with Part III of this document and, in respect of

certificated Modern Water Shares, the notes on the Form of Acceptance.

Holders of Modern Water Shares in certificated form (i.e. not in CREST) may only accept the Offer in

respect of such shares by completing and returning the Form of Acceptance in accordance with the

procedure set out below. Holders of Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form (i.e. in CREST) may

only accept the Offer in respect of such shares by TTE instruction in accordance with the procedure set

out below.

If you are in any doubt as to the procedure for acceptance, please telephone the Receiving
Agent, Neville Registrars, between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. (London time) Monday to Friday
(excluding English and Welsh public holidays) on 0121 585 1131 from within the UK or
+44 (0) 121 585 1131 if calling from outside the UK. Calls to the helpline from outside the UK will
be charged at applicable international rates. Calls may be recorded and randomly monitored for
security and training purposes. Please note that Neville Registrars cannot provide advice on the
merits of the Offer nor give financial, tax, investment or legal advice. You are reminded that, if
you are a CREST sponsored member, you should contact your CREST sponsor before taking any
action.
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Modern Water Shares held in certificated form (that is, not in CREST)

(a)      To accept the Offer

To accept the Offer in respect of Modern Water Shares held in certificated form, you must

complete the Form of Acceptance in accordance with the instructions set out below and on the

Form of Acceptance. The instructions printed on the Form of Acceptance are deemed to form part

of the terms of the Offer. You should complete a separate Form of Acceptance for Modern Water

Shares held in certificated form but under different designations.

Additional Forms of Acceptance are available from the Receiving Agent at the address set out

below. The instructions for completing a Form of Acceptance below apply, where relevant, to

each separate Form of Acceptance to be completed by you.

(b)      Completing the Form of  Acceptance

To accept the Offer in respect of your Modern Water Shares held in certificated form, you must

complete Box 1 and Box 2 on the Form of Acceptance. Moreover, if the details in Box A are

incorrect you must insert the correct details in Box A on the Form of Acceptance where indicated.

In all cases you must sign Box 2 on the Form of Acceptance. If you are an individual, the

signature shall be made in the presence of a witness, who should also sign in accordance with

the instructions printed on the Form of Acceptance. Any Modern Water Shareholder which is a

company should execute the Form of Acceptance in accordance with the instructions printed on

it. If you do not insert a number in Box 1, or insert a number greater than your registered holding

of Modern Water Shares, or Box 1 contains the word “ALL” or any other marking, your

acceptance will be deemed to be in respect of all Modern Water Shares held by you in certificated

form.

(c)      To accept the Offer in respect of  less than all of  your Modern Water Shares held in certificated
form

To accept the Offer in respect of less than all your Modern Water Shares held in certificated form,

you must insert in Box 1 of the Form of Acceptance such lesser number of Modern Water Shares

in respect of which you wish to accept the Offer in accordance with the instructions printed on it.

You should then follow the procedure set out in paragraph (b) above in respect of such lesser

number of Modern Water Shares.

(d)      Return of  Form of  Acceptance

To accept the Offer, the completed, signed and (where applicable) witnessed Form of Acceptance

must be returned, together with your original share certificate(s) (no copies please) and/or other

document(s) of title for your Modern Water Shares, to the Receiving Agent, Neville Registrars, at

Neville House, Steelpark Road, Halesowen, B62 8HD by post or (if between 9.00 a.m. and

5.00 p.m. (London time) Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays in England and Wales)) by

hand as soon as possible and in any event so as to be received by no later than 1.00 p.m.

(London time) on 3 November 2020.

A reply paid envelope is provided for your convenience and may be used by Modern Water

Shareholders for returning a Form of Acceptance from within the UK. No acknowledgement of

receipt of documents will be given.

Any Form of Acceptance received in an envelope post-marked in a Restricted Jurisdiction or

otherwise appearing to DeepVerge or its agents to have been sent from a Restricted Jurisdiction

may be rejected as an invalid acceptance of the Offer. For further information on Overseas

Shareholders, see paragraph 21 of Part B of Part III of this document.

(e)      Share certificates not readily available or lost

If your share certificate(s) and/or other document(s) of title is/are not readily available or is/are

lost, the Form of Acceptance should still be completed, signed, (where applicable) witnessed and

returned to the Receiving Agent as stated above so as to arrive by no later than 1.00 p.m.

(London time) on 3 November 2020. You should also send with the Form of Acceptance any

original share certificate(s) (no copies please) and/or other document(s) of title that you have

available, accompanied by a letter stating that the remaining documents will follow as soon as
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possible or that you have lost one or more of your share certificate(s) and/or other document(s)

of title. You should submit the relevant share certificate(s) and/or other document(s) of title as

soon as possible. No acknowledgement of receipt of documents will be given.

In the case of loss, you should write as soon as possible to Modern Water’s registrars, Neville

Registrars, at Neville House, Steelpark Road, Halesowen, B62 8HD, for a letter of indemnity for

lost share certificate(s) and/or other document(s) of title which, when completed in accordance

with the instructions given, should be returned again to Modern Water’s registrars, Neville

Registrars, before then submitting the replacement certificate (or arranging its direct delivery) to

the Receiving Agent as set out in paragraph (d) above.

(f)       Validity of  acceptances

Without prejudice to Part B and Part C of Part III of this document, subject to the provisions of

the Code, DeepVerge reserves the right to treat as valid in whole or in part any acceptance of

the Offer which is not entirely in order or which is not accompanied by the relevant share

certificate(s) and/or other document(s) of title. In that event, no allotment of New DeepVerge

Shares under the Offer will be made until after the relevant share certificate(s) and/or other

document(s) of title or indemnities satisfactory to DeepVerge have been received.

Modern Water Shares held in uncertificated form (that is, in CREST)

(a)      General

If your Modern Water Shares are held in uncertificated form, to accept the Offer you should take

(or procure the taking of) the action set out below to transfer the number of Modern Water Shares

in respect of which you wish to accept the Offer to the appropriate escrow balance(s) (that is,

send a TTE instruction), specifying Neville Registrars (in its capacity as a CREST participant

under the Escrow Agent’s relevant participant ID referred to below) as the Escrow Agent, as soon

as possible and in any event so that the TTE instruction settles not later than 1.00 p.m. (London

time) on 3 November 2020. Please note that settlement cannot take place on weekends or
bank holidays (or other times at which the CREST system is non-operational). You should
therefore ensure you time the input of any TTE instructions accordingly.

The input and settlement of a TTE instruction in accordance with this paragraph will (subject to

satisfying the requirements set out in Part III of this document) constitute an acceptance of the

Offer in respect of the number of Modern Water Shares so transferred to escrow.

If you are a CREST sponsored member, you should refer to your CREST sponsor before taking

any action. Your CREST sponsor will be able to confirm details of your participant ID and the

member account ID under which your Modern Water Shares are held. In addition, only your

CREST sponsor will be able to send the TTE instruction(s) to Euroclear in relation to your Modern

Water Shares.

By submitting a TTE instruction, the Modern Water Shareholder for whom the acceptance is

made represents that he has read and understood Part III of this document and agrees to be

bound by the terms therein.

After settlement of a TTE instruction, you will not be able to access the Modern Water Shares

concerned in CREST for any transaction or charging purposes. If the Offer becomes or is

declared unconditional in all respects, the Escrow Agent will transfer to DeepVerge (or such other

person as DeepVerge or its agents may direct) the relevant Modern Water Shares.

You are recommended to refer to the CREST Manual published by Euroclear for further

information on the CREST procedures outlined below.

You should note that Euroclear does not make available special procedures in CREST for any

particular corporate action. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in

connection with a TTE instruction and its settlement. You should therefore ensure that all

necessary action is taken by you (or by your CREST sponsor) to enable a TTE instruction relating

to your Modern Water Shares to settle prior to 1.00 p.m. (London time) on 3 November 2020. In

this regard you are referred in particular to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning

practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.
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(b)      To accept the Offer

To accept the Offer in respect of your Modern Water Shares held in uncertificated form, you

should send (or if you are a CREST sponsored member, procure that your CREST sponsor

sends) to Euroclear a TTE instruction in relation to such shares. A TTE instruction to Euroclear

must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear’s specifications for transfers to

escrow and must contain, in addition to any other information that is required for a TTE instruction

to settle in CREST, the following details:

•         the ISIN number for the Modern Water Shares. This is GB00B1XF5X66;

•         the number of Modern Water Shares in respect of which you wish to accept the Offer

(i.e. the number of Modern Water Shares to be transferred to escrow);

•         your member account ID;

•         your participant ID;

•         the participant ID of the Escrow Agent. This is 7RA11;

•         the member account of the Escrow Agent for the Offer. This is MODERN;

•         the intended settlement date. This should be as soon as possible and, in any event, not

later than 1.00 p.m. (London time) on 3 November 2020;

•         the corporate action number of the Offer which is allocated by Euroclear and can be found

by viewing the relevant corporate action details in CREST;

•         input with a standard delivery instruction priority of 80; and

•         your contact name and telephone number inserted in the shared notes field.

(c)      Validity of  acceptances

A Form of Acceptance which is received in respect of Modern Water Shares held in uncertificated

form will not constitute a valid acceptance and will be disregarded. Holders of Modern Water

Shares in uncertificated form who wish to accept the Offer should note that a TTE instruction will

only be a valid acceptance of the Offer as at the relevant closing date if it has settled on or before

1.00 p.m. (London time) on that date. Without prejudice to Part III of this document, DeepVerge

reserves the right to treat as valid in whole or in part any acceptance of the Offer which is not

entirely in order or which is not accompanied by the relevant TTE instruction. In that event, no

allotment of New DeepVerge Shares under the Offer will be made until after the TTE instruction

or indemnities satisfactory to DeepVerge have been received.

(d)      Overseas shareholders

The attention of Modern Water Shareholders holding Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form

and who are citizens or residents of jurisdictions outside the UK is drawn to paragraph 21 of

Part B of Part III of this document.

General

DeepVerge will make an appropriate announcement if any of the details contained in this paragraph 13

alter for any reason.

Normal CREST procedures (including timings) apply in relation to any Modern Water Shares that are,

or are to be, converted from uncertificated to certificated form, or from certificated to uncertificated form,

during the course of the Offer (whether any such conversion arises as a result of a transfer of Modern

Water Shares or otherwise). Holders of Modern Water Shares who are proposing so to convert any

such shares are recommended to ensure that the conversion procedures are implemented in sufficient

time to enable the person holding or acquiring the shares as a result of the conversion to take all

necessary steps in connection with an acceptance of the Offer (in particular, as regards delivery of a

share certificate(s) or other document(s) of title or transfers to an escrow balance as described above)

prior to 1.00 p.m. (London time) on 3 November 2020.
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If you are in any doubt as to the procedure for acceptance, please telephone the Receiving
Agent, Neville Registrars, between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. (London time) Monday to Friday
(excluding English and Welsh public holidays) on 0121 585 1131 from within the UK or
+44 (0) 121 585 1131 if calling from outside the UK. Calls to the helpline from outside the UK will
be charged at applicable international rates. Calls may be recorded and randomly monitored for
security and training purposes. Please note that Neville Registrars cannot provide advice on the
merits of the Offer nor give any financial, tax, investment or legal advice. You are reminded that,
if you are a CREST sponsored member, you should contact your CREST sponsor before taking
any action.

14.     United Kingdom Taxation                                                                                                              

Any person who is in any doubt as to his or her tax position, or who is subject to taxation in any
jurisdiction other than that of the UK, should consult his or her professional advisers.

The comments set out below refer to certain limited aspects of the United Kingdom taxation
treatment of Modern Water Shareholders resident in the United Kingdom and do not purport to
be either (i) a complete analysis of all tax considerations relating to the Offer and their holding
of New DeepVerge Shares or (ii) an analysis of the tax position of Modern Water or DeepVerge.
The following statements do not constitute tax advice and are intended only as a general guide
to current UK tax law and published practice of HMRC, both of which are subject to change at
any time, possibly with retrospective effect.

The comments are intended as a general guide and apply only to Modern Water Shareholders
who are resident for tax purposes in the UK, who hold their Modern Water Shares and will hold
their New DeepVerge Shares as an investment and who are the absolute beneficial owners of
their Modern Water Shares and will be the absolute beneficial owners of their New DeepVerge
Shares (other than under a Self-Invested Personal Pension or through an Individual Savings
Account). These comments may not apply to certain classes of Modern Water Shareholders who
are subject to different tax rules, such as charities, dealers in securities, persons holding or
acquiring shares in the course of a trade, persons who have or could be treated for tax purposes
as having acquired their Modern Water Shares or New DeepVerge Shares by reason of their
employment, collective investment schemes, persons subject to UK tax on the remittance basis
and insurance companies. Modern Water Shareholders are encouraged to consult an
appropriate independent professional tax adviser in respect of their personal tax position.

(A)      Taxation of  Chargeable Gains

(i)       The Offer

The Modern Water Shareholders will receive New DeepVerge Shares as consideration for

the transfer of their Modern Water Shares.

(ii)      New DeepVerge Shares

Subject to the comments made below, the receipt of New DeepVerge Shares by Modern

Water Shareholders pursuant to the Offer should be treated as an exchange of securities

for the purposes of section 135 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 (“TCGA”).

This means that the Modern Water Shareholders should not be treated as disposing of the

proportion of their Modern Water Shares which are exchanged for New DeepVerge Shares

and, instead, the New DeepVerge Shares received by them should be treated for UK tax

purposes as the same asset, acquired at the same time as the Modern Water Shares in

respect of which they are issued as consideration.

In the case of Modern Water Shareholders who alone, or together with persons connected

with them, hold 5 per cent. or more of the Modern Water Shares, such “rollover” treatment

will only apply if the provisions of section 137(1) of the TCGA do not prevent it (exchange

must be for bona fide commercial purposes and not as part of a scheme for the avoidance

of UK tax). No clearance has been sought from HMRC confirming that section 137(1) of

the TCGA should not prevent the rollover treatment. If the Offer is not treated as an

exchange of securities, UK resident Modern Water Shareholders who alone, or together

with persons connected with them, hold 5 per cent. or more of the Modern Water Shares

4.3.2.4
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would be treated for the purposes of taxation on chargeable gains as having disposed of

their holding of Modern Water Shares in consideration of the issue to them of the New

DeepVerge Shares pursuant to the Offer.

(iii)      Future disposals

A disposal or deemed disposal of New DeepVerge Shares by a Modern Water

Shareholder, who is (at any time in the relevant tax year in the UK) resident in the UK for

tax purposes, may give rise to a chargeable gain or an allowable loss for the purposes of

taxation of chargeable gains in the UK, depending on the Modern Water Shareholder’s

circumstances and subject to any available exemption or relief and certain anti-avoidance

rules. The gain will be calculated as the difference between the sale proceeds and any

allowable costs and expenses, including the base cost of the New DeepVerge Shares

(which would equal the original base cost in the Modern Water Shares where rollover

treatment applies).

Modern Water Shareholders who are not resident in the UK for tax purposes but who carry

on a trade, profession or vocation in the UK through a branch, agency or fixed place of

business in the UK may be liable to UK taxation on chargeable gains on any gain on a

disposal or deemed disposal of their New DeepVerge Shares, if those New DeepVerge

Shares are or have been held, used or acquired for the purposes of that trade, profession

or vocation or for the purposes of that branch, agency or fixed place of business.

(iv)     Individuals

The amount of capital gains tax, if any, payable by a Modern Water Shareholder who is an

individual resident in the United Kingdom for tax purposes will depend on his or her own

personal tax position. No tax should be payable on any gain realised on the disposal if the

amount of the net chargeable gains realised by a Modern Water Shareholder, when

aggregated with other net gains realised by that Modern Water Shareholder in the year of

assessment (and after taking account of allowable losses), does not exceed the annual

exemption (the annual exemption for the tax year ending 5 April 2021 is £12,000). Broadly,

at current rates (and subject to the availability of any applicable reliefs), any gains in

excess of this amount will be taxed at a rate of 10 per cent. for a taxpayer paying tax at

the basic rate and 20 per cent. for higher and additional rate taxpayers. Where the gains

of a basic rate taxpayer subject to capital gains tax exceed the unused part of their basic

rate band, that excess will be subject to tax at the higher (currently 20 per cent.) rate.

A Modern Water Shareholder who is an individual and who acquires New DeepVerge

Shares whilst a resident of the UK but who subsequently ceases to be resident for tax

purposes in the UK for a period of five years or less and who disposes of the New

DeepVerge Shares during that period may be liable, on his or her return to the UK, to

capital gains tax (subject to any available exemption or relief).

(v)      Corporation tax payers

A gain on the disposal or deemed disposal of New DeepVerge Shares by a Modern Water

Shareholder within the charge to UK corporation tax will form part of the Modern Water

Shareholder’s profits chargeable to corporation tax (the rate of which is currently 19 per

cent.).

(B)      Taxation of  Dividends on New DeepVerge Shares

(i)       Individuals

UK resident individuals are granted an annual tax-free dividend allowance, which is

currently £2,000. References to “£2,000” below are to the current dividend allowance,

which is subject to change. Accordingly, a Modern Water Shareholder who is an individual

resident in the UK for tax purposes and who receives a dividend from DeepVerge will not

pay any income tax on the first £2,000 of dividend income they receive (whether from

DeepVerge or elsewhere). Any dividend income received (including the first £2,000) will be

treated as the top slice of the Modern Water Shareholder’s income.
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A Modern Water Shareholder who (taking account of dividend receipts) is liable to UK

income tax at the basic rate will be subject to UK income tax on any dividend income in

excess of £2,000 at the rate of 7.5 per cent.

A Modern Water Shareholder who is liable to UK income tax at the higher rate will be

subject to UK income tax on any dividend income in excess of £2,000 at the rate of

32.5 per cent. to the extent that the dividend income in excess of £2,000 falls above the

threshold for the higher rate of UK income tax but below the threshold for the additional

rate of UK income tax.

A Modern Water Shareholder who is liable to UK income tax at the additional rate will be

subject to UK income tax on any dividend income in excess of £2,000, at the rate of

38.1 per cent. to the extent that the dividend income in excess of £2,000 falls above the

threshold for the additional rate of UK income tax.

(ii)      Companies

Modern Water Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax which are “small

companies” (for the purposes of UK taxation of dividends) will not generally be subject to

tax on dividends paid on the New DeepVerge Shares, provided certain conditions are met.

Other Modern Water Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax will not be

subject to tax on dividends on the New DeepVerge Shares so long as (i) the dividends fall

within an exempt class and (ii) do not fall within certain specified anti-avoidance provisions

and (iii) the Modern Water Shareholder has not elected for the dividends not to be exempt.

Each Modern Water Shareholder’s position will depend on its own individual

circumstances, although it would normally be expected that dividends paid on the New

DeepVerge Shares would fall within an exempt class. Examples of dividends that are

within an exempt class include dividends paid on shares that are non-redeemable ordinary

shares and dividends in respect of portfolio holdings where the recipient owns less than 10

per cent. of the issued share capital of the payer (or any class of that share capital) and is

entitled to less than 10 per cent. of the profits available for distribution and less than 10 per

cent. of assets available for distribution on a winding up in either case to holders of the

issued share capital of the payer (or of any class of that share capital). The exemptions

are not comprehensive and are subject to anti-avoidance rules. If the conditions for

exemption are not, or cease to be, satisfied, or such a Modern Water Shareholder elects

for an otherwise exempt dividend to be taxable, the Modern Water Shareholder will be

subject to corporation tax in the UK on dividends received from Modern Water. Corporation

tax is charged on dividends at the rate applicable to that company. Modern Water

Shareholders will need to ensure that they satisfy the requirements of an exempt class

before treating any dividend as exempt, and seek appropriate professional advice where

necessary.

(iii)      Other Modern Water Shareholders

UK registered pension schemes and charities are generally exempt from tax on dividends.

Trustees who are liable to income tax at the rate applicable to trusts (currently 45 per cent.)

will pay tax on the dividend at the dividend trust rate (38.1 per cent. for the tax year ending

5 April 2020). The annual tax-free dividend allowance applies to individuals only, and there

is no equivalent allowance for trusts.

(C)     Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (“SDRT”)

Modern Water Shareholders should not be required to pay UK stamp duty or stamp duty reserve

tax as a result of a transfer of their Modern Water Shares under the Offer.

The issue of the New DeepVerge Shares will not give rise to a liability to UK stamp duty or SDRT.

On subsequent transfers of New DeepVerge Shares, UK stamp duty will generally be payable (at

the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the value of the consideration paid, rounded up where necessary to the

next £5) if an instrument of transfer is executed in the UK or, in certain cases, is brought into the
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UK. Transfers of shares for less than £1,000 are not generally subject to UK stamp duty, provided

that they are not part of a wider transaction or series of transactions.

However, exemption is available if the New DeepVerge Shares qualify as being issued on a

Recognised Growth Market. AIM currently qualifies as a Recognised Growth Market.

15.     Settlement                                                                                                                                       

Subject to the Offer becoming or being declared unconditional in all respects, settlement of the

consideration to which any Modern Water Shareholder is entitled under the Offer (except as provided

in paragraph 21 of Part B of Part III of this document in the case of an Overseas Shareholder) will be

effected (i) in the case of acceptances received, complete in all respects, by the date on which the Offer

becomes or is declared unconditional in all respects, within 14 days of such date; or (ii) in the case of

acceptances received, complete in all respects, after the date on which the Offer becomes or is

declared unconditional in all respects but while it remains open for acceptance, within 14 days of such

receipt, in the following manner:

(a)      Shares held in certificated form (that is, not in CREST)

Where an acceptance relates to Modern Water Shares held in certificated form, the New

DeepVerge Shares to which the accepting Modern Water Shareholder is entitled will be issued

in certificated form.

Definitive certificates for the New DeepVerge Shares will be despatched by first class post (or by

such other method as may be approved by the Panel) at the risk of the person(s) entitled thereto

to validly accepting Modern Water Shareholders or their appointed agents (but not in or into a

Restricted Jurisdiction).

(b)      Shares held in uncertificated form (that is, in CREST)

Where an acceptance relates to Modern Water Shares held in uncertificated form, the New

DeepVerge Shares to which the accepting Modern Water Shareholder is entitled will be issued

to such Modern Water Shareholder in uncertificated form. DeepVerge will procure that Euroclear

is instructed to credit the appropriate stock account in CREST of the accepting Modern Water

Shareholder concerned with such Modern Water Shareholder’s entitlement to New DeepVerge

Shares pursuant to the Offer. The stock account concerned will be an account under the same

participant ID and member account ID as appeared in the TTE Instruction(s) concerned.

DeepVerge reserves the right to settle all or any part of the consideration referred to above, for

all or any accepting Modern Water Shareholder(s), in the manner referred to in paragraph (a)

above, if, for any reason, it wishes to do so.

16.     Admission and dealings in the New DeepVerge Shares                                                            

Application will be made to the London Stock Exchange for all the New DeepVerge Shares issued

under the Offer to be admitted to trading on AIM. It is expected that, subject to the satisfaction of the

conditions set out in Part A of Part III of this document, Admission will become effective and trading in

the First Tranche of the New Ordinary Shares (issued in relation to valid acceptances under the Offer

by 3 November 2020) will commence at 8.00 a.m. on 23 November 2020.

In relation to New DeepVerge Shares issued in certificated form, temporary documents of title will not

be issued pending the despatch by post of definitive certificates for such New DeepVerge Shares in

accordance with the terms of the Offer.

Winterflood Securities, Peel Hunt, Berenberg, Stifel and Shore Capital are the market makers in

DeepVerge Shares.

17.     Compulsory acquisition and cancellation of admission to trading on AIM of Modern Water
Shares

If DeepVerge acquires, whether through acceptances under the Offer or otherwise, 90 per cent. or more

of the Modern Water Shares to which the Offer relates and the Offer becomes or is declared

unconditional in all respects, DeepVerge will exercise its rights pursuant to the provisions of sections

4.4.3

4.4.3

4.3.2.1

4.4.1

4.3.2.3
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974-991 of the Companies Act to acquire compulsorily the remaining Modern Water Shares. In

exercising such rights in respect of Modern Water Shares held by Modern Water Shareholders in, or

with a registered address in, a Restricted Jurisdiction, DeepVerge may elect to arrange for such Modern

Water Shares to be sold on behalf of the relevant Modern Water Shareholder and the proceeds (less

the costs and expenses of such sale) remitted to such Modern Water Shareholder.

If the Offer becomes or is declared unconditional in all respects and DeepVerge has acquired or agreed

to acquire Modern Water Shares which represent 75 per cent. or more of the voting rights attaching to

the Modern Water Shares then DeepVerge intends to procure the making of an application by Modern

Water to the London Stock Exchange for the cancellation of the admission to trading of Modern Water

Shares on AIM and to re-register Modern Water as a private company as soon as it is appropriate to do

so under the provisions of the Companies Act.

It is anticipated that any cancellation of admission to trading on AIM would take effect no earlier than

twenty Business Days after DeepVerge has acquired or agreed to acquire 75 per cent. of the voting

rights attaching to the DeepVerge Shares. Cancellation of admission to trading on AIM would

significantly reduce the liquidity and marketability of all Modern Water Shares not assented to the Offer

at that time.

18.     Further information

Your attention is drawn to the further information contained in this document relating to DeepVerge and

the New DeepVerge Shares which is set out in Parts VI and VIII of this document.

19.     Action to be taken

If you hold your Modern Water Shares in certificated form (that is, not in CREST), then to accept the

Offer you should ensure that you return your completed Form of Acceptance in the reply-paid envelope

as soon as possible and, in any event, so as to be received by Neville Registrars no later than 1.00 p.m.

(London time) on 3 November 2020.

If you hold your Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form (that is, in CREST), then to accept the Offer

you should ensure that you send (or, if you are a CREST sponsored member, procure that your CREST

sponsor sends) a TTE Instruction in accordance with the procedure set out in paragraph 13 of this

Part II, as soon as possible, and in any event so that the TTE Instruction settles not later than 1.00 p.m.

(London time) on 3 November 2020.

Further details relating to acceptance of, settlement of the consideration due under, the Offer are set

out in paragraphs 13 and 15 respectively in this Part II.

Yours faithfully,

Ross Andrews
Chairman

for and on behalf of

DeepVerge plc
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PART III

CONDITIONS AND FURTHER TERMS OF THE OFFER

PART A: CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER

1.       Conditions                                                                                                                                       

The Offer will be subject to the conditions and terms set out below, in this document and (in respect of

certificated Modern Water Shares) in the Form of Acceptance and to the applicable rules and

regulations of the London Stock Exchange and the Code and will be governed by English law and

subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of England:

1.1     Acceptance condition

valid acceptances of the Offer being received (and not, where permitted, withdrawn) by not later

than 1.00 p.m. (London time) on the First Closing Date (or such later time(s) and/or date(s) as

DeepVerge may, subject to the rules of the Code or with the consent of the Panel, decide) in

respect of Modern Water Shares which, together with all other Modern Water Shares acquired by

the DeepVerge Group (whether pursuant to the Offer or otherwise) will result in the DeepVerge

Group, and any other person acting in concert with DeepVerge (not including any of its

associates), holding in aggregate not less than 90 per cent. (or such lower percentage as

DeepVerge may decide) in nominal value of the Modern Water Shares to which the Offer relates

and of the voting rights attached to those shares, provided that this Condition will not be satisfied

unless the DeepVerge Group shall have acquired or agreed to acquire (whether pursuant to the

Offer or otherwise) Modern Water Shares carrying in aggregate more than 50 per cent. of the

voting rights then normally exercisable at general meetings of Modern Water, including for this

purpose (except to the extent otherwise agreed by the Panel), any voting rights attaching to any

Modern Water Shares which are unconditionally allotted or issued before the Offer becomes or

is declared unconditional as to acceptances (whether pursuant to the exercise of outstanding

conversion or subscription rights or otherwise). For the purposes of this Condition 1.1:

1.1.1 Modern Water Shares which have been unconditionally allotted but not issued before the

Offer becomes or is declared unconditional as to acceptances, whether pursuant to the

exercise of any outstanding subscription or conversion rights or otherwise, shall be

deemed to carry the voting rights they will carry on being entered into the register of

members of Modern Water;

1.1.2 the expressions ‘shares to which the Offer relates’ and ‘associates’ shall be construed in

accordance with Part 28 of the Act;

1.1.3 Modern Water Shares that cease to be held in treasury before the Offer becomes or is

declared unconditional as to acceptances are Modern Water Shares to which the Offer

relates; and

1.1.4 valid acceptances shall be deemed to have been received in respect of Modern Water

Shares which are treated for the purposes of Part 28 of the Act as having been acquired

or contracted to be acquired by the DeepVerge Group by virtue of acceptances of the

Offer;

1.2     CMA clearance

to the extent that the European Commission refers any aspect of the Offer to the CMA under

Article 4(4) or Article 9 of the Council Regulation (EC) 139/2004 (the “EU Merger Regulation”),

or if it does not constitute a concentration with an Community dimension, but DeepVerge and

Modern Water agree (such agreement to take due account of their relative legal obligations, and

not to be unreasonably withheld) that a CMA filing is otherwise desirable, the CMA confirming, in

terms reasonably satisfactory to DeepVerge and Modern Water, that there will not be a reference

by the CMA of the Offer, any part of it or any matter arising from it to its chair for the constitution

of a group under schedule 4 to the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013;

3.2.1

33

174138      Proof 11 Tuesday, October 13, 2020 11:32



1.3     Admission of  the New DeepVerge Shares                                                                                  

the admission to trading on AIM of the New DeepVerge Shares to be issued in connection with

the Offer becoming effective in accordance with the AIM Rules or if DeepVerge and SPARK so

determine (and subject to the consent of the Panel), the London Stock Exchange having

acknowledged to DeepVerge or its agent (and such acknowledgement not having been

withdrawn) that the New DeepVerge Shares will be admitted to trading on AIM;

1.4     General regulatory matters

other than in respect of Condition 1.2, no central bank, government or governmental, quasi-

governmental, supranational, statutory, regulatory, environmental or investigative body, authority,

court, trade agency, association, institution or professional or environmental body, private body

or any other body or person whatsoever in any jurisdiction (each a “Relevant Authority”) having

instituted, implemented or threatened or having announced its intention to institute, implement or

threaten any action, proceedings, suit, investigation, enquiry or reference, or enacted, made

or proposed any statute, regulation, decision or order, or having required any action to be taken

or information to be provided or otherwise having taken any other steps which would or might

reasonably be expected to:

1.4.1 make the Offer or its implementation, or the acquisition or the proposed acquisition by

DeepVerge of any shares or other securities in, or control of, Modern Water or any of its

subsidiaries or subsidiary undertakings void, illegal or unenforceable under the laws of

any jurisdiction, or otherwise directly or indirectly restrain, prohibit, restrict, prevent or

delay the same or impose additional adverse conditions or financial or other obligations

with respect thereto, or otherwise challenge or interfere therewith;

1.4.2 impose any limitation on, or result in a delay in, the ability of any member of the

DeepVerge Group to acquire or hold or exercise effectively, directly or indirectly, all rights

of all or any of the Modern Water Shares (whether acquired pursuant to the Offer or

otherwise);

1.4.3 require, prevent or delay the divestiture or alter the terms envisaged for any proposed

divestiture by any member of the DeepVerge Group or the Modern Water Group of all or

any portion of their respective businesses, assets or property, or impose any limitation on

the ability of any of them to conduct all or any part of their respective businesses or to

own or control any of their respective assets or properties;

1.4.4 require, prevent or delay the divestiture by any member of the DeepVerge Group of any

shares, securities or other interests in any member of the Modern Water Group of all or

any portion of their respective businesses, assets or properties or impose any limitation

on the ability of any of them to conduct their businesses or own their respective assets

or properties or any part thereof;

1.4.5 impose any limitation on, or result in a delay in, the ability of any member of the

DeepVerge Group to acquire or hold or exercise effectively, directly or indirectly, any

rights of ownership of shares or other securities convertible into shares or any other

securities (or the equivalent) in any member of the Modern Water Group or on the ability

of any member of the Modern Water Group to hold or exercise effectively, directly or

indirectly, any rights of ownership of shares or other securities (or the equivalent) in, or to

exercise management control over, any other member of the Modern Water Group;

1.4.6 result in any member of the DeepVerge Group or the Modern Water Group ceasing to be

able to carry on their respective businesses under any name under which it is presently

carried on;

1.4.7 require any member of the DeepVerge Group or of the Modern Water Group to acquire

or offer to acquire any shares or other securities (or the equivalent) owned by any third

party in any member of the DeepVerge Group or any member of the Modern Water

Group, other than as a result of the implementation of the Offer;

1.4.8 make the Offer or its implementation or the proposed acquisition by the Offeror of any

shares or other securities in the Offeree or the acquisition or control of Modern Water or

3.2.4
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any member of the Modern Water Group, illegal, void or unenforceable in or under the

laws of any jurisdiction or directly or indirectly restrict or delay, prohibit or otherwise

interfere with the implementation of, or impose additional conditions or obligations with

respect to, or otherwise challenge, the Offer or the acquisition of any shares in Modern

Water, or control of Modern Water, by DeepVerge;

1.4.9 impose any limitation on, or result in any delay in, the ability of any member of the

DeepVerge Group or of the Modern Water Group to conduct or co-ordinate or integrate

its business, or any part of it, with the business of any other member of the DeepVerge

Group or the Modern Water Group;

1.4.10 otherwise adversely affect the business, assets, financial or trading position or profits or

prospects of any member of the DeepVerge Group or of the Modern Water Group; or

1.4.11 result in the refusal, withholding, suspension, withdrawal, cancellation, termination or

modification in whole or in part of any licence, authority, permission or privilege held or

enjoyed by any member of the DeepVerge Group or of the Modern Water Group which is

necessary for the proper carrying on of its business or the imposition of any conditions,

restrictions or limitations upon such licence, authority, permission or privilege which

would materially inhibit the exercise thereof,

and all applicable waiting and other time periods (including any extensions thereof) during which

any Relevant Authority could decide to take, institute, implement or threaten any action,

proceeding, suit, investigation, enquiry or reference or any other step under the laws of any

jurisdiction in respect of the Offer or the acquisition of any shares or other securities in Modern

Water, or control of Modern Water, by DeepVerge, having expired, lapsed or been terminated;

1.5     Notifications, filings, authorisations

other than in relation to the competition law and regulatory approvals referred to in Condition 1.2,

all necessary filings or applications having been made, and all statutory or regulatory obligations

having been complied with, in each case in any jurisdiction and under any applicable legislation

or regulation in relation to the Offer or the acquisition of Modern Water securities by any member

of the DeepVerge Group or change of control of Modern Water, and all authorisations, orders,

grants, recognitions, confirmations, licences, consents, clearances, permissions and approvals

(together “authorisations”) necessary in any jurisdiction for or in respect of the Offer or the

acquisition of Modern Water securities by any member of the DeepVerge Group or change of

control of Modern Water having been obtained (in terms and form reasonably satisfactory to

DeepVerge) from any Relevant Authority or other person or body with whom any member of the

DeepVerge Group or the Modern Water Group has entered into an agreement or arrangement,

and such authorisations and any other authorisations necessary or appropriate for any member

of the DeepVerge Group or of the Modern Water Group to carry on any business now carried on

by it remaining in full force and effect, and no notice having been given or threatened to revoke,

suspend or not renew any of the same;

1.6     Events since last accounts date

save as Disclosed, no member of the Modern Water Group having, since 31 December 2019:

1.6.1 save as between Modern Water and its wholly-owned subsidiaries or for Modern Water

Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the Broker Warrants or the exercise of options

or vesting of awards granted under the Modern Water Share Schemes, issued or agreed

to issue or authorised or proposed the issue of additional shares of any class;

1.6.2 save as between Modern Water and its wholly-owned subsidiaries or for the Broker

Warrants or the grant of options or awards pursuant to the Modern Water Share

Schemes, issued or agreed to issue or authorised or proposed the issue of securities

convertible into shares of any class, or rights, warrants or options to subscribe for, or

acquire, any such shares or convertible securities;

1.6.3 other than to another member of the Modern Water Group, recommended, declared, paid

or made or proposed to recommend, declare, pay or make any bonus, dividend or other

distribution, whether payable in cash or otherwise;
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1.6.4 save for transactions with another member of the Modern Water Group, merged with or

demerged from any body corporate, partnership or business, or acquired or disposed of

or transferred, mortgaged or charged or created any security interest of any kind

whatsoever over any assets or any right, title or interest in any asset (including shares

and trade investments), or authorised or proposed or announced any intention to

propose, enter into or create any merger, demerger, acquisition or disposal, transfer,

mortgage, charge or security interest of any kind;

1.6.5 save for transactions with another member of the Modern Water Group, made or

authorised, or announced a proposal to make, any change in its loan capital or the issue

of any debentures;

1.6.6 incurred or increased any indebtedness or become subject to any guarantee or

contingent liability other (in any such case) than in the ordinary course of business;

1.6.7 been unable to pay its debts, or having admitted such inability in writing, having stopped

or suspended payment of its debts generally (or having threatened to do either such

thing), or having ceased, or having threatened to cease, carrying on all or a substantial

part of its business;

1.6.8 purchased, redeemed or repaid, or announced any proposal to purchase, redeem or

repay, any of its own shares or other securities, or reduced or made any other change

(excepting any change referred to in sub-paragraph 1.6.1 above) to any part of its share

capital;

1.6.9 other than pursuant to the Offer (and except for transactions with another member of the

Modern Water Group which are not material in the context of the Modern Water Group

taken as a whole) entered into, implemented, effected or authorised, or proposed or

announced its intention to enter into, implement, effect or authorise, any merger,

demerger, reconstruction, amalgamation, scheme, commitment or other transaction or

arrangement with a substantially equivalent effect;

1.6.10 entered into, or varied in any material respect the terms of, any contract with any director

or senior executive of Modern Water or any of its subsidiaries;

1.6.11 other than in the ordinary course of business, entered into or varied or authorised,

proposed or announced its intention to enter into, vary or authorise any contract,

transaction or commitment (whether in respect of capital expenditure or otherwise) which

is of a long term, onerous or unusual nature or magnitude, or involves or could involve

an obligation of such a nature or magnitude, or which is or could be (in a manner or to an

extent abnormal in the context of the business concerned) restrictive on any business of

any member of the Modern Water Group;

1.6.12 (other than in respect of a member which is dormant and was solvent at the relevant time)

taken any corporate action or had any legal proceedings started or threatened against it

for its winding-up, dissolution, reorganisation or any analogous proceedings in any

jurisdiction, or for the appointment of a receiver, administrative receiver, administrator,

trustee or similar officer of all or any of its assets or revenues, or had any such person

appointed;

1.6.13 entered into any contract, transaction or arrangement which would be restrictive on the

business of any member of the Modern Water Group other than to a nature and extent

which is normal in the context of the business concerned;

1.6.14 waived or compromised any claim otherwise than in the ordinary course of business;

1.6.15 entered into or varied the terms of any contract, commitment, arrangement or agreement

otherwise than in the ordinary course of business, or passed any resolution or made any

offer (which remains open for acceptance) with respect to, or announced any intention or

proposal to effect, any of the transactions, matters or events referred to in this Condition;

1.6.16 made any amendment to its articles of association;
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1.6.17 made or agreed or consented to any change to:

(a) the terms of any trust deed constituting any pension scheme established by any

member of the Modern Water Group for its directors, employees and/or their

dependents,

(b) the contributions payable to any such scheme, or the benefits which accrue or the

pensions which are payable thereunder,

(c) the basis on which qualification for, or accrual or entitlement to, such benefits or

pensions are calculated or determined, or

(d) the basis upon which the liabilities (including pensions) of any such pension

schemes are funded, valued or made; or

1.6.18 proposed, modified the terms of, or agreed to provide, any share scheme, incentive

scheme or other benefit relating to the employment or termination of employment of any

person employed by the Modern Water Group, other than in accordance with the terms

of the Offer;

1.7     Matters arising from agreement, arrangement etc.

save as Disclosed, there being no provision of any agreement, arrangement, licence, permit or

other instrument to which any member of the Modern Water Group is a party, or in or from which

any such member may be interested or be entitled to benefit, or by or to which any such member

or any of its assets may be bound or subject, which in consequence of the Offer or because of a

change in the control of Modern Water or otherwise, could or might result in:

1.7.1 any moneys borrowed by, or any other indebtedness (actual or contingent) of, or any

grant available to, any such member, being or becoming repayable or capable of being

declared repayable immediately or earlier than their or its stated repayment or maturity

date, or the ability of any such member to borrow moneys or incur any indebtedness

being withdrawn or restricted, or being or becoming capable of being withdrawn or

restricted;

1.7.2 any such agreement, arrangement, licence, permit or instrument or the rights, liabilities,

obligations or interests of any such member thereunder being terminated or adversely

modified or affected, or any obligation or liability arising or any adverse action being taken

or arising thereunder;

1.7.3 any assets or interests of any such member being or falling to be disposed of or charged

or any right arising under which any such asset or interest could be required to be

disposed of or charged;

1.7.4 the creation or enforcement of any mortgage, charge or other security interest of any kind

whatsoever over the whole or any part of the business, property, assets or other interests

of any such member or any such security;

1.7.5 the rights, liabilities, obligations or interests of any such member in or in respect of any

agreement or arrangement, or the business of any such member, with any person, firm

or body being terminated or adversely modified or affected;

1.7.6 the value of any such member or its financial or trading position being prejudiced or

adversely affected;

1.7.7 any such member ceasing to be able to carry on business under any name under which

it currently does so; or

1.7.8 the imposition of any liability (actual or contingent) on, or an increase in the liability

(whether actual or contingent) of, any such member;

and no event having occurred which, under any provision of any agreement, arrangement,

licence, permit or other instrument to which any member of the Modern Water Group is a party

or by or to which any such member or any of its assets may be bound, entitled or subject, could
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result in the occurrence of any of the events or circumstances described or referred to in

paragraphs 1.7.1 to 1.7.8 of this Condition;

1.8     No adverse change, litigation etc.

save as Disclosed, since the date to which Modern Water’s most recently published annual report

and accounts were made up:

1.8.1 no adverse change or deterioration having occurred in the business, assets, financial or

trading position or profits of any member of the Modern Water Group;

1.8.2 no litigation, arbitration or mediation proceedings, prosecution or other legal proceedings

to which any member of the Modern Water Group is or may become a party (whether as

a claimant, defendant or otherwise), and no investigation by any Relevant Authority

against or in respect of any member of the Modern Water Group remaining outstanding,

or having been instituted, announced or threatened by or against any member of the

Modern Water Group; and

1.8.3 no contingent or other liability of any member of the Modern Water Group which has not

previously been disclosed having arisen which would be likely to adversely affect the

business, assets, financial or trading position, profits, prospects or operational

performance of any member of the Modern Water Group;

1.9     No withdrawal, cancellation, termination or modification of  licence

no steps having been taken and no omissions having been made which are likely to result in the

withdrawal, cancellation, termination or modification of any licence held by any member of the

Modern Water Group which is necessary for the proper carrying on of its business;

1.10   No discovery of  adverse information

save as Disclosed, DeepVerge not having discovered in relation to any member of the Modern

Water Group:

1.10.1 that any financial, business or other information concerning the Modern Water Group as

contained in the information publicly announced at any time by or on behalf of any

member of the Modern Water Group is misleading, contains a misrepresentation of fact

or omits to state a fact necessary to make that information not misleading;

1.10.2 that any member of the Modern Water Group, or any partnership, company or other entity

which is not a member of the Modern Water Group but in which any member of the

Modern Water Group has a significant economic interest, is subject to any liability

(contingent or otherwise); or

1.10.3 any information which affects the importance of any other information disclosed at any

time by or on behalf of any member of the Modern Water Group and whose importance

is material in the context of the Modern Water Group taken as a whole.
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PART B: FURTHER TERMS OF THE OFFER

Definitions

Except where the context requires otherwise, any reference in this Part B or in Parts C or D of this

Part III and (in respect of the certificated Modern Water Shares) in the Form of Acceptance to:

1.       the “acceptance condition” means the condition set out in paragraph 1.1 of Part A of this Part III;

2.       the “Offer” includes any election or alternative available under the Offer and any revision,

variation, renewal or extension of the Offer;

3.       the “Offer becoming unconditional as to acceptances” means the Offer being or becoming or

being declared unconditional as to acceptances by virtue of the acceptance condition having

become or been declared fulfilled, whether or not any other condition to the Offer remains to be

satisfied;

4.       the “Offer becoming wholly unconditional” or the “Offer becoming unconditional in all
respects” (and similar terms) means all of the Conditions to the Offer becoming, or being

declared, satisfied, or where capable of being waived, waived, and references to the Offer having

become, or having been declared, unconditional in all respects shall be construed accordingly;

5.       “acceptance of the Offer” includes deemed acceptance of the Offer;

6.       a person “acting in concert with” DeepVerge is a reference to a person acting, or deemed to

be acting, in concert with DeepVerge for the purposes of the Code and/or the Offer;

7.       “send”, “sent” or “sending” or a similar expression in relation to any document, announcement

or other information shall include distribution in hard copy form or electronic form or publication

on a website in such manner as shall be permitted by the Code or otherwise with the Panel’s

consent;

8.       “Modern Water Shareholders” means holders of Modern Water Shares and shall include

reference to the person or persons (in respect of certificated Modern Water Shares) executing a

Form of Acceptance and, in the event of more than one person executing a Form of Acceptance,

the provisions of Part B and Part C of Part III shall apply to them jointly and to each of them.

References to the masculine gender shall include the feminine;

9.       “Day 21” means 3 November 2020 (or any later time and/or date as the Panel may determine);

10.     “Day 39” means 21 November 2020 (or any later time and/or date as the Panel may determine);

11.      “Day 42” means 24 November 2020 (or any later time and/or date as the Panel may determine);

12.     “Day 46” means 28 November 2020 (or any later time and/or date as the Panel may determine);

and

13.     “Day 60” means 12 December 2020 (or any later time and/or date as the Panel may determine).

The following further terms apply, unless the context requires otherwise, to the Offer.

14.     Acceptance Period

14.1   The Offer will initially be open for acceptance until 1.00 p.m. (London time) on Day 21 of the Offer.

DeepVerge reserves the right (but will not be obliged, other than as may be required by the Code)

at any time and from time to time after that date to extend the Offer and, in such event, it will

make an announcement of such extension as described in paragraph 15.1 below and give oral

or written notice of such extension to the Receiving Agent. If the Offer has not become

unconditional by Day 21, DeepVerge will have the option to extend the Offer until such time as

the Offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances. There can be no assurance, however, that

DeepVerge will, in such circumstances, extend the Offer and, if no such extension is made, the

Offer will lapse on Day 21 and no Modern Water Shares will be purchased pursuant to the Offer.

14.2   Although no revision is contemplated, if the Offer is revised, a revised offer document will be

published and sent to Modern Water Shareholders. On the day of publication, DeepVerge will

place the revised offer document on display, make it available on its website and announce that

this document has been sent and where it can be inspected and otherwise accessed. If it is
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revised, the Offer, in its revised form, will remain open for acceptance for a period of at least 14

days (or such other period as may be permitted by the Panel) from the date on which this

document containing details of the revision is posted to Modern Water Shareholders. Except with

the Panel’s consent, no revision of the Offer may be made or revised offer documentation

published after Day 46 or, if later, the date falling 14 days before the last date on which the Offer

can become unconditional as to acceptances.

14.3   The Offer, whether revised or not, shall not (except with the consent of the Panel) be capable of

becoming unconditional as to acceptances after midnight (London time) on Day 60 (or any earlier

time and/or date beyond which DeepVerge has stated that the Offer will not be extended and in

respect of which it has not, where permitted, withdrawn that statement) nor of being kept open

after that time and/or date unless it has previously become unconditional as to acceptances.

However, DeepVerge reserves the right, with the consent of the Panel, to extend the Offer to a

later time(s) and/or date(s). If the Offer has not become unconditional as to acceptances at such

time (or any later time and/or date to which the Offer has been extended), the Offer will lapse,

unless the Panel agrees otherwise. If the Offer lapses for any reason, the Offer shall cease to be

capable of further acceptance and DeepVerge shall cease to be bound by prior acceptances.

14.4   Except with the consent of the Panel, DeepVerge may not, for the purpose of determining

whether the acceptance condition has been satisfied, take into account acceptances received, or

purchases of Modern Water Shares made, in respect of which relevant electronic instructions or

documents have been received by the Receiving Agent after 1.00 p.m. (London time) on Day 60

of the Offer (or any earlier time and/or date beyond which DeepVerge has stated that the Offer

will not be extended and in respect of which it has not, where permitted, withdrawn that

statement) or such later time and/or date as DeepVerge may, with the permission of the Panel,

decide. If the Offer is extended beyond midnight (London time) on Day 60 of the Offer,

acceptances received and purchases made in respect of which relevant documents have been

received by the Receiving Agent after 1.00 p.m. (London time) on the relevant date may (except

where the Code otherwise permits) only be taken into account with the consent of the Panel.

14.5   If the Offer becomes unconditional as to acceptances, it will remain open for acceptance for not

less than 14 days from the date on which it would otherwise have expired. If the Offer has

become unconditional as to acceptances and it is stated by or on behalf of DeepVerge that the

Offer will remain open until further notice or if the Offer will remain open for acceptance beyond

the 70th day following the sending of this document, then not less than 14 days’ notice in writing

will be given prior to the closing of the Offer to those Modern Water Shareholders who have not

accepted the Offer.

14.6   If a competitive situation arises after DeepVerge has made a ‘no extension’ statement or a ‘no

increase’ statement (as referred to in the Code), DeepVerge may, if it specifically reserved the

right to do so at the time such statement was made (or otherwise with the Panel’s consent),

choose not to be bound by and withdraw that statement and extend or revise the Offer (as

appropriate) provided that it complies with the requirements of the Code and, in particular, that:

14.6.1 it announces the withdrawal and that it is free to extend or revise the Offer (as

appropriate) as soon as possible (and in any event within four Business Days of the firm

announcement of the competing offer or other competitive situation);

14.6.2 Modern Water Shareholders and persons with information rights are informed in writing

at the earliest practicable opportunity or, in the case of Modern Water Shareholders with

registered addresses outside the UK or whom DeepVerge knows to be a nominee,

trustee or custodian Modern Water Shares for such persons, by announcement in the UK

at the earliest practicable opportunity; and

14.6.3 any Modern Water Shareholders who accepted the Offer after the date of the ‘no

extension’ or ‘no increase’ statement are given a right of withdrawal in accordance with

paragraph 16.4 of this Part B of Part III.

14.7   DeepVerge may choose not to be bound by a ‘no increase’ or ‘no extension’ statement if, having

reserved the right to do so, it publishes an increased or improved offer (either as to the value or

form of the consideration or otherwise) which is recommended for acceptance by the Modern

Water Directors, or in other circumstances permitted by the Panel.
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14.8   If Modern Water makes an announcement of the kind referred to in Rule 31.9 of the Code after

Day 39, DeepVerge may, if it has reserved the right to do so (or otherwise with the consent of the

Panel) choose not to be bound by a ‘no increase’ or a ‘no extension’ statement, and to revise or

extend the Offer with the consent of the Panel, provided that DeepVerge complies with the

requirements of the Code and in particular that notice to this effect is given as soon as possible

(and in any event within four Business Days of the date of Modern Water’s announcement) and

Modern Water Shareholders (except those resident in Restricted Jurisdictions) are informed in

writing at the earliest opportunity.

14.9   If a competitive situation arises and is continuing on Day 60, DeepVerge will enable holders of

Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form who have not already validly accepted the Offer but

who have previously accepted the competing offer to accept the Offer by special form of

acceptance to take effect on Day 60. The special form of acceptance shall constitute a valid

acceptance of the Offer provided that:

14.9.1 it is received by the Receiving Agent on or before Day 60 of the Offer;

14.9.2 the relevant Modern Water Shareholder shall have applied to withdraw its acceptance of

the competing offer but that the Modern Water Shares to which such withdrawal relates

shall not have been released from escrow before Day 60 by the escrow agent to the

competing offer; and

14.9.3 the Modern Water Shares to which the special form of acceptance relates are not

transferred to escrow in accordance with the procedure for acceptance set out in this

document on or before Day 60, but an undertaking is given that they will be so transferred

as soon as possible thereafter.

Modern Water Shareholders wishing to use such forms of acceptance should contact the

Receiving Agent, Neville Registrars, on 0121 585 1131 (from within the UK) and +44 (0)121 585

1131 (if calling from outside the UK). Calls are charged at the standard geographic rate and will

vary by provider. Calls to the helpline from outside the United Kingdom will be charged at the

applicable international rate. The helpline is open between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. (London time)

Monday to Friday, excluding public holidays in England and Wales. Different charges may apply

to calls from mobile telephones and calls may be recorded and randomly monitored for security

and training purposes. Please note that, for legal reasons, the Receiving Agent will only be able

to provide you with information contained in this document and will be unable to give advice on

the merits of the Offer nor will it give any financial, legal or tax advice on the contents of this

document. Subject to the right to use such special form of acceptance in the terms of this

paragraph 14.9, holders of Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form may not use a Form of

Acceptance (or any other purported acceptance form) for the purpose of accepting the Offer in

respect of such shares.

14.10 For the purposes of determining at any particular time whether the acceptance condition is

satisfied, DeepVerge is not bound (unless otherwise required by the Panel) to take into account

any Modern Water Shares which have been issued or unconditionally allotted or which arise as

the result of the exercise of subscription or conversion rights before the determination takes place

unless Modern Water or its agent has given written notice containing relevant details of the

allotment, issue, subscription or conversion before that time to DeepVerge or the Registrars on

behalf of DeepVerge at the address specified in paragraph 16.2 of this Part B of Part III.

Notification by e-mail, or facsimile or other electronic transmission or copies shall not be sufficient

to constitute written notice for this purpose.

15.     Announcements

15.1   Without prejudice to paragraph 16.2 of this Part B, by 8.00 a.m. (London time) on the Business

Day (the “relevant day”) next following the day on which the Offer is due to expire or becomes

or is declared wholly unconditional or is revised or extended, as the case may be (or such later

time(s) or date(s) as the Panel may agree), DeepVerge will make an appropriate announcement
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and simultaneously inform a Regulatory Information Service. The announcement will also state

(unless otherwise permitted by the Panel):

15.1.1 the number of Modern Water Shares and rights over Modern Water Shares (as nearly as

practicable) for which acceptances of the Offer have been received (showing the extent,

if any, to which such acceptances have been received from persons acting in concert with

DeepVerge or in respect of Modern Water Shares which were subject to an irrevocable

commitment, or letter of intent, to accept the Offer procured by DeepVerge or any of its

concert parties);

15.1.2 details of any relevant securities of Modern Water in which DeepVerge or any person

acting in concert with it has an interest or in respect of which it has a right to subscribe,

in each case specifying the nature of the interests or rights concerned. Similar details of

any short positions (whether conditional or absolute and whether in the money or

otherwise), including any short position under a derivative, any agreement to sell or any

delivery obligation or right to require another person to purchase or take delivery, will also

be stated;

15.1.3 details of any relevant securities of Modern Water in respect of which DeepVerge or any

of its concert parties has an outstanding irrevocable commitment or letter of intent; and

15.1.4 details of any relevant securities of Modern Water which DeepVerge or any person acting

in concert with it has borrowed or lent, save for any borrowed shares which have been

either on-lent or sold,

and will in each case specify the percentage of each class of relevant securities of Modern Water

represented by each of these figures.

Any such announcement shall include a prominent statement of the total number of Modern

Water Shares which DeepVerge may count towards the satisfaction of the acceptance condition

and the percentage of Modern Water Shares represented by this figure.

15.2   Any decision to extend the time and/or date by which the acceptance condition has to be fulfilled

may be made at any time up to, and will be announced not later than, 8.00 a.m. (London time)

on the relevant day (as defined above in paragraph 15.1 of this Part B) or such later time(s)

and/or date(s) as the Panel may agree. The announcement will state the next expiry date unless

the Offer is then unconditional as to acceptances, in which case a statement may instead be

made that the Offer will remain open until further notice.

15.3   In computing the number of Modern Water Shares represented by acceptances and/or

purchases, an acceptance or purchase shall only be counted towards fulfilling the acceptance

condition if the requirements of Notes 4, 5 and 6 (as applicable) on Rule 10 of the Code are

satisfied (unless the Panel agrees otherwise). Subject to this, DeepVerge may include or exclude

for announcement purposes acceptances and purchases which are not complete in all respects

or which are subject to verification.

15.4   In this Part III, references to the making of an announcement or the giving of notice by or on

behalf of DeepVerge include: (i) the release of an announcement by public relations consultants

or by SPARK to the press; and (ii) the delivery by hand or telephone or telex or facsimile or other

electronic transmission of an announcement to a Regulatory Information Service. An

announcement made otherwise than to a Regulatory Information Service shall be notified

simultaneously to a Regulatory Information Service (unless otherwise agreed by the Panel).

16.     Rights of withdrawal

16.1   Except as provided by this paragraph 16 or as otherwise permitted by DeepVerge (either

generally or for any particular Modern Water Shareholder), acceptances of and elections under

the Offer shall be irrevocable.

16.2   If DeepVerge, having announced the Offer to be unconditional as to acceptances, fails to comply

by 3.30 p.m. (London time) on the relevant day (as defined in paragraph 15.1 of this Part B) (or

such later time(s) and/or date(s) as the Panel may agree) with any of the other requirements
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specified in paragraph 15.1 of this Part B, an accepting Modern Water Shareholder may (unless

the Panel agrees otherwise) immediately thereafter withdraw its acceptance of the Offer:

(i) by written notice received by post or, during normal business hours only, by hand to the

Receiving Agent, Neville Registrars, at Neville House, Steelpark Road, Halesowen, B62 8HD; or

(ii) if the relevant Modern Water Shares are held in uncertificated form, in the manner set out in

paragraph 16.6 of this Part B. Subject to paragraph 14.3 of this Part B, this right of withdrawal

may be terminated not less than eight days after the relevant day by DeepVerge confirming, if it

be the case, that the Offer is still unconditional, and complying with the other requirements

specified in paragraph 15.1 of this Part B. If any such confirmation is given, the first period of

14 days referred to in paragraph 14.5 of this Part B will run from the date of such confirmation

and compliance.

16.3   If by 1.00 p.m. (London time) on Day 42 (or such later time(s) and/or date(s) as the Panel may

agree) the Offer has not become unconditional, an accepting Modern Water Shareholder may

withdraw its acceptance at any time thereafter: (i) in respect of Modern Water Shares held in

certificated form, by written notice in the manner referred to in paragraph 16.2 of this Part B; or

(ii) if the relevant Modern Water Shares are held in uncertificated form, in the manner set out in

paragraph 16.6 of this Part B, until the earlier of:

16.3.1 the time when the Offer becomes unconditional; and

16.3.2 the final time for the lodging of acceptances of the Offer which can be taken into account

in accordance with paragraph 14.3 of this Part B.

16.4   If a ‘no extension’ statement and/or a ‘no increase’ statement has been withdrawn in accordance

with paragraph 14.6 of this Part B, any Modern Water Shareholder who accepts the Offer after

the date of the statement may withdraw its acceptance: (i) in respect of Modern Water Shares

held in certificated form, in the manner referred to in paragraph 16.2 of this Part B; or (ii) if the

relevant Modern Water Shares are held in uncertificated form, in the manner set out in paragraph

16.6 of this Part B, not later than the eighth day after the date on which written notice of

withdrawal of the statement is posted to Modern Water Shareholders.

16.5   In this paragraph 16, written notice (including any letter of appointment, direction or authority)

means notice in writing bearing the original signature(s) of the relevant accepting Modern Water

Shareholder(s) or its/their agent(s) duly appointed in writing (evidence of whose appointment is

produced with the notice in a form reasonably satisfactory to DeepVerge). E-mail, telex, facsimile

or other electronic transmission, or copies, will not be sufficient to constitute written notice. If a

notice from a Modern Water Shareholder withdrawing its acceptance is received in an envelope

post-marked in, or which otherwise appears to DeepVerge or its agents to have been sent from,

a Restricted Jurisdiction, DeepVerge reserves the right in its absolute discretion to treat that

notice as invalid.

16.6   In the case of Modern Water Shares held in uncertificated form, if withdrawals are permitted

pursuant to paragraphs 16.2, 16.3 or 16.4 of this Part B, an accepting Modern Water Shareholder

may withdraw its acceptance through CREST by sending (or, if a CREST sponsored member,

procuring that its CREST sponsor sends) an ESA instruction to settle in CREST in relation to

each Electronic Acceptance to be withdrawn. Each ESA instruction must, in order for it to be valid

and settle, include the following details:

16.6.1 the number of Modern Water Shares to be withdrawn, together with their ISIN number

(which is GB00B1XF5X66);

16.6.2 the member account ID of the accepting shareholder;

16.6.3 the participant ID of the accepting shareholder;

16.6.4 the Escrow Agent’s participant ID (which is 7RA11);

16.6.5 the member account ID of the Escrow Agent included in the relevant Electronic

Acceptance (which is MODERN);

16.6.6 the CREST transaction ID of the Electronic Acceptance to be withdrawn, to be inserted

at the beginning of the shared note field;
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16.6.7 the intended settlement date for the withdrawal;

16.6.8 the corporate action number for the Offer allocated by Euroclear;

16.6.9 input with a standard delivery instruction priority of 80; and

16.6.10a contact telephone number in the shared note field.

Any such withdrawal will be conditional upon the Receiving Agent verifying that the withdrawal

request is validly made. Accordingly, the Receiving Agent will on behalf of DeepVerge either

reject the withdrawal by transmitting in CREST a receiving agent reject (AEAD) message or

accept the withdrawal by transmitting in CREST a receiving agent accept (AEAN) message.

16.7   If an accepting Modern Water Shareholder withdraws its acceptance, all documents of title and

other documents lodged with the Form of Acceptance will be returned by the Receiving Agent as

soon as practicable following the receipt of the withdrawal (and in any event within 14 days) by

post (or by such other method as may be approved by the Panel). All documents sent to

certificated Modern Water Shareholders (or their appointed agents) will be sent at their own risk.

16.8   Any question as to the validity (including time of receipt) of any notice of withdrawal will be

determined by DeepVerge whose determination (save as the Panel otherwise determines) will be

final and binding. None of DeepVerge, Modern Water, the Receiving Agent, SPARK or any other

person will be under any duty to give notification of any defect in any notice of withdrawal or will

incur any liability for failure to do so or for any determination under this paragraph 16.

16.9   Except as stated in this paragraph 16, acceptances of the Offer shall be irrevocable.

16.10 Modern Water Shares in respect of which acceptances have been validly withdrawn in

accordance with this paragraph 16 may subsequently be the subject of a new acceptance where

the procedures set out in Part C of this document are followed while the Offer remains open for

acceptance.

17.     Revisions of the Offer

17.1   No revision of the Offer is contemplated, but if the Offer (in its original or any previously revised

form(s)) is revised (either in its terms and conditions or in the value or nature of the consideration

offered or otherwise) (which DeepVerge reserves the right to do) and such revision represents

on the date on which it is announced (on such basis as SPARK may consider appropriate) an

improvement or no diminution in the value of the revised Offer compared with the consideration

or terms previously offered or in the overall value received and/or retained by a Modern Water

Shareholder (under the Offer or otherwise), the benefit of the revised Offer will, subject to

paragraphs 17.3, 17.4 and 21 of this Part B, be made available to any Modern Water Shareholder

who has accepted the Offer in its original or any previously revised form(s) and who has not

validly withdrawn such acceptance (a previous acceptor). The acceptance of the Offer by or on

behalf of a previous acceptor in its original or any previously revised form(s) shall, subject as

provided in this paragraph 17 of this Part B, be deemed an acceptance of the revised Offer and

shall constitute the separate appointment of each of DeepVerge and any director of, or person

authorised by, DeepVerge or any of DeepVerge’s financial advisers as its attorney and/or agent

with authority:

17.1.1 to accept any such revised Offer on behalf of such previous acceptor;

17.1.2 if the revised Offer includes alternative forms of consideration, to make on its behalf

elections for and/or accept alternative forms of consideration in the proportions which the

attorney and/or agent in its absolute discretion thinks fit; and

17.1.3 to execute on behalf of and in the name of such previous acceptor all further documents

(if any) and to do all things (if any) as may be required to give effect to such acceptances

and/or elections.

In making any such election and/or acceptance, the attorney and/or agent shall take into account

the nature of any previous acceptance(s) or election(s) made by or on behalf of the previous

acceptor and such other facts or matters as it may reasonably consider relevant, and shall not
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be liable to any Modern Water Shareholder or other person with respect to the making of any

such election and/or acceptance or in making any determination relating thereto.

17.2   Subject to paragraph 17.3 and paragraph 17.4 of this Part B, the powers of attorney and

authorities conferred by this paragraph 17 and any acceptance of a revised Offer and/or any

election pursuant thereto shall be irrevocable unless and until the previous acceptor becomes

entitled to withdraw its acceptance under paragraph 16 of this Part B and duly and validly does

so.

17.3   The deemed acceptance and/or election referred to in paragraph 17.1 of this Part B shall not

apply, and the power of attorney and authorities conferred by that paragraph shall not be

exercised, to the extent that a previous acceptor:

17.3.1 in respect of Modern Water Shares in certificated form, lodges with the Receiving Agent,

within 14 days of the posting of this document containing the revised Offer, a Form of

Acceptance (or other form validly issued by or on behalf of DeepVerge) in which it validly

elects to receive the consideration receivable by it under such revised Offer in some other

manner than that set out in its original or any previous acceptance; or

17.3.2 in respect of Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form, sends (or, if a CREST

sponsored member, procures that its CREST sponsor sends) an ESA instruction to settle

in CREST in relation to each Electronic Acceptance in respect of which an election is to

be varied. Each ESA instruction must, in order for it to be valid and settle, include the

following details:

(a) the number of Modern Water Shares in respect of which the changed election is

made, together with their ISIN number (this is GB00B1XF5X66);

(b) the member account ID of the previous acceptor;

(c) the participant ID of the previous acceptor;

(d) the Escrow Agent’s participant ID, which is 7RA11;

(e) the member account ID of the Escrow Agent included in the relevant Electronic

Acceptance, which is MODERN;

(f) the CREST transaction ID of the Electronic Acceptance in respect of which the

election is to be changed to be inserted at the beginning of the shared note field;

(g) the intended settlement date for the changed election;

(h) the corporate action number for the Offer allocated by Euroclear;

(i) the member account ID of the Escrow Agent relevant to the new election; and

(j) input with a standard delivery instruction priority of 80.

Any such change of election will be conditional upon the Receiving Agent verifying that the

request is validly made. Accordingly, the Receiving Agent will on behalf of DeepVerge reject or

accept the requested change of election by transmitting in CREST a receiving agent reject

(AEAD) or receiving agent accept (AEAN) message as appropriate.

17.4   The deemed acceptance and/or election referred to in paragraph 17.1 of this Part B shall not

apply, and the power of attorney and authorities conferred by that paragraph shall not be

exercised, if, as a result thereof, the previous acceptor would (on such basis as SPARK may

reasonably consider appropriate) thereby receive and/or retain less in aggregate in consideration

under the revised Offer than it would have received and/or retained in aggregate as a result of

acceptance of the Offer in the form in which it was previously accepted by or on its behalf, unless

the previous acceptor has previously agreed in writing. The authorities conferred by

paragraph 17.1 of this Part B shall not be exercised in respect of any election available under the

revised Offer save in accordance with this paragraph.

45

174138      Proof 11 Tuesday, October 13, 2020 11:32



17.5   DeepVerge and the Receiving Agent reserve the right to treat an executed Form of Acceptance

or TTE instruction in respect of the Offer (in its original or any previously revised form(s)) which

is received (or dated) on or after the announcement of any revised Offer as a valid acceptance

of the revised Offer (and, where applicable, a valid election for or acceptance of any of the

alternative forms of consideration). Such acceptance shall constitute an authority in the terms of

paragraph 17.1 of this Part B, mutatis mutandis, on behalf of the relevant Modern Water

Shareholder.

18.     Dividends

18.1   If after the date of this document, any dividend, distribution and/or return of capital is declared,

paid or made or becomes payable by Modern Water, DeepVerge reserves the right (without

prejudice to any of its other rights) to reduce the consideration payable under the Offer by the

aggregate amount of such dividend, distribution and/or return of capital. Any exercise by

DeepVerge of its rights referred to in this paragraph will be the subject of an announcement and,

for the avoidance of doubt, will not be regarded as constituting any revision or variation of the

Offer. Furthermore, DeepVerge reserves the right to reduce the consideration payable under the

Offer in such circumstances as are, and by such amount as is, permitted by the Panel.

18.2   If DeepVerge exercises the right to reduce the consideration payable under the Offer by all or part

of the amount of a dividend, distribution and/or return of capital that has not been paid or made,

Modern Water Shareholders will be entitled to receive and retain the amount of that dividend,

distribution and/or return of capital. Subject to the foregoing and notwithstanding the Conditions

on which the Modern Water Shares are expressed to be acquired by DeepVerge pursuant to the

Offer, the Modern Water Shares will be acquired by or on behalf of DeepVerge pursuant to the

Offer fully paid and free from all liens, charges, encumbrances and other rights and interests of

whatsoever nature and together with all rights now attaching and to become attached thereto,

including the right to receive all dividends and other distributions declared, paid or made at any

time after the date of this document.

18.3   To the extent that such a dividend, distribution and/or return of capital has been declared, paid,

made or is payable and it is: (i) transferred pursuant to the Offer on a basis which entitles

DeepVerge to receive the dividend, distribution and/or return of capital and to retain it; or

(ii) cancelled, the consideration payable under the Offer will not be subject to change in

accordance with this paragraph.

19.     Acceptances and purchases

19.1   Without prejudice to any other provisions of this Part B, DeepVerge, the Receiving Agent and

SPARK reserve the right to treat as valid in whole or in part any acceptance of the Offer which is

not entirely in order or which is not accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) and/or other

relevant document(s) of title or not accompanied by the relevant transfer to escrow (“TTE”)

instruction, or if received by or on behalf of any of them at any place or places or in any manner

determined by any of them or otherwise than as set out in this document or (in respect of Modern

Water Shares held in certificated form) in the Form of Acceptance (subject to paragraph 19.2).

19.2   Except as otherwise agreed by the Panel:

19.2.1 an acceptance of the Offer shall not be treated as valid for the purposes of the

acceptance condition unless the requirements of Note 4 and, if applicable, Note 6 on Rule

10 of the Code are satisfied with respect to it (and the Modern Water Shares to which

such acceptance relates do not fall within Note 8 on Rule 10 of the Code);

19.2.2 a purchase of Modern Water Shares by DeepVerge or its nominee(s) (or, if DeepVerge is

required to make an offer or offers under the provisions of Rule 9 of the Code, by a

person acting in concert with DeepVerge or its nominee(s) for the purpose of such

offer(s)) will be treated as valid for the purposes of the acceptance condition only if the

requirements of Note 5 and, if applicable, Note 6 on Rule 10 of the Code are satisfied

with respect to it (and the Modern Water Shares to which such acceptance relates do not

fall within Note 8 on Rule 10 of the Code);
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19.2.3 Modern Water Shares which have been borrowed by DeepVerge may not be counted

towards fulfilling the acceptance condition; and

19.2.4 before the Offer may become or be declared unconditional as to acceptances, the

Receiving Agent must have issued a certificate to DeepVerge which states: (i) the number

of Modern Water Shares in respect of which acceptances have been received and which

comply with paragraph 19.2.1; (ii) the number of Modern Water Shares otherwise

acquired, whether before or during the Offer Period, which comply with paragraph 19.2.2;

and (iii) the number of Modern Water Shares subscribed by DeepVerge during the Offer

Period and which comply with paragraph 19.2.2.

19.3   For the purpose of determining at any particular time whether the acceptance condition has been

satisfied, DeepVerge shall be entitled to take account only of those Modern Water Shares

carrying voting rights which have been unconditionally allotted or issued before that time, and

written notice of allotment or issue of which, containing all the relevant details, has been received

before that time by the Receiving Agent from Modern Water or its agents at the address specified

in paragraph 16.2 of this Part B. E-mail, telex, facsimile, the internet or other electronic

transmission, or copies, will not be sufficient to constitute written notice.

19.4   In relation to any acceptance of the Offer in respect of Modern Water Shares which are in

uncertificated form, DeepVerge reserves the right to make such alterations, additions or

modifications as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to any purported acceptance of the

Offer, whether in order to comply with the facilities or requirements of CREST or otherwise,

provided such alterations, additions or modifications are consistent with the requirements of the

Code or are otherwise made with the Panel’s consent.

19.5   For the purposes of this document, the time of receipt of a TTE instruction, an ESA instruction or

an Electronic Acceptance shall be the time at which the relevant instruction settles in CREST.

20.     General

20.1   The Offer is made at 1.00 p.m. (London time) on 13 October 2020 and is capable of acceptance

from that date and after that time. Copies of this document, the Form of Acceptance and any

related documents are available, subject to certain restrictions relating to persons resident in

Restricted Jurisdictions, for inspection on the website maintained by DeepVerge in relation to the

Offer at www.DeepVerge.com and from the Receiving Agent at the address set out in

paragraph 16.2 of this Part B from that time.

20.2   The Offeror reserves the right (subject to the requirements of the Code and the Panel) to waive

all or any of Conditions (other than the acceptance condition), in whole or in part, at its absolute

discretion.

20.3   The Offeror shall be under no obligation to waive or treat as fulfilled any of the Conditions, by a

date earlier than the latest date specified below for the fulfilment of them notwithstanding that the

other Conditions may at such earlier date have been waived or fulfilled and that there are at such

earlier date no circumstances indicating that any of such Conditions may not be capable of

fulfilment.

20.4   Except with the consent of the Panel, the Offer will lapse unless all the Conditions to the Offer

set out in Part A of this Part III have been fulfilled or (if capable of waiver) waived or (where

appropriate) have been determined by DeepVerge to be or remain satisfied, by midnight (London

time) on the date which is 21 days after the later of the First Closing Date and the date on which

the Offer becomes or is declared unconditional as to acceptances or such later date as

DeepVerge may, with the consent of the Panel, decide.

20.5   The Offer will lapse if, before 1.00 p.m. (London time) on the later of the First Closing Date and

the date on which the Offer becomes or is declared unconditional as to acceptances:

20.5.1 it is referred to the Competition and Markets Authority; or

20.5.2 the European Commission either initiates proceedings under Article 6(1)(c) of the EU

Merger Regulation or, there is a Phase 2 CMA reference following a referral of the Offer

47

174138      Proof 11 Tuesday, October 13, 2020 11:32



by the European Commission under Article 9.1 of the EU Merger Regulation to a

competent authority in the United Kingdom.

20.6   If the Offer lapses, not only will it cease to be capable of further acceptance, but also DeepVerge

and Modern Water Shareholders will cease to be bound by prior acceptances.

20.7   If the Offeror is required by the Panel to make a mandatory offer for Modern Water Shares under

Rule 9 of the Code, DeepVerge may make such alterations to the Conditions as are necessary

to comply with the provisions of that Rule.

20.8   DeepVerge reserves the right (with the consent of the Panel) to implement the Offer by way of a

scheme of arrangement pursuant to Part 26 of the Act. In such event, the scheme of arrangement

will be implemented on the same terms (subject to appropriate amendments), so far as

applicable, as those which would apply to the Offer. In particular, the Condition set out in

paragraph 1.1 of Part A of this Part III will not apply and the scheme of arrangement will become

subject to the following further conditions which are not intended to be capable of waiver:

20.8.1 approval of the scheme of arrangement at the court meeting (or any adjournment thereof)

being given by a majority in number, representing 75 per cent. or more in value present

and voting, either in person or by proxy, of the holders of the Modern Water Shares (or

the relevant class or classes thereof) (excluding any Modern Water Shares held by

DeepVerge and any person acting in concert with it);

20.8.2 the resolution(s) required to approve and implement the scheme of arrangement and to

be set out in the notice of the general meeting of the Modern Water Shareholders, being

passed by the requisite majority at such general meeting; and

20.8.3 sanction of the scheme of arrangement by the court (with or without modifications on terms

reasonably acceptable to DeepVerge and Modern Water) and an office copy of the orders

of the court sanctioning the scheme of arrangement being delivered for registration to the

Registrar of Companies in England and Wales and being registered by it.

20.9   The Offer will extend to all Modern Water Shares unconditionally allotted or issued and fully paid

on the date of the Offer, and any further Modern Water Shares unconditionally allotted or issued

and fully paid pursuant to the exercise of options and awards under the Modern Water Share

Schemes or the Broker Warrants, or other outstanding warrants before the date on which the

Offer closes or such earlier date as DeepVerge may, subject to the Code, decide.

20.10 The Modern Water Shares will be acquired by DeepVerge under the Offer fully paid and free from

all liens, charges, encumbrances, equitable interests, options, rights of pre-emption and other

third party rights and interests of whatsoever nature and together with all rights now or hereafter

attaching or accruing to them, including voting rights and the right to receive and retain, in full, all

dividends, interest and other distributions (if any) declared, made or paid, or any other return of

capital (whether by way of reduction of share capital or share premium account or otherwise)

made on or after the date of this document.

20.11  The terms, provisions, instructions and authorities contained or deemed to be incorporated in the

Form of Acceptance constitute part of the terms of the Offer, and the provisions of this Part III

shall be deemed to be incorporated in and form part of the Form of Acceptance. Words and

expressions defined in this document have the same meanings when used in the Form of

Acceptance unless the context otherwise requires.

20.12 Except with the Panel’s consent, settlement of the consideration to which any Modern Water

Shareholder is entitled under the Offer will be implemented in full in accordance with the terms

of the Offer without regard to any lien, right of set-off, counterclaim or other analogous right to

which DeepVerge may otherwise be, or claim to be, entitled as against such Modern Water

Shareholder and will be effected in the manner described in paragraph 12 of Part II (Letter from

the Independent DeepVerge Directors) of this document. No consideration will be sent to an

address in a Restricted Jurisdiction.

20.13 Any omission or failure to despatch this document, (where relevant) the Form of Acceptance, any

other document relating to the Offer or any notice required to be despatched under the terms of
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the Offer, to (or any failure to receive the same by) any person to whom the Offer is made, or

should be made, shall not invalidate the Offer in any way nor be treated as meaning, expressly

or by implication, that the Offer has not been made to any such person. Subject to paragraph 21

of this Part B, the Offer extends to any such person and to all Modern Water Shareholders to

whom this document, the Form of Acceptance and any related documents may not be

despatched, or who may not receive such documents. Any and all such persons may collect

copies of all such documents from the Receiving Agent at the address set out in paragraph 16.2

of this Part B or inspect this document, subject to certain restrictions relating to persons resident

in Restricted Jurisdictions, on the website maintained by DeepVerge in relation to the Offer at

www.deepverge.com while the Offer remains open for acceptances.

20.14 All powers of attorney, appointments as agent and authorities on the terms conferred by or

referred to in this Part III, or (where relevant) in the Form of Acceptance, are given by way of

security for the performance of the obligations of the Modern Water Shareholder concerned and

are irrevocable (in respect of powers of attorney, in accordance with section 4 of the Powers of

Attorney Act 1971) except in the circumstances where the donor of such power of attorney,

appointment or authority is entitled to withdraw its acceptance in accordance with paragraph 16

of this Part B and duly and validly does so.

20.15 All communications, notices, certificates, documents of title and remittances to be delivered by

or sent to or from any Modern Water Shareholders (or their designated agent(s)) will be delivered

by or sent to or from them (or their designated agents) at their risk. No acknowledgement of

receipt of any Form of Acceptance, Electronic Acceptance, transfer by means of CREST,

communication, notice, share certificate and/or other document of title will be given by or on

behalf of DeepVerge.

20.16 DeepVerge reserves the right to notify any matter (including the making of the Offer) to all or any

Modern Water Shareholder(s) with registered address(es) outside the UK or whom DeepVerge

knows to be nominees, trustees or custodians for such persons by announcement or paid

advertisement in any daily newspaper published and circulated in the UK in which case such

notice shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given notwithstanding any failure by any such

Modern Water Shareholders to receive or see such notice, and all references in this document

to notice in writing (other than in paragraph 16 of this Part B) shall be construed accordingly.

20.17 If all Conditions are satisfied, fulfilled or, to the extent permitted, waived and sufficient

acceptances under the Offer are received and/or sufficient Modern Water Shares are otherwise

acquired whether pursuant to the Offer or otherwise, DeepVerge intends to apply the provisions

of Chapter 3 of Part 28 of the Act to acquire compulsorily any outstanding Modern Water Shares

to which the Offer relates on the same terms as the Offer.

20.18 DeepVerge also intends, following the Offer becoming or being declared unconditional in all

respects and subject to any applicable requirements of the AIM Rules and if sufficient

acceptances are received under the Offer such that DeepVerge holds not less than 75 per cent.

of the voting rights of Modern Water, that it will procure the making of an application by Modern

Water to the London Stock Exchange for cancellation of trading in the Modern Water Shares on

AIM. It is anticipated that such cancellation will take effect no earlier than 20 Business Days after

the date on which the Offer becomes wholly unconditional (subject to compliance with applicable

requirements of the AIM Rules). The cancellation of trading of the Modern Water Shares will

significantly reduce the liquidity and marketability of any Modern Water Shares not acquired by

DeepVerge.

20.19 If the Offer does not become, or is not declared, unconditional in all respects and lapses:

20.19.1 in respect of Modern Water Shares held in certificated form, Forms of Acceptance, share

certificates and other documents of title will be returned by post (or by such other

method as may be approved by the Panel) within 14 days of the Offer lapsing to the

person or agent whose name and address outside a Restricted Jurisdiction is set out in

the relevant box in the Form of Acceptance or, if none is set out, to the first-named

holder at its registered address outside a Restricted Jurisdiction. No such documents

will be sent to an address in a Restricted Jurisdiction; and
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20.19.2 in respect of Modern Water Shares held in uncertificated form, the Receiving Agent will,

immediately after the lapsing of the Offer (or within such longer period as the Panel may

permit, not exceeding 14 days from the lapsing of the Offer), give instructions to

Euroclear to transfer all Modern Water Shares held in escrow balances and in relation

to which it is the Escrow Agent for the purposes of the Offer to the original available

balances of Modern Water Shareholders concerned.

20.20 In relation to any acceptance of the Offer in respect of Modern Water Shares which are held in

uncertificated form, DeepVerge reserves the right to make such alterations, additions or

modifications to the terms of the Offer as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to any

purported acceptance of the Offer, whether in order to comply with the facilities or requirements

of CREST or otherwise, provided such alterations, additions or modifications are consistent with

the requirements of the Code or are otherwise made with the consent of the Panel.

20.21 Fractions of New DeepVerge Shares will not be allotted and issued to Modern Water

Shareholders pursuant to the Offer and shall be disregarded.

20.22 All references in this Part III to any statute or statutory provision shall include a statute or

statutory provision which amends, consolidates or replaces the same (whether before or after the

date of this document).

20.23 Each of the Conditions shall be regarded as a separate Condition and shall not be limited by

reference to any other Condition.

20.24 The Offer, this document, all acceptances of it and all elections pursuant to it, the Form of

Acceptance and Electronic Acceptances, all contracts made pursuant to the Offer, all action

taken or made or deemed to be taken or made pursuant to any of these terms, the relationship

between a Modern Water Shareholder and DeepVerge and/or the Receiving Agent and/or

SPARK, and all contractual and non-contractual obligations arising from any of the foregoing,

shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with English law. Execution of a Form of

Acceptance or the making of an Electronic Acceptance by or on behalf of a Modern Water

Shareholder will constitute that shareholder’s agreement that:

20.24.1 the courts of England are (subject to paragraph 20.24.2 below) to have exclusive

jurisdiction to settle any dispute which may arise in connection with the creation, validity,

effect, interpretation or performance of, or the legal relationships established by, the

Offer and the Form of Acceptance or the Electronic Acceptance or otherwise arising in

connection with the Offer and the Form of Acceptance or the Electronic Acceptance, and

for such purposes that it irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England;

and

20.24.2 the agreement in paragraph 20.24.1 above is included for the benefit of DeepVerge,

SPARK and the Receiving Agent and accordingly each of DeepVerge, SPARK and the

Receiving Agent shall each retain the right to, and may in their absolute discretion, bring

proceedings in any other courts which may have jurisdiction, and that the accepting

Modern Water Shareholder irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts.

21.     Overseas Shareholders

21.1   The making of the Offer to Overseas Shareholders or in jurisdictions outside the UK may
be prohibited or affected by the laws of such a jurisdiction. Overseas Shareholders should
fully inform themselves about and observe any applicable legal requirements.

It is the responsibility of each Overseas Shareholder receiving a copy of this document and/or

Form of Acceptance and wishing to accept the Offer to satisfy itself as to the full observance of

the laws and regulatory requirements of the relevant jurisdiction in connection with the Offer,

including obtaining any governmental, exchange control or other consents which may be

required, or compliance with other necessary formalities needing to be observed and payment of

any issue, transfer or other taxes or duties due in such jurisdiction. Each Overseas Shareholder

will be responsible for any such issue, transfer or other taxes or other payments by whomsoever

payable, and DeepVerge (and any person acting on its behalf) shall be fully indemnified and held
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harmless by the Modern Water Shareholder concerned for any such issue, transfer or other taxes

or duties which DeepVerge (or any such person) may be required to pay.

If you are an Overseas Shareholder and you are in any doubt about your position, you
should consult your independent financial adviser in the relevant jurisdiction.

21.2   The Offer is being made for all the Modern Water Shares, and is being made into all jurisdictions

where it is capable of being lawfully made in compliance with local laws. The Offer is not being

extended directly or indirectly in or into, by use of mails or any other means or instrumentality

(including, without limitation, electronic mail, facsimile transmission, telex, telephone, internet or

other forms of electronic communication) of foreign or interstate commerce of, or any facilities of

a securities exchange of, any jurisdiction, where to do so would violate the laws of that

jurisdiction. Accordingly, copies of this document and of the documents accompanying it are not

being (unless otherwise determined by DeepVerge), and must not be, directly or indirectly

mailed, transmitted or otherwise forwarded, distributed or sent in, into or from a Restricted

Jurisdiction including to Modern Water Shareholders with registered addresses in a Restricted

Jurisdiction or to persons whom DeepVerge knows to be custodians, trustees or nominees

holding Modern Water Shares for persons with registered addresses in a Restricted Jurisdiction.

21.3   Persons receiving such documents (including, without limitation, custodians, nominees and

trustees) should observe these restrictions and must not mail or otherwise forward, distribute or

send them in, into or from a Restricted Jurisdiction. Doing so may render any purported

acceptance of the Offer invalid.

21.4   Persons wishing to accept the Offer must not use the mail or any other means or instrumentality

(including, without limitation, electronic mail, facsimile transmission, telex, telephone, internet or

other forms of electronic communication) of foreign or interstate commerce of, or any facilities of

a securities exchange of, any jurisdiction, where to do so would violate, directly or indirectly, the

laws of that jurisdiction for any purpose relating to acceptance of the Offer. All Modern Water

Shareholders (including nominees, trustees or custodians) who may have a contractual or legal

obligation, or may otherwise intend, to forward this document and/or Form of Acceptance, should

read the further details in this regard which are contained in this paragraph 21 and in Parts C and

D of Appendix I before taking any action. Envelopes containing Forms of Acceptance, evidence

of title or other documents relating to the Offer should not be despatched from a Restricted

Jurisdiction (whether or not postmarked in the Restricted Jurisdiction). All acceptors of the Offer

must provide an address outside a Restricted Jurisdiction for the receipt of the consideration to

which they are entitled under the Offer or for the return of Forms of Acceptance or documents of

title; otherwise any purported acceptance may be rendered invalid. DeepVerge reserves the

right, in its absolute discretion, to treat any acceptance as invalid if it believes that such

acceptance may violate applicable legal or regulatory requirements.

21.5   If, in connection with the making of the Offer and notwithstanding the restrictions set out in

paragraphs 21.2 and 21.4 above, any person (including, without limitation, any custodian,

nominee and/or trustee) sends, forwards or otherwise distributes this document, the Form of

Acceptance or any related documents, whether pursuant to a legal obligation or otherwise, in,

into or from a Restricted Jurisdiction or uses the mail of, or any other means or instrumentality

(including, without limitation, electronic mail, facsimile transmission, telex, telephone, internet or

other forms of electronic communication) of foreign or interstate commerce of, or any facilities of

a securities exchange of, a Restricted Jurisdiction in connection with such forwarding, such

person should:

21.5.1 inform the recipient of such fact;

21.5.2 explain to the recipient that such action may invalidate any purported acceptance or

election by the recipient; and

21.5.3 draw the attention of the recipient to this paragraph 21.
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21.6   Subject to the provisions of this paragraph 21 and applicable laws, a Modern Water Shareholder

may be deemed not to have validly accepted the Offer if:

21.6.1 it puts ‘NO’ in Box 3 of the Form of Acceptance and thereby does not give the

representations and warranties set out in paragraph 1.2 of Part C of this Part III;

21.6.2 it has a registered address in a Restricted Jurisdiction or completes Box 4 of the Form

of Acceptance with an address in a Restricted Jurisdiction and in either case does not

insert in Box 4 of the Form of Acceptance the name and address of a person or agent

outside a Restricted Jurisdiction to whom it wishes the consideration to which it is

entitled under the Offer to be sent, subject to the provisions of this paragraph and

applicable laws;

21.6.3 it inserts in Box 4 of the Form of Acceptance the name and address of a person or agent

in a Restricted Jurisdiction to whom it wishes the consideration to which it is entitled

under the Offer to be sent;

21.6.4 a Form of Acceptance received from it is received in an envelope postmarked in, or

otherwise appears to DeepVerge or its agents to have been sent from, any Restricted

Jurisdiction;

21.6.5 it inserts in Box A of the Form of Acceptance a telephone number in a Restricted

Jurisdiction for use in the event of queries; or

21.6.6 it makes a Restricted Escrow Transfer pursuant to paragraph 21.7 below without also

making a related Restricted ESA instruction which is accepted by the Receiving Agent.

DeepVerge reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to investigate, in relation to any acceptance,

whether the representations and warranties set out in paragraph 1.2 of Part C (or, as the case

may be, Part D) of this Part III could have been truthfully given by the relevant Modern Water

Shareholder and, if such investigation is made and, as a result, DeepVerge cannot satisfy itself

that such representation and warranty was true and correct, the acceptance may be rejected as

invalid. Any acceptance of the Offer by a Modern Water Shareholder who is unable to give the

representations and warranties set out in paragraph 1.2 of Part C of this Part III is liable to be

disregarded.

21.7   If a Modern Water Shareholder holding Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form cannot give

the warranty set out in paragraph 1.2 of Part D of this Part III, but nevertheless can provide

evidence satisfactory to DeepVerge that it can accept the Offer in compliance with all relevant

legal and regulatory requirements, it may purport to accept the Offer by sending (or if a CREST

sponsored member, procuring that its CREST sponsor sends) both:

21.7.1 a TTE instruction to a designated escrow balance detailed below (a “Restricted Escrow
Transfer”); and

21.7.2 one or more valid ESA instructions (a “Restricted ESA instruction”) which specify the

form of consideration which it wishes to receive (consistent with any alternatives which

may from time to time be offered under the Offer).

Such purported acceptance will not be treated as a valid acceptance unless both the Restricted

Escrow Transfer and the Restricted ESA instruction(s) settle in CREST and DeepVerge decides,

in its absolute discretion, to exercise its right described in paragraph 21.10 of this Part B to waive,

vary or modify the terms of the Offer relating to Overseas Shareholders, to the extent required to

permit such acceptance to be made, in each case during the acceptance period set out in

paragraph 14.1 of this Part B. If DeepVerge accordingly decides to permit such acceptance to be

made, the Receiving Agent will, on behalf of DeepVerge, accept the purported acceptance as an

Electronic Acceptance on the terms of this document (as so waived, varied or modified) by

transmitting in CREST a receiving agent accept (AEAN) message. Otherwise, the Receiving

Agent will, on behalf of DeepVerge, reject the purported acceptance by transmitting in CREST a

receiving agent reject (AEAD) message.
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Each Restricted Escrow Transfer must, in order for it to be valid and settle, include the following

details:

21.7.3 the ISIN number for the Modern Water Shares, which is GB00B1XF5X66;

21.7.4 the number of Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form in respect of which the Offer

is to be accepted;

21.7.5 the member account ID of the Modern Water Shareholder;

21.7.6 the participant ID of the Modern Water Shareholder;

21.7.7 the participant ID of the Escrow Agent, which is 7RA11;

21.7.8 the member account ID specific to a Restricted Escrow Transfer, which is RESTRICT;

21.7.9 the intended settlement date;

21.7.10 the corporate action number for the Offer allocated by Euroclear;

21.7.11 input with a standard delivery instruction priority of 80; and

21.7.12 the contact name and telephone number inserted in the shared note file.

Each Restricted ESA instruction must, in order for it to be valid and settle, include the following

details:

21.7.13 the ISIN number for the Modern Water Shares, which is GB00B1XF5X66;

21.7.14 the number of Modern Water Shares relevant to that Restricted ESA instruction;

21.7.15 the member account ID of the accepting Modern Water Shareholder;

21.7.16 the participant ID of the accepting Modern Water Shareholder;

21.7.17 the member account ID of the Escrow Agent set out in the Restricted Escrow Transfer;

21.7.18 the participant ID of the Escrow Agent set out in the Restricted Escrow Transfer;

21.7.19 the participant ID and the member account ID of the Escrow Agent relevant to the form

of consideration required (details of which are set out above);

21.7.20 the CREST transaction ID of the Restricted Escrow Transfer to which the Restricted

ESA instruction relates to be inserted at the beginning of the shared note field;

21.7.21 the intended settlement date. This should be as soon as possible and in any event not

later than 1.00 p.m. (London time) on 3 November 2020;

21.7.22 input with a standard delivery instruction priority of 80; and

21.7.23 the corporate action number for the Offer.

21.8   DeepVerge and SPARK reserve the right to notify any matter (including the making of the Offer)

to all or any Overseas Shareholders by announcement in the UK through a Regulatory

Information Service or by notice in the London Gazette or paid advertisement in any daily

newspaper published and circulated in the UK, or in any other appropriate manner. Where such

announcement, notice or advertisement is duly made, the relevant notice shall be deemed to

have been sufficiently given notwithstanding any failure by any Overseas Shareholders to receive

or see such notice. All references in this document to ‘notice in writing’ (other than in

paragraph 16 of this Part B) shall be construed accordingly.

21.9   Notwithstanding any other provision of this paragraph 21, DeepVerge may in its sole and

absolute discretion make the Offer to a resident in a Restricted Jurisdiction if DeepVerge is

satisfied, in that particular case, that to do so would not constitute a breach of any securities or

other relevant legislation of a Restricted Jurisdiction.
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21.10 These provisions and any other terms of the Offer relating to Overseas Shareholders may be

waived, varied or modified as regards specific Overseas Shareholders or on a general basis by

DeepVerge in its absolute discretion. Subject to this discretion, the provisions of this paragraph

21 supersede any terms of the Offer inconsistent with them. Without prejudice to the generality

of the foregoing, in exercising any compulsory acquisition rights it may have from time to time

pursuant to the provisions of sections 974-991 of the Companies Act in respect of Modern Water

Shares held by Modern Water Shareholders in, or with a registered address in, a Restricted

Jurisdiction, DeepVerge may elect to arrange for such Modern Water Shares to be sold on behalf

of the relevant Modern Water Shareholder and the proceeds (less the costs and expenses of

such sale) remitted to such Modern Water Shareholder.

21.11  References in this paragraph 21 to a Modern Water Shareholder include references to the person

or persons executing a Form of Acceptance and, if more than one person executes the Form of

Acceptance, the provisions of this paragraph 21 shall apply to them jointly and severally.

21.12 None of DeepVerge, SPARK or the Receiving Agent, nor any agent or director of DeepVerge,

SPARK or the Receiving Agent shall have any liability whatsoever to any person for any loss or

alleged loss arising from any decision as to the treatment of acceptances of the Offer on any of

the bases set out above in this paragraph 21 of this Part B or otherwise in connection with any

such decision.

21.13 The provisions of this paragraph 21 of this Part B override any terms of the Offer inconsistent with

such provisions.
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PART C: FORM OF ACCEPTANCE

This Part C applies only to Modern Water Shares held in certificated form. If you hold all your
Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form, you should ignore this Part C and instead read
Part D below.

For the purposes of this Part C of Part III and the Form of Acceptance, the phrase ‘Modern Water
Shares in certificated form comprised in the acceptance’ shall mean the number of Modern Water

Shares inserted in Box 1 of the Form of Acceptance or, if no number is inserted (or a number greater

than the relevant Modern Water Shareholder’s holding of Modern Water Shares), the greater of:

•         the relevant Modern Water Shareholder’s entire holding of Modern Water Shares in certificated

form as disclosed by details of the register of members made available to the Receiving Agent

prior to the time the relevant Form of Acceptance is processed by them;

•         the relevant Modern Water Shareholder’s entire holding of Modern Water Shares in certificated

form, as disclosed by details of the register of members made available to the Receiving Agent

prior to the latest time for receipt of Form(s) of Acceptance which can be taken into account in

determining whether the Offer is unconditional; and

•         the number of Modern Water Shares in certificated form in respect of which certificates or an

indemnity in lieu thereof is received.

Without prejudice to the terms of the Form of Acceptance and the provisions of Parts A and B of this

Part III, each Modern Water Shareholder by whom, or on whose behalf, a Form of Acceptance is

executed and delivered to the Receiving Agent, irrevocably undertakes, represents, warrants and

agrees to and with DeepVerge, the Receiving Agent and SPARK (so as to bind his/her personal or legal

representatives, heirs, successors and assigns) that:

1.1     the execution of the Form of Acceptance constitutes:

1.1.1  an acceptance of the Offer in respect of the number of Modern Water Shares in certificated

form inserted or deemed to be inserted in Box 1 of the Form of Acceptance; and

1.1.2  an undertaking to execute any further documents and give any further assurances which

may be required to enable DeepVerge to obtain the full benefit of this Part C and/or to

perfect any of the authorities expressed to be given in this Part C,

in each case on and subject to the terms and conditions set out or referred to in this document

(which are deemed to be incorporated in the Form of Acceptance) and those expressly set out in

the Form of Acceptance, and that, subject only to the rights of withdrawal set out or referred to

in paragraph 16 of Part B of this Part III, such acceptance shall be irrevocable. If Box 1 is not

completed, or if the number of Modern Water Shares inserted in Box 1 is greater than the number

of Modern Water Shares in certificated form comprised in the acceptance or the acceptance is

otherwise completed incorrectly, but the Form of Acceptance is signed, it will be deemed to be

an acceptance of the Offer in respect of all Modern Water Shares in certificated form comprised

in the acceptance.

1.2     unless the Modern Water Shareholder has written ‘NO’ in Box 3 of the Form of Acceptance, the

Modern Water Shareholder:

1.2.1  has not received or sent copies or originals of this document, the Form of Acceptance or

any related documents in, into, or from a Restricted Jurisdiction;

1.2.2  has not, in connection with the Offer or the execution or delivery of the Form of Acceptance

utilised, directly or indirectly, the mails of, or any means or instrumentality (including,

without limitation, facsimile transmission, e-mail, telephone, internet or other forms of

electronic communication) of interstate or foreign commerce of, or of any facilities of a

national securities exchange of, any Restricted Jurisdiction;

1.2.3  is accepting the Offer from outside a Restricted Jurisdiction and was outside such

jurisdictions when the Form of Acceptance was delivered;
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1.2.4  is not an agent or fiduciary acting on a non-discretionary basis for a principal, unless such

agent or fiduciary is an authorised employee of such principal or such principal has given

any instructions with respect to the Offer from outside a Restricted Jurisdiction;

1.2.5  is not accepting the Offer with a view to the offer, sale, resale, delivery or distribution,

directly or indirectly, of any New DeepVerge Shares into the US or any other Restricted

Jurisdiction and will not hold or acquire any New DeepVerge Shares for any other person

who he or she has reason to believe is purchasing for the purpose of such offer, sale,

resale, delivery or distribution;

1.2.6  if it is a US person, or is acting on behalf of a US person, it or that US person, as the case

may be, is outside the United States within the meaning of Regulation S under the

Securities Act; and

1.2.7  if such Modern Water Shareholder is a citizen, resident or national of a jurisdiction outside

the United Kingdom, it has observed the laws and regulatory requirements of the relevant

jurisdiction in connection with the Offer, obtained all requisite governmental, exchange

control or other consents, complied with all other necessary formalities and paid any issue,

transfer or other taxes or duties or other requisite payments due in any such jurisdiction in

connection with such acceptance and that it has not taken or omitted to take any action

that shall or may result in DeepVerge or any other person acting in breach of the legal or

regulatory requirements of any such jurisdiction in connection with the Offer or its

acceptance of the Offer;

1.3     in relation to Modern Water Shares in certificated form, the execution of the Form of Acceptance

and its delivery to the Receiving Agent constitutes, subject to the Offer becoming wholly

unconditional and to the Modern Water Shareholder not having validly withdrawn its acceptance,

the irrevocable and separate appointment of each of DeepVerge and/or SPARK, and any of its

or their respective directors or agents and/or any person authorised by either of them, as the

Modern Water Shareholder’s attorney and/or agent (the attorney), and an irrevocable instruction

and authorisation to the attorney:

1.3.1  to complete and execute all or any form(s) of transfer and/or any other document(s) in

connection with acceptance of the Offer which the attorney may consider necessary or

appropriate in relation to the Modern Water Shares in certificated form comprised in the

acceptance in favour of DeepVerge or such other person(s) as DeepVerge or its agents

may direct;

1.3.2  to deliver for registration such form(s) of transfer and/or other document(s) which the

attorney may consider necessary or appropriate, together with the certificate(s) and/or

other document(s) of title relating to such Modern Water Shares within six months of the

Offer becoming unconditional in all respects; and

1.3.3  to execute all such other documents and do all such other acts and things as may in the

attorney’s opinion be necessary or expedient for the purpose of, or in connection with,

acceptance of the Offer and the vesting in DeepVerge or its nominee of the Modern Water

Shares in certificated form comprised in the acceptance;

1.4     in relation to Modern Water Shares in certificated form, the execution of the Form of Acceptance

and its delivery to the Receiving Agent constitutes, subject to the Offer becoming wholly

unconditional and to the Modern Water Shareholder not having validly withdrawn its acceptance,

an irrevocable authority and request (subject to the provisions of paragraph 21 of Part B of this

Part III):

1.4.1  to Modern Water or its agents to procure the registration of the transfer pursuant to the

Offer of the Modern Water Shares in certificated form comprised in the acceptance and the

delivery of the share certificate(s) and/or other document(s) of title in respect of those

Modern Water Shares to DeepVerge or as it may direct;

1.4.2  to DeepVerge or its agents to procure the despatch by post (or by such other method as

the Panel may approve) of a certificate for the relevant number of New DeepVerge Shares

due to him (or, if the consideration due under the Offer is to be settled in cash, a cheque
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for any cash consideration payable under the Offer), at the risk of the Modern Water

Shareholder, to the person or agent whose name and address is set out in Box A of the

Form of Acceptance, or to the name and address (if any) set out in Box 4 or, if none is set

out, to the first-named holder at its registered address (outside the Restricted Jurisdictions

unless otherwise permitted by DeepVerge) and such dispatch shall discharge in full any

obligation of DeepVerge to issue any New DeepVerge Shares, or pay any cash

consideration, to that Modern Water Shareholder to which he is entitled pursuant to the

Offer; and

1.4.3  to DeepVerge or its agents, to record, act and rely on any mandates, instructions, consents

or instruments in force relating to payments, notices or distributions which have been

entered in the records of Modern Water in respect of its holding of Modern Water Shares

(until such are revoked or varied);

1.5     the execution of the Form of Acceptance constitutes the giving of authority to DeepVerge, the

Receiving Agent and/or SPARK and/or their respective directors, agents or authorised persons

within the terms of Part B and Part C of this Part III;

1.6     subject to the Offer becoming wholly unconditional (or if the Offer will become wholly

unconditional or lapse immediately upon the outcome of the resolution in question, or if the Panel

consents) and pending registration of any transfer pursuant to the Offer:

1.6.1  DeepVerge or its agents shall be entitled to direct the exercise of any votes and any or all

other rights and privileges (including the right to requisition the convening of a general

meeting of Modern Water or of any class of its shareholders) attaching to any Modern

Water Shares in certificated form for which an acceptance of the Offer has been given

under paragraph 1.1 of this Part C; and

1.6.2  the execution of a Form of Acceptance in respect of any such Modern Water Shares

constitutes:

(a)      an authority to Modern Water and its agents from the Modern Water Shareholder to

send any notice, circular, warrant, document or other communication which may be

required to be sent to the Modern Water Shareholder as a member of Modern Water

(including any share certificate(s) or other document(s) of title) to DeepVerge at its

registered office;

(b)      an authority to DeepVerge or any of its directors to sign any consent to short notice

of a general or separate class meeting as the Modern Water Shareholder’s attorney

and/or agent and on its behalf, and/or to attend (and/or execute a form of proxy in

respect of such Modern Water Shares appointing any person nominated by

DeepVerge to attend) general and separate class meetings of Modern Water (and

any adjournments thereof) and to exercise the votes attaching to such shares on its

behalf, upon the understanding where relevant that such votes are to be cast so far

as possible to satisfy any outstanding condition of the Offer; and

(c)      the agreement of the Modern Water Shareholder not to exercise any of such rights

without the consent of DeepVerge, and the irrevocable undertaking of the Modern

Water Shareholder not to appoint a proxy to attend any such general meeting or

separate class meeting

provided that the authorities given, and agreement made, under this paragraph shall cease to be

of effect if the acceptance of the relevant Modern Water Shares is validly withdrawn;

1.7     the Modern Water Shareholder will deliver or procure the delivery to the Receiving Agent at the

address referred to in paragraph 16.2 of Part B of this Part III its share certificate(s) and/or other

document(s) of title in respect of all Modern Water Shares held by the Modern Water Shareholder

in certificated form comprised in the acceptance (which has not been not validly withdrawn), or

an indemnity acceptable to DeepVerge in lieu thereof, as soon as possible and in any event

within six months of the Offer becoming unconditional in all respects;
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1.8     the Modern Water Shareholder has all necessary rights to dispose of the Modern Water Shares

for which an acceptance has been given under paragraph 1.1 of this Part C and has full capacity

and authority to execute the Form of Acceptance in respect of such Modern Water Shares, that

such Modern Water Shares are fully paid up and that DeepVerge will acquire title to and all

interests in them free from all liens, equitable interests, charges, encumbrances, rights of pre-

emption and other third party rights of any nature whatsoever and together with all rights

attaching to them, including voting rights and, subject to paragraph 18 of Part B of this Part III,

the right to receive and retain all dividends and distributions (if any), or any returns of capital,

declared, made or paid on or after 13 October 2020;

1.9     the Modern Water Shareholder will do all such acts and things as shall be necessary or expedient

to vest in DeepVerge or its nominee(s) or such other persons as DeepVerge may decide the

Modern Water Shares in certificated form for which an acceptance of the Offer has been given

under paragraph 1.1 of this Part C (which has not been validly withdrawn), and will ratify each

and every act or thing which may be done or effected by DeepVerge, SPARK or the Receiving

Agent or any director of DeepVerge, SPARK or the Receiving Agent or their respective agents,

or by Modern Water or its agents, as the case may be, in the proper exercise of any of their

powers and/or authorities under this Part C;

1.10   the execution of the Form of Acceptance constitutes the Modern Water Shareholder’s agreement

to the terms of paragraph 20.24 of Part B of this Part III;

1.11    upon execution, the Form of Acceptance shall take effect as a deed;

1.12   if any provision of Part B or this Part C of this Part III shall be unenforceable or invalid or shall

not operate so as to afford DeepVerge or SPARK or the Receiving Agent or any director of any

of them the benefit of the authorities and powers of attorney (or any of them) expressed to be

given therein, the Modern Water Shareholder shall with all practicable speed do all such acts and

things and execute all such documents as may be required to enable DeepVerge and/or SPARK

and/or the Receiving Agent and/or any of their respective directors to secure the full benefits of

all such authorities and powers of attorney; and

1.13   the Modern Water Shareholder is not a client (as defined by the rules of the Financial Conduct

Authority) of SPARK in connection with the Offer.

References in this Part C to a Modern Water Shareholder shall include references to the person or

persons executing a Form of Acceptance and, if more than one person executes a Form of Acceptance,

the provisions of this Part C shall apply to each of such persons jointly and severally.
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PART D: ELECTRONIC ACCEPTANCES

This Part D applies only to Modern Water Shares held in uncertificated form. If you hold all your
Modern Water Shares in certificated form, you should ignore this Part D and instead read Part C
above.

For the purposes of this Part D of Part III, the phrase ‘Modern Water Shares in uncertificated form
comprised in the acceptance’ shall mean the number of Modern Water Shares which are transferred

by the relevant Modern Water Shareholder by Electronic Acceptance to an escrow account by means

of a TTE instruction.

Without prejudice to the provisions of Parts A and B of this Part III, each Modern Water Shareholder by

whom, or on whose behalf, an Electronic Acceptance is made irrevocably undertakes, represents,

warrants and agrees to and with DeepVerge, SPARK and the Receiving Agent (so as to bind its

personal representatives, heirs, successors and assigns) to the effect that:

1.1     the Electronic Acceptance shall constitute:

1.1.1  an acceptance of the Offer in respect of the number of Modern Water Shares to which a

transfer to escrow (TTE) instruction relates; and

1.1.2  an undertaking to execute any further documents, take any further action and give any

further assurances which may be required in connection with the foregoing,

in each case on and subject to the terms and conditions set out or referred to in this document

and that, subject to the rights of withdrawal set out in paragraph 16 of Part B of Part III, each such

acceptance, election and undertaking shall be irrevocable;

1.2     that such Modern Water Shareholder:

1.2.1  has not received or sent copies or originals of this document, the Form of Acceptance or

any related documents in, into or from any Restricted Jurisdiction;

1.2.2  has not otherwise utilised in connection with the Offer, directly or indirectly, the mails of, or

any means or instrumentality (including, without limitation, fax, e-mail, TTE instruction or

other electronic transmission or telephone) of interstate or foreign commerce of, or of any

facility of a national, state or other securities exchange of, any Restricted Jurisdiction;

1.2.3  is accepting the Offer from outside any Restricted Jurisdiction and was outside those

jurisdictions at the time of the input and settlement of the relevant TTE instruction(s);

1.2.4  in respect of the Modern Water Shares to which an Electronic Acceptance relates, is not

an agent or fiduciary acting on a non-discretionary basis for a principal, unless such agent

or fiduciary is an authorised employee of such principal or such principal has given any

instructions with respect to the Offer from outside any Restricted Jurisdiction;

1.2.5  is not accepting the Offer with a view to the offer, sale, resale, delivery or distribution,

directly or indirectly, of any New DeepVerge Shares into the US or any other Restricted

Jurisdiction and will not hold or acquire any New DeepVerge Shares for any other person

who he or she has reason to believe is purchasing for the purpose of such offer, sale,

resale, delivery or distribution; and

1.2.6  if the Modern Water Shareholder is an Overseas Shareholder, the Modern Water

Shareholder has observed the applicable laws of any relevant jurisdiction, obtained all

necessary governmental, exchange control and other consents, complied with all requisite

formalities, paid any issue, transfer or other taxes and made other payments due in any

such jurisdiction in connection with the Modern Water Shareholder’s acceptance and has

not taken or omitted to take any action that will or may result in DeepVerge, SPARK or any

other person acting in breach of the legal or regulatory requirements of any relevant

jurisdiction in connection with the Offer or the Modern Water Shareholder’s acceptance

thereof;

1.3     the Electronic Acceptance constitutes, subject to the Offer becoming wholly unconditional with its

terms and to the Modern Water Shareholder not having validly withdrawn its acceptance, the
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irrevocable appointment of each of DeepVerge and/or SPARK and/or any of its or their respective

directors or agents and/or any person authorised by either of them as the Modern Water

Shareholder’s attorney and/or agent (the attorney), and an irrevocable instruction and

authorisation to the attorney to do all such acts and things as may in the attorney’s opinion be

necessary or expedient for the purpose of, or in connection with, acceptance of the Offer and to

vest in DeepVerge or its nominee the Modern Water Shares for which an acceptance of the Offer

has been given under paragraph 1.1 of this Part D;

1.4     the Electronic Acceptance constitutes the irrevocable appointment of the Escrow Agent and an

irrevocable instruction and authority to the Escrow Agent: (i) subject to the Offer becoming wholly

unconditional and to the accepting Modern Water Shareholder not having validly withdrawn its

acceptance, to transfer to itself (or to such other person or persons as DeepVerge or its agents

may direct) by means of CREST all or any of the Modern Water Shares for which an acceptance

of the Offer has been given under paragraph 1.1 of this Part D; and (ii) if the Offer does not

become wholly unconditional, to give instructions to Euroclear, immediately after the lapsing of

the Offer (or within such longer period as the Panel may permit, not exceeding 14 days of the

lapsing of the Offer), to transfer all such Modern Water Shares to the original available balance

of the Modern Water Shareholder;

1.5     the Electronic Acceptance constitutes, subject to the Offer becoming wholly unconditional and to

the Modern Water Shareholder not having validly withdrawn its acceptance, an irrevocable

authority and request to DeepVerge or its agents (subject to the provisions of paragraph 21 of

Part B of this Appendix) to procure the crediting to that Modern Water Shareholder’s relevant

CREST account of the relevant number of New DeepVerge Shares due to him (or, if the

consideration due under the Offer is to be settled in cash, to procure the making of a CREST

payment obligation in favour of the Modern Water Shareholder’s payment bank in accordance

with the CREST payment arrangements in respect of any cash consideration to which the

Modern Water Shareholder is entitled) provided that DeepVerge may (if, for any reason, it wishes

to do so) determine that all or any part of any such New DeepVerge Shares shall be despatched

by post to the relevant Modern Water Shareholder (or, if the consideration due under the Offer is

to be settled in cash, all or any part of such cash consideration shall be paid by cheque

despatched by post);

1.6     the Electronic Acceptance constitutes in respect of Modern Water Shares for which an

acceptance of the Offer has been given under paragraph 1.1 of this Part D a separate authority

to DeepVerge, SPARK and/or their respective directors in the terms of paragraph 17.1 of Part B

of this Part III (subject to the other paragraphs of such paragraph 17);

1.7     subject to the Offer becoming wholly unconditional (or if the Offer will become unconditional in all

respects or lapse immediately upon the outcome of the resolution in question or if the Panel

consents) and pending registration of any transfer pursuant to the Offer:

1.7.1  DeepVerge and/or its agents shall be entitled to direct the exercise of any votes and any

or all other rights and privileges (including the right to requisition the convening of a

general meeting of Modern Water or of any class of its shareholders) attaching to the

Modern Water Shares for which an acceptance of the Offer has been given under

paragraph 1.1 of this Part D; and

1.7.2  an Electronic Acceptance, in respect of the Modern Water Shares for which an acceptance

of the Offer has been given under paragraph 1.1 of this Part D, constitutes:

(a)      an authority to Modern Water from the Modern Water Shareholder to send any

notice, circular, warrant, document or other communication which may be required

to be sent to the Modern Water Shareholder as a member of Modern Water

(including any share certificate(s) and/or other document(s) of title issued as a result

of a conversion of such Modern Water Shares into certificated form) to DeepVerge

at its registered office;

(b)      an authority to DeepVerge or any director of DeepVerge to sign any consent to short

notice of a general or separate class meeting as the Modern Water Shareholder’s

attorney and/or agent and on its behalf and/or to attend, and/or to execute a form of

proxy in respect of such Modern Water Shares appointing any person nominated by
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DeepVerge to attend general and separate class meetings of Modern Water (and

any adjournments thereof) and to exercise the votes attaching to such shares on the

Modern Water Shareholder’s behalf, where relevant such votes to be cast so far as

possible to satisfy any outstanding condition of the Offer; and

(c)      the agreement of the Modern Water Shareholder not to exercise any of such rights

without the consent of DeepVerge and the irrevocable undertaking of the Modern

Water Shareholder not to appoint a proxy to attend any such general meeting or

separate class meeting;

Provided that the authorities given and the agreement made under this paragraph 1.7 shall cease

to be of effect if the acceptance of the relevant Modern Water Shares is validly withdrawn;

1.8     the Modern Water Shareholder has all necessary rights to dispose of the Modern Water Shares

for which an acceptance of the Offer has been given under paragraph 1.1 of this Part D and has

full capacity and authority to effect an Electronic Acceptance in respect of such Modern Water

Shares, that such Modern Water Shares are fully paid up and that DeepVerge will acquire title to

and all interests in them free from all liens, equitable interests, charges, encumbrances and other

third party rights of any nature whatsoever and together with all rights attaching to them, including

voting rights and, subject to paragraph 18 of Part B of this Part III, the right to receive and retain

all dividends and other distributions (if any), or any returns of capital, declared, made or paid on

or after 13 October 2020;

1.9     the Modern Water Shareholder will do all such acts and things as shall be necessary or expedient

to vest in DeepVerge or its nominee(s) or such other person(s) as DeepVerge may decide the

Modern Water Shares for which an acceptance of the Offer has been given under paragraph 1.1

of this Part D (which has not been validly withdrawn), will do all such acts and things as may be

necessary or expedient to enable the Escrow Agent to perform its functions as escrow agent for

the purposes of the Offer, and will ratify each and every act or thing which may be done

or effected by DeepVerge, SPARK or the Receiving Agent or any director of DeepVerge, SPARK

or the Receiving Agent or their respective agents, or by Modern Water or its agents, as the case

may be, in the exercise of any of their powers and/or authorities under this Part D;

1.10   if for any reason any Modern Water Shares in respect of which a TTE instruction has been

effected in accordance with paragraph 13 of the letter from DeepVerge contained in Part II of this

document are converted to certificated form, the Modern Water Shareholder will (without

prejudice to paragraph 1.7.2(a) of this Part D) immediately deliver or procure the immediate

delivery of the share certificate(s) and/or other document(s) of title in respect of all such Modern

Water Shares as so converted to the Receiving Agent at the address referred to in paragraph

16.2 of Part B of this Part III, or to DeepVerge at its registered office, or as DeepVerge or its

agents may direct; and the Modern Water Shareholder shall be deemed upon conversion to

undertake, represent, warrant and agree in the terms set out in Part C of this Part III in relation

to such Modern Water Shares without prejudice to the application of this Part D as far as

DeepVerge deems appropriate;

1.11    the crediting of the Modern Water Shareholder’s relevant CREST account with the appropriate

number of New DeepVerge Shares due to be issued to him pursuant to the Offer (or, if the

consideration due under the Offer is to be settled in cash, the creation of a CREST payment

obligation in favour of the Modern Water Shareholder’s payment bank) in accordance with the

CREST payment arrangements referred to in paragraph 1.5 of this Part D shall, to the extent of

the crediting of such CREST account or the obligation so created (as appropriate), discharge in

full any obligation of DeepVerge to issue any New DeepVerge Shares, or pay any cash

consideration, to that Modern Water Shareholder to which he is entitled pursuant to the Offer;

1.12   the making of an Electronic Acceptance constitutes the Modern Water Shareholder’s agreement

to the terms of paragraph 20.24 of Part B of this Part III;

1.13   by virtue of the CREST Regulations, the making of an Electronic Acceptance constitutes an

irrevocable power of attorney in favour of DeepVerge, SPARK, the Receiving Agent and any of

their respective agents by the Modern Water Shareholder in the terms of all the powers and

authorities expressed to be given by Part B, this Part D and (where applicable by virtue of

paragraph 1.10 above) Part C of this Part III;
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1.14   if any provision of Part B or this Part D of this Part III shall be unenforceable or invalid or shall

not operate so as to afford DeepVerge, SPARK or the Receiving Agent or any director of any of

them the benefit of the authorities and powers of attorney (or any of them) expressed to be given

therein, the Modern Water Shareholder shall with all practicable speed do all such acts and

things and execute all such documents that may be required to enable DeepVerge and/or SPARK

and/or the Receiving Agent and/or any director of either of them to secure the full benefits of all

such powers and attorneys; and

1.15   the Modern Water Shareholder is not a client (as defined by the rules of the Financial Conduct

Authority) of SPARK in connection with the Offer.

References in this Part D to a Modern Water Shareholder shall include references to the person or

persons making an Electronic Acceptance and, if more than one makes an Electronic Acceptance, the

provisions of this Part D shall apply to them jointly and severally.
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PART IV

                                                       RISK FACTORS                                                       

The attention of Modern Water Shareholders is drawn to certain investment considerations
relating to the New DeepVerge Shares. The DeepVerge Board believes that the factors described
below represent the current material risks inherent in holding the New DeepVerge Shares;
however, the business, financial condition, results, operations or share price of DeepVerge may
be materially and adversely affected by other factors which are currently not known to
DeepVerge. In addition to all of the other information set out in this document, Modern Water
Shareholders should carefully consider the risk factors set out below and reach their own views
prior to making any investment decision. You should consult a legal adviser, an independent
financial adviser duly authorised under the FSMA, or a tax adviser for legal, financial or tax
advice.

If any of the following risks occur, the Enlarged Group’s business, financial position and/or
operating results could be materially and adversely affected.

In addition to the other relevant information set out in this document, the DeepVerge Directors consider

that the following specific risk factors should be taken into account when evaluating whether to make

an investment in the Company:

SPECIFIC RISKS TO THE ENLARGED GROUP’S BUSINESS AND THE INDUSTRY IN WHICH IT
OPERATES, AND TO THE OFFER

Conditions of  the Offer

Under the Code, the Offer is conditional upon the conditions set out in Part III of this document. There

can be no assurance that the conditions to the Offer will be satisfied and that the Offer will complete. If

the conditions to the Offer are not satisfied by 8 December 2020, the Offer will lapse and DeepVerge

will not acquire Modern Water. If the Offer were to lapse, DeepVerge would continue to work with

Modern Water under the existing production and logistics agreement, under which DeepVerge is

contracted to produce test kits for Modern Water, however the full benefits of operating as a merged

entity would not, in the DeepVerge Directors’ view, be realised.

Human Resource Integration

A significant risk with any merger is the integration of management teams. Modern Water has teams in

Shanghai (China) and Delaware (USA). With COVID-19 related travel restrictions, the Enlarged Group

will need to integrate people that have not physically met to date. As the Enlarged Group’s combined

management team come from a range of different cultures – British, Irish, Chinese and American –

nuances in language that are amplified with physical contact to get a better understanding of the other

party are missing. Without the ability to meet in person, misunderstandings could arise that may impact

personally, tactically and strategically, and impact negatively on the merger of the management teams.

Dependence on key personnel

The future success of the Enlarged Group depends partially on the expertise of its directors and certain

key employees. The loss of key personnel and the inability to attract or retain further key personnel

could have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business and trading results, by impairing

the day to day running of the Enlarged Group and its ability to exploit the opportunities open to it. In

addition, the loss of the services of the executive directors, members of senior management and other

key employees could be disruptive to, and damage, the Enlarged Group’s business.

Protectionism

The current political mainstream appears to the DeepVerge Board to be leading to ‘blocs’ that are more

about protectionism than cooperation. For example ‘America First’, ‘Brexit,’ ‘Hong Kong’ create an

environment where it may be more difficult to sell goods that are “Made in China” to the US and vice

versa, or to export from the UK into the EU and on to other countries under World Trade Organisation

Terms. Modern Water sells goods made in China in the US market, goods made in the US to the

3.3.1
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Chinese market, and goods made in the UK to the EU market. The uncertainty creates flux at all levels

– stock markets, manufacturing locations, sales and business models.

Terms on which finance can be secured

Each of DeepVerge and Modern Water posted losses in their most recent audited accounts. However,

DeepVerge has put in place a £3 million debt facility on 29 July 2020 and has received over £1 million

of receipts from warrant exercises since that date. Whilst not anticipated during the working capital

period (i.e. the 12 months following Admission) should the Enlarged Group seek additional funding in

the future, funds may not be available on acceptable terms or at all, and the Enlarged Group may not

be able to execute its expansion strategy effectively, take advantage of future opportunities or respond

to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirements. For the sake of clarity, this risk factor is not

intended to qualify in any way the working capital statement given at paragraph 17 of Part VIII

(Additional Information) of this document.

Products

Modern Water makes significant sales of reagents. Protecting the IP of these reagents such as

bioluminescence bacteria is a risk, as the ‘bacteria’ is open source. Modern Water has stayed ahead of

the game through experience and creates a stable reagent that the Modern Water Directors believe is

the regulatory standard in many countries. This has allowed it to protect its market and maintain high

margins. However, a determined company with a strong microbiology background could start

manufacturing and competing on price putting this important product line for the business under

pressure. In addition, a large proportion of Modern Water’s distribution of these reagents is undertaken

through third parties. It does not own its route to market, so it is vulnerable to approaches by

competitors.

Modern Water has a suite of reagents and some of its Standard Operating Procedures (“SOPs”) are

old. Old SOPs that are not continuously updated are often open to interpretation by the production

scientists. As the Enlarged Group looks to expand production into other regions, the business is subject

to the risk of depending on a number of ‘experts’ until all of the SOPs are updated and templated under

ISO accreditation.

The Enlarged Group’s plans for upgrading Modern Water’s suite of instruments includes building more

sensing capability and extracting more data for analysis. In many countries, such as China and the US,

there may be restrictions on the amount of intelligence the Enlarged Group is allowed to take out of the

country. As waterways, water treatment plants etc are strategic national assets, this may lead to

different versions of instruments and the software therein which creates unwieldy manufacturing,

support and maintenance.

Route to market

The Modern Water business model is a mix of partnering and going direct to customers. In regions

where partners are strong, they can dictate terms. Finding the right balance to optimise the Enlarged

Group’s return is a risk because traditional distributors will need to be convinced if terms change. As

the Enlarged Group enhances routes to market, channel conflict will become a risk. Without control over

routes to market, there is vulnerability to approaches from competitors.

COVID-19 risk

DeepVerge is constantly reviewing the impact of COVID-19 with clients and partners to assess

manufacturing and supply of services stress. These include, but are not limited to, restrictions on the

supply of materials that enable the Enlarged Group to supply goods and services to clients. In the event

that such restrictions occur, this would adversely impact the business’ ability to assist clients and meet

their needs where reliance on the delivery of goods and services from the Enlarged Group is critical.

Reputation is important in winning contracts with both new and existing customers

The Enlarged Group’s reputation, in terms of the services it provides and the way in which it conducts

its business, is central to the Enlarged Group winning contracts with both new and existing customers.

Failure to meet the expectations of these customers and other business partners may have a material

adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s reputation, business, prospects, results of operation and

financial condition. The Enlarged Group’s future revenue growth and the contracts it wins depend on its
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ability to provide customers with a high quality of service. If the Enlarged Group is unable to provide

customers with a high quality of service, it could face customer dissatisfaction, leading to decreased

demand for its services, a loss of revenue and damage to the Enlarged Group’s reputation.

The integration costs related to the Acquisition may exceed the DeepVerge Board’s expectations

If the Acquisition completes, the Enlarged Group expects to incur certain costs in relation to the

Acquisition, including integration and post completion costs in order to successfully combine the

operations of the Company and Modern Water. The actual costs of the integration process may exceed

those estimated and there may be further additional and unforeseen expenses incurred in connection

with the Acquisition. These factors could adversely affect the Enlarged Group’s operations and/or

financial condition.

GENERAL RISKS RELATING TO THE ENLARGED GROUP AND ITS BUSINESS

Brexit

The extent of the impact of Brexit on the Enlarged Group will depend in part on the nature of the

arrangements that are put in place between the UK and the EU following the eventual Brexit and the

extent to which the UK continues to apply laws that are based on EU legislation.

The Enlarged Group may be subject to a significant period of uncertainty in the period leading up to

eventual Brexit including, inter alia, uncertainty in relation to any potential regulatory or tax change.

Brexit could also create significant UK (and potentially global) stock market uncertainty, which may have

a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business and the price of DeepVerge Shares. As

such, it is not possible to accurately state the impact that Brexit will have on the Enlarged Group at this

stage.

The Enlarged Group may from time to time depend upon joint venture partners fulfilling their
obligations

At present the only material joint venture the Company has is that with Modern Water which was

announced on 18 March 2020 to manufacture and provide logistical support for the supply of Modern

Water water monitoring reagent consumables. The Enlarged Group may in future enter into additional

partnership and/or joint venture agreements to operate and/or collaborate on research and

development costs associated with its business. Liquidity and cash flow problems encountered by the

partners and co-owners and any non-compliance by the partners and co-owners may lead to delays

that may be detrimental to a project or may otherwise have adverse consequences for the Enlarged

Group or such partners and co-owners may be unwilling or unable to pay their share of the costs of

projects as they become due. It is also possible that the interests of the Enlarged Group and those of

its joint venture partners are not or may not in the future be aligned resulting in project delays or

additional costs or losses.

The Enlarged Group may not be able to obtain appropriate insurance

Both DeepVerge and Modern Water have insurance to cover the risk associated with the production of

bacteria. The Enlarged Group may be unable to obtain appropriate insurance at competitive rates or at

all, which, in the event of an otherwise insurable incident occurring, might have a significant adverse

effect on the Enlarged Group.

The Enlarged Group’s disaster recovery plans may not be sufficient

The Enlarged Group depends on the performance, reliability and availability of its laboratory equipment

and information technology systems. Any damage to or failure of its equipment and/or systems could

result in disruptions to the Enlarged Group’s research and operations. The Enlarged Group’s disaster

recovery plans may not adequately address every potential event and its insurance policies may not

cover any loss in full or in part (including losses resulting from business interruptions) or damage that

it suffers fully or at all, which could have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business,

financial position or prospects.

Legislation and tax status

This document has been prepared on the basis of current legislation, regulation, rules and practices

and the DeepVerge Directors’ interpretation thereof. Such interpretation may not be correct and it is
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always possible that legislation, rules and practice may change. Any change in legislation or regulation

and, in particular, in tax status or tax residence of the Enlarged Group or in tax legislation or practice

may have an adverse effect on the returns available on an investment in the Enlarged Group.

Taxation

The tax rules and their interpretation relating to an investment in the Enlarged Group may change

during its life. Any change in the Enlarged Group’s tax status or in taxation legislation or its interpretation

could affect the value of the investments held in the Enlarged Group or the Enlarged Group’s ability to

provide returns to shareholders or alter the post-tax returns to shareholders. Representations in this

document concerning the taxation of the Enlarged Group and its investors are based upon current tax

law and practice which is, in principle, subject to change. Current and potential investors are strongly

recommended to consult an independent financial adviser authorised under FSMA who specialises in

investments in shares before making any investment decision in respect of DeepVerge Shares.

RISKS RELATING TO AIM AND THE NEW DEEPVERGE SHARES                                                     

Volatility in the prices of  DeepVerge Shares

The effective price at which the Offer Shares are issued may not be indicative of the market price for

DeepVerge Shares following Admission. The subsequent market price of DeepVerge Shares may be

subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of events and factors that are unrelated to the

Enlarged Group’s operating performance such as changes in financial estimates, recommendations by

securities analysts, the share price performance of other companies that investors may deem

comparable to the Enlarged Group, market perceptions of the Enlarged Group, new reports relating to

trends in the Enlarged Group’s markets, large purchases or sales of DeepVerge Shares, liquidity (or

absence of liquidity) in DeepVerge Shares, legislative or regulatory changes, national and global

economic conditions and various other factors and events. These fluctuations may adversely affect the

trading price of DeepVerge Shares, regardless of the Enlarged Group’s trading performance. The price

at which DeepVerge Shares will be traded and the price at which investors may realise these

investments will be influenced by many factors, some not specific to the Enlarged Group and its

operations. Furthermore, there is no guarantee that the market price of a DeepVerge Share will

accurately reflect its underlying value.

Liquidity of  trading market for DeepVerge Shares

In stock market terms, DeepVerge is a small company. As such, the ability to buy or sell more than a

small number of shares (in value terms) can be relatively limited. It may be difficult to buy or sell

DeepVerge Shares in more than small quantities.

Future issues of  DeepVerge Shares may result in dilution of shareholders

The Enlarged Group may decide to issue additional DeepVerge Shares in the future. If shareholders

are not offered the opportunity to participate in placings, or do not subscribe for additional DeepVerge

Shares on a pro rata basis in accordance with their existing shareholdings, this will dilute their existing

interests in the Enlarged Group.

The issue of additional DeepVerge Shares may be on more favourable terms than the price at which

Offer Shares are issued. Market conditions at the time of any such future fundraising may mean that

shares are issued at a lower price than the DeepVerge Shares trade at present.

Suitability of  DeepVerge Shares

Investment in DeepVerge Shares may not be suitable for all readers of this document. Readers are

accordingly advised to consult a person duly authorised under the FSMA who specialises in

investments of this nature before making any investment decisions.

There is no guarantee that the Enlarged Group will maintain its quotation on AIM

The Enlarged Group cannot guarantee investors that the Enlarged Group will continue to be tradable

on the AIM market to which DeepVerge’s shares are admitted to trading. If the Enlarged Group fails to

do so, investors may not have a market for their DeepVerge Shares, which could have an adverse

impact on the value of those shares. All AIM-quoted companies are required to retain a ‘nominated
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adviser’ at all times under the Rules of the AIM market. Trading in the Company’s securities will be

suspended, or the admission of its shares may be cancelled, if the Company ceases to retain a

nominated adviser at all times.

Higher risk for shares traded on AIM than on the Official list

Application has been made for the New DeepVerge Shares to be admitted to trading on AIM, a market

designated primarily for emerging or smaller companies. The AIM Rules are less onerous than those of

the Official List and an investment in shares that are traded on AIM are likely to carry a higher risk than

an investment in shares listed on the Official List. The future success of AIM and liquidity in the market

for DeepVerge Shares cannot be guaranteed. In particular, the market for DeepVerge Shares may

become or may be relatively illiquid and, therefore, such DeepVerge Shares may be or may become

difficult to sell. Prospective investors should be aware that the market price of DeepVerge Shares may

go down as well as up and that the market price of DeepVerge Shares may not reflect the underlying

value of the Enlarged Group. Investors may, therefore, realise less than or lose all of their investment.
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PART V

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON MODERN WATER

The following sets out the financial information in respect of Modern Water as required by Rule 24.3 of

the Code. The documents referred to below, the contents of which have been previously announced

through a Regulatory Information Service, are incorporated into this document by reference pursuant to

Rule 24.15 of the Code:

Audited consolidated accounts of Modern Water                                                                                

•         The audited consolidated accounts of Modern Water for the financial year ended on

31 December 2019 are set out on pages 22 to 59 (inclusive) of the annual report and accounts of

Modern Water for the financial year ended on 31 December 2019 available free

of charge on Modern Water’s website www.modernwater.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/

reportandaccounts2019.pdf.

•         The audited consolidated accounts of Modern Water for the financial year ended on 31 December

2018 are set out on pages 22 to 55 (inclusive) of the annual report and accounts of Modern Water

for the financial year ended on 31 December 2018 available free of charge on Modern Water’s

website www.modernwater.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/reportandaccounts2018.pdf.

•         The audited consolidated accounts of Modern Water for the financial year ended on 31 December

2017 are set out on pages 20 to 48  (inclusive) of the annual report and accounts of Modern Water

for the financial year ended on 31 December 2017 available free of charge on Modern Water’s

website:

https://www.modernwater.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/180328-MW-2017-ANNUAL-

REPORT-FINAL-for-Website.pdf

•         The unaudited consolidated accounts of Modern Water for the six month period ended on 30 June

2019 are set out on pages 3 to 7 (inclusive) of the Interim Report of Modern Water which

is available free of charge on Modern Water’s website:

https://polaris.brighterir.com/public/modern_water/news/rns/story/xeyeznw

•         The unaudited consolidated accounts of Modern Water for the six month period ended on

30 June 2020 are set out on pages 3 to 7 (inclusive) of the Interim Report of Modern Water which

is available free of charge on Modern Water’s website https://www.modernwater.com/wp-

content/uploads/2020/09/MW-Interims-2020.pdf

If you are reading this document in hard copy form, please enter one of the web addresses above in

your web browser to be brought to the relevant document. If you are reading this document in electronic

form, please click on the relevant web address above to be brought to the relevant document.

The above Annual Reports and Accounts of Modern Water are available in “read-only” format and can

be printed from Modern Water’s website. Modern Water will provide within two business days of the

request being received, without charge, to each shareholder, person with information rights or other

person to whom a copy of this document has been sent, upon their written or verbal request, a copy of

any information incorporated by reference in this document. Copies of any information incorporated by

reference in this document will not be provided unless such a request is made.

Requests for copies of any such document should be directed to Neville Registrars or by calling
Neville Registrars on telephone number 0121 585 1131 (from within the UK) or +44 (0)121 585
1131 (from outside the UK). Calls are charged at the standard geographic rate and will vary by
provider. Calls to the helpline from outside the United Kingdom will be charged at the applicable
international rate. The helpline is open between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. (London time) Monday
to Friday, excluding public holidays in England and Wales. Different charges may apply to calls
from mobile telephones and calls may be recorded and randomly monitored for security and
training purposes. Please note that, for legal reasons, the Receiving Agent will only be able to
provide you with information contained in this document and will be unable to give advice on
the merits of the Offer nor give any financial, legal or tax advice on the contents of this
document.
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Historical Financial Information

Historical financial information relating to Modern Water on the matters referred to below is included in

the published annual reports and audited statutory accounts of Modern Water for the periods stated

(which are each hereby incorporated by reference) as follows:

                                           Report and        Report and        Report and
                                                  Annual              Annual              Annual               Interim               Interim
                                              Accounts           Accounts           Accounts               Report               Report
                                                (Audited)           (Audited)           (Audited)       (Unaudited)       (Unaudited)
                                                for Year             for Year             for Year      for 6 months     for 6 months
                                                  Ended               Ended               Ended                ended                ended
                                       31 December    31 December    31 December             30 June             30 June
                                                     2017                  2018                  2019                  2019                  2020
Nature of  information            Page No.           Page No.           Page No.           Page No.           Page No.

Group statement of 

comprehensive income                 20                      22                      25                        3                        3

Group and Company 

statements of financial 

position                                         21                      23                      26                        4                        4

Group and Company 

statements of changes 

in equity                                        22                      24                      27                        5                        5

Group and Company 

statements of cash flows              23                      26                      29                        6                        6

Notes to the financial 

statements                                    24                      27                      30                        7                        6

Accounting policies                          24                      27                      30                        7                        7

Independent auditors’ report            14                      15                      17                     n/a                     n/a

The auditors of Modern Water for the year ended 31 December 2019 were Jeffreys Henry LLP, and for the

two years ended 31 December 2018 were Grant Thornton UK LLP, both of whom are governed by the

Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

2.1.3
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PART VI

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON DEEPVERGE

The following sets out the financial information in respect of DeepVerge as required by Rule 24.3 of the

Code. The documents referred to below, the contents of which have been previously announced

through a Regulatory Information Service, are incorporated into this document by reference pursuant to

Rule 24.15 of the Code:

Audited consolidated accounts of DeepVerge                                                                                      

•         The audited consolidated accounts of DeepVerge for the financial year ended on 31 December

2019 are set out on pages 26 to 68 (inclusive) of the annual report and accounts of DeepVerge

for the financial year ended on 31 December 2019 available free of charge on DeepVerge’s

website www.deepverge.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Integumen-plc-Annual-Report-2019-1.pdf.

•         The audited consolidated accounts of DeepVerge for the financial year ended on 31 December

2018 are set out on pages 22 to 61 (inclusive) of the annual report and accounts of DeepVerge

for the financial year ended on 31 December 2018 available free of charge on DeepVerge’s

website www.deepverge.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Integumen-plc-Annual-Report-2018-

Final-web-.pdf.

•         The audited consolidated accounts of DeepVerge for the financial year ended on 31 December

2017 are set out on pages 22 to 61 (inclusive) of the annual report and accounts of DeepVerge

for the financial year ended on 31 December 2018 available free of charge on DeepVerge’s

website https://www.deepverge.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Integumen-plc-Annual-Report-

2017.pdf

•         The unaudited consolidated accounts of DeepVerge for the six month period ended on 30 June

2019 are set out on pages 3 to 7 (inclusive) of the Interim Report of DeepVerge which is available

free of charge on DeepVerge’s website:

https://www.deepverge.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Integumen-plc-Interim-Report-

2019.pdf

•         The unaudited consolidated accounts of DeepVerge for the six month period ended on 30 June

2020 are set out on pages 3 to 7 (inclusive) of the Interim Report of DeepVerge which is available

free of charge on DeepVerge’s website www.deepverge.com/wp-

content/uploads/2020/09/Integumen-plc-Interim-Report-6months-to-30-June-2020.pdf.

If you are reading this document in hard copy form, please enter one of the web addresses above in

your web browser to be brought to the relevant document. If you are reading this document in electronic

form, please click on the relevant web address above to be brought to the relevant document.

The above Annual Report and Accounts, and interim statement of DeepVerge are available in “read-

only” format and can be printed from DeepVerge’s website. DeepVerge will provide within two business

days of the request being received, without charge, to each shareholder, person with information rights

or other person to whom a copy of this document has been sent, upon their written or verbal request,

a copy of any information incorporated by reference in this document. Copies of any information

incorporated by reference in this document will not be provided unless such a request is made.

Requests for copies of any such document should be directed to Neville Registrars or by calling
Neville Registrars on telephone number 0121 585 1131 (from within the UK) or +44 (0)121 585
1131 (from outside the UK). Calls are charged at the standard geographic rate and will vary by
provider. Calls to the helpline from outside the United Kingdom will be charged at the applicable
international rate. The helpline is open between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. (London time) Monday
to Friday, excluding public holidays in England and Wales. Different charges may apply to calls
from mobile telephones and calls may be recorded and randomly monitored for security and
training purposes. Please note that, for legal reasons, the Receiving Agent will only be able to
provide you with information contained in this document and will be unable to give advice on
the merits of the Offer nor give any financial, legal or tax advice on the contents of this
document.

2.5.1
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Historical Financial Information

Historical financial information relating to DeepVerge on the matters referred to below is included in the

half yearly financial report and the published annual reports and audited statutory accounts of the

Company for the periods stated (which are each hereby incorporated by reference) as follows:

                                           Report and        Report and        Report and
                                                  Annual              Annual              Annual               Interim               Interim
                                              Accounts           Accounts           Accounts               Report               Report
                                                (Audited)           (Audited)           (Audited)       (Unaudited)       (Unaudited)
                                                for Year             for Year             for Year      for 6 months     for 6 months
                                                  Ended               Ended               Ended                ended                ended
                                       31 December    31 December    31 December             30 June             30 June
                                                     2017                  2018                  2019                  2019                  2020
Nature of  information            Page No.           Page No.           Page No.           Page No.           Page No.

Consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income            20                      22                      26                        5                        3

Consolidated and 

Company’s statement of 

financial position                           21                      23                      27                        6                        4

Consolidated and Company’s 

statement of cash flows                22                      24                      28                        7                        5

Consolidated and 

Company’s Statement 

of Changes in Shareholders’ 

Equity                                            23                      25                      29                        8                        6

Notes to the financial statements     24                      26                      30                        9                        7

Accounting policies                          24                      26                      30                     n/a                     n/a

Independent auditors’ report            14                      17                      18                     n/a                     n/a

The auditors of DeepVerge for the period covered by the above financial information were Jeffreys

Henry LLP, who are governed by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

2.1.3
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PART VII

                                 PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION                                  

Part A: Accountant’s report on the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged
Group

The Directors

DeepVerge plc

Sand Hutton Applied Innovation Campus

Sand Hutton, York

North Yorkshire

YO41 1LZ

SPARK Advisory Partners Limited

5 St John’s Lane

London

EC1M 4BH

13 October 2020

Dear Sirs

DeepVerge plc (the “Company”)

Introduction

We report on the unaudited pro forma financial information set out in this Part VII which has been

prepared for inclusion in this document issued by the Company and dated 13 October 2020

(“Exemption Document”) relating to the proposed acquisition by the Company of Modern Water plc

(“Acquisition”). The statement has been prepared for illustrative purposes only, to provide information

about how the Acquisition might have affected the financial information of the Company as at 30 June

2020, presented on the basis of the accounting policies that will be adopted by the Company in

preparing its published financial statements. This report is prepared in accordance with items 5.8.1 and

5.10.1 of the Annex to the Commission Delegated Regulation supplementing Regulation (EU)

2017/1129 of the European Parliament and Council (“Annex”) and is given for the purpose of complying

with that requirement and for no other purpose.

Responsibilities

It is the responsibility of the Directors of the Company to prepare the pro forma financial information in

accordance with the Annex.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by item 5.10.1 of the Annex, as to the proper

compilation of the pro forma financial information and to report that opinion to you.

Save for any responsibility arising under item 1.1.1 of the Annex to any person as and to the extent

there provided, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any responsibility and will not

accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a result of,

arising out of, or in connection with this report or our statement, required by and given solely for the

purposes of complying with item 5.10.1 of the Annex, consenting to its inclusion in the Exemption

Document. 

In providing this opinion we are not updating or refreshing any reports or opinions previously made by

us on any financial information used in the compilation of the pro forma financial information, nor do we

accept responsibility for such reports or opinions beyond that owed to those to whom those reports or

opinions were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the

Financial Reporting Council in the United Kingdom. The work that we performed for the purpose of

making this report, which involved no independent examination of any of the underlying financial

5.7- 5.10
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information, consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information with the source

documents, considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the pro forma

financial information with the Directors of the Company.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we considered

necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the pro forma financial information has

been properly compiled on the basis stated and that such basis is consistent with the accounting

policies of the Company.

Opinion

In our opinion:

(a)      the pro forma financial information has been properly compiled on the basis stated; and

(b)      such basis referred to in (a) is consistent with the accounting policies of the Company.

Declaration

For the purposes of item 1.1.1 of the Annex we are responsible for this report as part of the Exemption

Document and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information contained

in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission

likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Exemption Document in compliance with

item 1.2.1 of the Annex.

Yours faithfully

JEFFREYS HENRY LLP
Chartered Accountants
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Part B: Unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group

Set out below is an unaudited pro forma statement of net assets as at 30 June 2020 and the income

statements for the six months ended 30 June 2020 (the “Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information”)

of DeepVerge Plc (“the Company”) and Modern Water Plc (“Modern Water”) (together “the Enlarged

Group”). The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Enlarged Group has been prepared on

the basis set out in the notes below to illustrate the impact of the Acquisition as if it had taken place on

30 June 2020.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and,

by its nature, addresses a hypothetical situation and does not, therefore, represent the Enlarged

Group’s actual financial position or results. Such information may not, therefore, give a true picture of

the Enlarged Group’s financial position or results nor is it indicative of the results that may or may not

be expected to be achieved in the future.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information is based on the unaudited net assets of the Company

and Modern Water as at 30 June 2020 and the income statements for the six months ended 30 June

2020 as shown in Parts VI and V (Historical Financial Information). No adjustments have been made to

take account of trading, expenditure or other movements subsequent to 30 June 2020, being the date

of the last published balance sheet of the Company and Modern Water.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information does not constitute financial statements within the

meaning of section 434 of the Companies Act. Investors should read the whole of this document and

not rely solely on the summarised financial information contained in this Part VII.

Unaudited pro forma statement of net assets at 30 June 2020

                                                                                                                                                   Unaudited
                                                                The Company   Modern Water                                    pro forma
                                                                                 Net                    Net                                      adjusted
                                                                            assets               assets                                 aggregated
                                                                               as at                  as at                              net assets of
                                                                          30 June             30 June        Acquisition     the Enlarged
                                                                              2020                  2020      adjustments           Group on

                                                                           (Note 1)             (Note 2)    (Notes 3 & 4)        Admission
                                                                              £’000                 £’000                 £’000                 £’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets                                                   3,513                 1,277                        –                 4,790

Right of use assets                                                  450                        –                        –                    450

Property, plant and equipment                                 483                    278                        –                    761

Investments                                                             708                        –                        –                    708
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Non-current assets                                             5,154                 1,555                        –                 6,709
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Current assets
Inventories                                                                 79                    777                        –                    856

Trade and other receivables                                 1,079                    791                        –                 1,870

Cash and cash equivalents                                     255                    799                    976                 2,030
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Current assets                                                     1,413                 2,367                    976                 4,756
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Total assets                                                         6,567                 3,922                    976               11,465                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
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                                                                                                                                                   Unaudited
                                                                The Company   Modern Water                                    pro forma
                                                                                 Net                    Net                                      adjusted
                                                                            assets               assets                                 aggregated
                                                                               as at                  as at                              net assets of
                                                                          30 June             30 June        Acquisition     the Enlarged
                                                                              2020                  2020     adjustments,           Group on

                                                                           (Note 1)             (Note 2)    (Notes 3 & 4)        Admission
                                                                              £’000                 £’000                 £’000                 £’000
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables                                      (970)              (1,721)                      –               (2,691)

Borrowings                                                              (154)                      –                        –                  (154)

Deferred tax liabilities                                               (61)                      –                        –                    (61)

Deferred revenue/Government grants                        (1)                                                                        (1)

Lease liability                                                          (105)                      –                        –                  (105)
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Current liabilities                                               (1,291)              (1,721)                      –               (3,012)
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities                                             (470)                      –                        –                  (470)

Lease liability                                                          (355)                      –                        –                  (355)

Deferred revenue/Government grants                        (5)                                                                        (5)

Borrowings                                                              (121)                 (408)              (1,500)              (2,029)
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Non-current liabilities                                           (951)                 (408)              (1,500)              (2,859)
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Total liabilities                                                    (2,242)              (2,129)              (1,500)              (5,871)                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Total assets less total liabilities                        4,325                 1,793                  (524)               5,594                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Unaudited pro forma statement of Income statement for the 6 months ended 30 June 2020

                                                                                                                                                  Unaudited

                                                                                                                                                   pro forma

                                                                The Company   Modern Water                                aggregated  

                                                                   6 months to       6 months to                               net losses of

                                                                         30 June             30 June        Acquisition     the Enlarged

                                                                              2020                  2020      adjustments           Group on

                                                                          (Note 1)             (Note 2)    (Notes 3 & 4)        Admission

                                                                             £’000                 £’000                 £’000                 £’000

Revenue                                                               1,004                    733                                         (1,737)

Cost of sales                                                           (393)                 (335)                                           (728)

Gross profit                                                              611                    398                                          1,009

Administrative expenses                                     (1,547)              (1,174)                 (524)              (3,245)
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Operating loss                                                        (936)                 (776)                 (524)              (2,236)

Finance costs                                                           (19)                   (43)                      –                    (62)
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Loss before taxation                                               (955)                 (819)                 (524)              (2,298)

Tax                                                                             30                      (3)                      –                      27
                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Loss for the period                                                 (925)                 (822)                 (524)              (2,271)                                                                      ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Notes

The pro forma financial information has been prepared on the following basis:

1.     The net assets of the Company as at 30 June 2020 have been extracted without adjustment from the unaudited financial

information referred to in Part VI of this document.

2.     The net assets of Modern Water as at 30 June 2020 have been extracted without adjustment from the unaudited financial

information referred to in Part V of this document.
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3.     An adjustment has been made to reflect the £1.5 million initial drawdown as part of a £3 million funding facility secured by

the Company with Riverfort Global Opportunities PCC Limited on 29 July 2020.

The costs of the Acquisition are estimated at approximately £524k.

4.     No adjustments have been made to the historical results of any entities within the Enlarged Group to reflect the trading or

other transactions other than described above of:

i.      the Company since 30 June 2020; and

ii.     Modern Water since 30 June 2020.

5.     The pro forma financial information does not constitute financial statements.

6.     Following completion of the Offer, the earnings, assets and liabilities of Modern Water shall be consolidated into the earnings,

assets and liabilities of the DeepVerge Group. On a pro forma basis and assuming that the Offer had become unconditional

on 30 June 2020, the Enlarged Group would have had net assets of £5.594 million and have made a loss for the 6 months

ended 30 June 2020 of £2.271 million.
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PART VIII

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1.       Responsibility                                                                                                                                 

1.1     The DeepVerge Directors, whose names are set out in paragraph 2.1 below, accept responsibility

for the information contained in this document save for the information for which the Modern

Water Directors or the Independent Modern Water Directors (as required) accept responsibility in

accordance with paragraphs 1.2 and 1.3 below. To the best of the knowledge of the DeepVerge

Directors (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information

contained in this document for which they are responsible is in accordance with the facts and this

document makes no omission likely to affect their import.

1.2     The Modern Water Directors, whose names are set out in paragraph 2.2 below, accept

responsibility for the information contained in this document relating to Modern Water Group and

the Modern Water Directors, their immediate families, related trusts and connected persons other

than the recommendation of the Independent Modern Water Directors relating to the Offer

contained in the letter from the Independent Modern Water Director set out in Part I of this

document, for which the Independent Modern Water Directors accept sole responsibility as set

out below. To the best of the knowledge of Modern Water Directors (who have taken all

reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this document for

which they accept responsibility is in accordance with the facts and this document makes no

omission likely to affect their import.

1.3     The Independent Modern Water Directors, whose names are set out in paragraph 2.3 below,

accept responsibility for their recommendation relating to the Offer contained in the letter from the

Independent Modern Water Directors set out in Part I of this document. To the best of the

knowledge of the Independent Modern Water Directors (who have taken all reasonable care to

ensure that such is the case), the recommendation contained in this document for which they

accept responsibility, is in accordance with the facts and this document makes no omission likely

to affect their import.

2.       Directors                                                                                                                                          

2.1     The DeepVerge Directors and their respective functions are as follows:

Name Position

Ross Andrews Non-Executive Chairman

Gerard Brandon Chief Executive Officer

Camillus Glover Chief Financial Officer

Fionan Murray Chief Operations Officer

DeepVerge is a public company limited by shares and incorporated and domiciled in England and

Wales with registered number 10205396. Its legal and commercial name is DeepVerge plc. The

registered office of DeepVerge (and the business address of each of the above directors) is at

Sand Hutton Applied Innovation Campus, Sand Hutton, York, North Yorkshire, YO41 1LZ. Its

telephone number is 020 3239 3716 and its LEI is 213800M477RQVVHVUD72.

2.2     The Modern Water Directors and their respective functions are as follows:                                   

Name Position

Simon Humphrey Chief Executive Officer

Nigel Burton Non-Executive Director

Gerard Brandon Non-Executive Chairman

Modern Water is a public company limited by shares and incorporated and domiciled in England

and Wales under the Companies Act 1985 with registration number 05963927. Its legal and

commercial name is Modern Water plc. The registered office and principal place of business of

Modern Water (and the business address of each of the above directors) is at 12th Floor, 6 New

Street Square, London, EC4A 3BF. Its telephone number is 020 3827 3439 and its LEI is

213800MTSDJQ13UBC211.

1.1.1

1.2.1

1.1.1

1.1.1

1.1.1

2.4.1

5.5.1a

2.1.2

Abcd

2.1.1

1.1.1

2.4.1

5.5.1a

2.1.2

Abcd

2.1.1
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2.3     The Independent Modern Water Directors and their functions are as follows:

Name Position

Simon Humphrey Chief Executive Officer

Dr Nigel Burton Non-Executive Director

The business address of the Independent Modern Water Directors is 12th Floor, 6 New Street

Square, London, EC4A 3BF.

3.       Interests in DeepVerge Shares

3.1     Interests of  DeepVerge Directors in relevant securities of  DeepVerge

As at the close of business on the Latest Practicable Date, the interests (as defined in section

820 of the Act) of the DeepVerge Directors and their immediate families, related trusts and

connected persons (within the meaning of section 252 of the Act), all of which are beneficial

unless otherwise stated, in relevant securities of DeepVerge were (with the exception of options

in respect of DeepVerge Shares which are set out in paragraph 3.2 below) as follows:

                                                                                                      Number of  New      % of  issued
Name                                                                                        DeepVerge Shares     share capital

Ross Andrews                                                                                           323,846               0.29%

Gerard Brandon                                                                                      5,129,901               4.52%

Camillus Glover                                                                                      4,250,670               3.74%

Fionan Murray                                                                                        8,786,757               7.74%

3.2     Interests of  DeepVerge Directors in options over DeepVerge Shares

As at the close of business on the Latest Practicable Date, the following options in respect of

DeepVerge Shares had been granted to the following DeepVerge Directors for nil consideration

and remained outstanding under the DeepVerge share option schemes:

                                                           Number of                          
                                              DeepVerge Shares  Exercise price                                                   
Name                                              under option               (pence)   Date Granted       Expiry Date

Ross Andrews                                          31,920                      50      5 April 2017      5 April 2027

Ross Andrews                                          31,920                      60      5 April 2017      5 April 2027

3.3     Interests of  persons acting in concert with DeepVerge in relevant securities of  DeepVerge

Pursuant to their roles as Financial Adviser and Broker respectively to DeepVerge, SPARK and

Turner Pope are deemed to be acting in concert with DeepVerge. As members of Mr. Fionan

Murray’s family, Susan Murray and Joseph Murray are deemed to be acting in concert with

DeepVerge. As at the close of business on the Latest Practicable Date, the persons set out below

who are acting in concert with DeepVerge were interested in, or held rights to subscribe for, relevant

securities of DeepVerge as follows:

Ordinary Shares

Name                                                                                                                            % of  issued
                                                                                                  Number of  shares     share capital

SPARK                                                                                                       584,615               0.51%

Joseph Murray                                                                                           853,660               0.75%

Susan Murray                                                                                              71,707               0.06%

Warrants
                                                   Number of                                                                                     
                                                  DeepVerge                                                                                     
                                                         Shares     Exercise                                                                   
                                                           under           price                                                                   
Name                                               warrant        (pence)           Date Granted              Expiry Date

Turner Pope                                   527,999               15    16 December 2019   16 December 2022

Turner Pope                                  180,000           62.5               5 April 2017             5 April 2022

Turner Pope                                    30,000              15         5 January 2018        5 January 2023

Turner Pope                                  814,285              14               2 May 2019              2 May 2022
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3.4     Interests of  Modern Water Directors in relevant securities of  DeepVerge

As at the close of business on the Latest Practicable Date, the interests of the Modern Water

Directors and their immediate families, related trusts and connected persons in the relevant

securities of DeepVerge or rights to subscribe for relevant securities of DeepVerge (within the

meaning of section 252 of the Act) were as follows:

                                                                                                              Number of      % of  issued
Name                                                                                        DeepVerge Shares     share capital

Gerard Brandon                                                                                      5,129,901               4.53%

Dr Nigel Burton                                                                                            74,596               0.07%

Warrants
                                                   Number of                                                                                     
                                                  DeepVerge                                                                                     
                                                         Shares     Exercise                                                                   
                                                           under           price                                                                   
Name                                               warrant        (pence)           Date Granted              Expiry Date

Dr Nigel Burton                               178,571               20                2 May 2019               2 May 2021

3.5     Interests of  persons acting in concert with Modern Water in relevant securities of
DeepVerge

Pursuant to its role as Broker to Modern Water, Turner Pope is deemed to be acting in concert

with Modern Water. As at the close of business on the Latest Practicable Date, the following

warrants in respect of DeepVerge Shares had been granted to Turner Pope in exchange for

services as Broker and Placing Agent for nil consideration and remained outstanding:

                                                   Number of                                                    
                                                  DeepVerge                                                                                     
                                                         Shares     Exercise                                                                   
                                                           under           price                                                                   
Name                                               warrant        (pence)           Date Granted              Expiry Date

Turner Pope                                   527,999              15   16 December 2019  16 December 2022

Turner Pope                                   180,000           62.5               5 April 2017             5 April 2022

Turner Pope                                     30,000              15         5 January 2018        5 January 2023

Turner Pope                                   814,285              14               2 May 2019              2 May 2022

4.       Interests in Modern Water Shares

4.1     Interests of  Modern Water Directors in relevant securities of  Modern Water

As at the close of business on the Latest Practicable Date, the interests (as defined in section

820 of the Act) of Modern Water Directors and their immediate families, related trusts and

connected persons, all of which are beneficial unless otherwise stated, in relevant securities of

Modern Water were (with the exception of options in respect of Modern Water Shares which are

set out in paragraph 4.2 below) as follows:

                                                                                                              Number of      % of  issued
Name                                                                                   Modern Water Shares     share capital

Simon Humphrey                                                                                    1,882,000               0.36%

Nigel Burton                                                                                            4,300,000               0.82%

Gerard Brandon                                                                                    10,000,000               1.91%

Under the terms of Nigel Burton’s service contract with Modern Water, he is entitled to receive

his salary of £30,000 per annum for the two years from 20 February 2020 in Modern Water

Shares at an issue price of 0.5 pence per Modern Water Share. Upon a change of control, these

amounts fall due to be settled, to the extent not already settled, by the issue of 12,000,000

Modern Water Shares at an issue price of 0.5 pence per Modern Water Share.

Under the terms of Gerard Brandon’s service contract with Modern Water, he is entitled to receive

his salary of £50,000 per annum for the two years from 4 March 2020 in Modern Water Shares

at an issue price of 0.5 pence per Modern Water Share. Upon a change of control, these amounts
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fall due to be settled, to the extend not already settled, by the issue of 20,000,000 Modern Water

Shares at an issue price of 0.5 pence per Modern Water Share.

Other than as disclosed in the table above and in paragraph 4.2 below, no Modern Water Director

has any interest in the issued share capital of Modern Water.

4.2     Interests of  Modern Water Directors in options over Modern Water Shares

The following Modern Water Directors have been granted share options/awards under the

Modern Water Share Scheme that are outstanding as at the close of business on the Latest

Practicable Date, as set out below:

                                                          Number                                                                                  
                                                      of  Modern    Exercise                                                                 
                                                 Water Shares          price                                                                 
Name                                        under warrant       (pence)         Date Granted              Expiry Date

Simon Humphrey                               400,000            0.0           28 April 2017           28 April 2027

Simon Humphrey                               400,000            0.0           26 April 2019           26 April 2029

4.3     Interests of  persons acting in concert with Modern Water in relevant securities of  Modern
Water

Pursuant to its role as Broker to Modern Water, Turner Pope is deemed to be acting in concert

with Modern Water. As at the close of business on the Latest Practicable Date, the following

Modern Water Shares were held by Turner Pope, and the following warrants in respect of Modern

Water Shares are held by Turner Pope and remained outstanding:

4.3.1  Ordinary Shares

                                                                                                    Number of      % of  issued
Name                                                                        Modern Water Shares     share capital

Turner Pope                                                                               15,500,000               2.95%

4.3.2  Warrants
                               Number                                                                                           % of
                           of  Modern   Exercise                                                                        issued
                        Water Shares         price                                                                               share 
Name             under warrant     (pence)       Date Granted            Expiry Date           capital

Turner Pope       70,500,000            0.5      31 March 2020  16 February 2023         13.42%

Turner Pope            540,000            6.5   21 January 2019    24 January 2021           0.10%

4.4     Interests of  DeepVerge Directors in relevant securities of  Modern Water

As at the close of business on the Latest Practicable Date prior to the publication of this

document) the interests of the DeepVerge Directors and their immediate families, related trusts

and connected persons in relevant securities of Modern Water or rights to subscribe for relevant

Securities of Modern Water (within the meaning of section 252 of the Act) were as follows:

                                                                                                              Number of      % of  issued
Name                                                                                   Modern Water Shares     share capital

Gerard Brandon                                                                                    10,000,000               1.91%

Details of Modern Water Shares to which Mr Brandon is entitled under his service contract are

set out in paragraph 4.1 of this Part VIII.

4.5     Interests of  persons acting in concert with DeepVerge in relevant securities of  Modern
Water

Pursuant to its role as Broker to DeepVerge, Turner Pope is deemed to be a connected adviser,

and hence acting in concert with DeepVerge. As at the close of business on the Latest

Practicable Date, the following Modern Water Shares were held by, and the following outstanding

warrants in respect of Modern Water Shares had been granted for nil consideration to, Turner

Pope:
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4.5.1  Ordinary Shares
                                                                                                    Number of      % of  issued
Name                                                                        Modern Water Shares     share capital

Turner Pope                                                                               15,500,000               2.95%

4.5.2  Warrants

                              Number                                                                                            % of
                          of  Modern   Exercise                                                                       issued
                     Water Shares          price                                                                        share
Name            under warrant      (pence)       Date Granted            Expiry Date           capital

Turner Pope      70,500,000             0.5      31 March 2020  16 February 2023         13.42%

Turner Pope           540,000             6.5   21 January 2019    24 January 2021           0.10%

5.       Shareholder structure                                                                                                                    

5.1     As at the close of business on the Latest Practicable Date, Modern Water had been notified of

the following substantial interests in Modern Water Shares:

                                                                                                                                                 % of
                                                                                                              Number of     issued share
Name                                                                                  Modern Water Shares               capital

JIM Nominees Ltd                                                                                67,065,283             12.78%

Lynchwood Nominees Ltd*                                                                   72,075,000             13.74%

Hargreaves Lansdown (Nominees) Ltd Des:15942                             47,106,688               8.98%

Hargreaves Lansdown (Nominees) Ltd Des:HLNOM                          33,755,255               6.43%

Hargreaves Lansdown (Nominees) Ltd Des:VRA                                26,095,529               4.97%

Barclays Direct Investing Nominees Ltd Des:CLIENT1                       27,116,620               5.17%

HSBC Client Holdings Nominee (UK) Ltd Des:731504                       21,307,465               4.06%

Interactive Investor Services Nominees 

Ltd Des:SMKTNOMS                                                                        18,562,081               3.54%

HSDL Nominees Ltd                                                                             17,797,681               3.39%

* of which Helium Rising Stars Fund hold 71,100,000 Modern Water Shares, representing 13.55% of the current issued

share capital.

5.2     As at the close of business on the Latest Practicable Date, DeepVerge had been notified of the

following substantial interests in DeepVerge Shares:

                                                                                                             Number of                 % of
                                                                                                             DeepVerge   issued share
Name                                                                                                          Shares               capital

Fionan Murray                                                                                       8,786,757               7.74%

Helium Rising Stars Limited                                                                  3,761,943               3.31%

Gerard Brandon                                                                                     5,129,901               4.52%

Camillus Glover                                                                                     4,250,670               3.74%

5.3     Following full implementation of the Offer the following substantial interests in DeepVerge Shares

are expected:

As at Admission
                                                                                                              Number of                  % of  
                                                                                                             DeepVerge     issued share
Name                                                                                                          Shares               capital

Fionan Murray                                                                                       8,786,757               5.29%

Helium Rising Stars Limited                                                                 10,871,943               6.55%

Gerard Brandon                                                                                     6,129,901               3.69%

Camillus Glover                                                                                     4,250,670               2.56%

JIM Nominees Ltd                                                                                  6,679,449               4.02%

Lynchwood Nominees Ltd*                                                                    7,207,500               4.34%

* of which 7,110,000 relate to Helium Rising Stars Fund.

2.4.2

2.4.2

5.6.1

4.6.4

5.6.1
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6.       Dealings in Modern Water Shares

6.1     Dealings in relevant securities of  Modern Water by Modern Water Directors

The table below sets out the dealings in the relevant securities of Modern Water during the

Disclosure Period by Modern Water, the Modern Water Directors or their immediate families,

related trusts and connected persons:

Date                                                                                Name     Type of  Dealing            Quantity

17 February 2020                                            Dr Nigel Burton           Subscription          4,000,000

17 February 2020                                          Gerard Brandon           Subscription        10,000,000

6.2     Dealings in relevant securities of  Modern Water by persons acting in concert with Modern
Water

The table below sets out the dealings in the relevant securities of Modern Water during the

Disclosure Period by persons acting in concert with Modern Water:

                                                                                                                                                 Price
Date                             Name                 Type of  Dealing                              Quantity          (pence)

17 February 2020        Turner Pope       Shares in lieu of annual fee         6,000,000               0.5

17 February 2020        Turner Pope       Shares in lieu of annual fee         2,000,000               0.5

24 March 2020             Turner Pope       Sale                                              3,000,000           0.625

27 March 2020             Turner Pope       Sale                                              3,000,000           0.745

20 May 2020                Turner Pope       Sale                                              3,000,000             2.27

21 May 2020                Turner Pope       Sale                                              4,000,000         2.1675

26 May 2020                Turner Pope       Sale                                              2,500,000         2.1637

27 May 2020                Turner Pope       Sale                                                 250,000             1.95

28 May 2020                Turner Pope       Purchase                                         750,000           1.875

29 May 2020                Turner Pope       Purchase                                         500,000             1.78

2 June 2020                 Turner Pope       Exercise of warrants                   22,000,000               0.5

3 July 2020                  Turner Pope       Sale                                              1,000,000          2.1125

17 July 2020                Turner Pope       Purchase                                      1,000,000       1.90258

6.3     Dealings in relevant securities of  Modern Water by DeepVerge and the DeepVerge
Directors

The table below sets out the dealings in the relevant securities of Modern Water during the

Disclosure Period by DeepVerge, the DeepVerge Directors or their immediate families, related

trusts and connected persons:

Date                                            Name                     Type of  Dealing                                 Quantity

17 February 2020                      Gerard Brandon     Subscription                                  10,000,000

6.4     Dealings in relevant securities of  Modern Water by persons acting in concert with
DeepVerge

The table below sets out the dealings in the relevant securities of Modern Water during the

Disclosure Period by persons acting in concert with DeepVerge:

                                                                                                                                                 Price
Date                             Name                 Type of  Dealing                              Quantity          (pence)

17 February 2020        Turner Pope       Shares in lieu of annual fee         6,000,000               0.5

17 February 2020        Turner Pope       Shares in lieu of annual fee         2,000,000               0.5

24 March 2020             Turner Pope       Sale                                              3,000,000           0.625

27 March 2020             Turner Pope       Sale                                              3,000,000           0.745

20 May 2020                Turner Pope       Sale                                              3,000,000             2.27

21 May 2020                Turner Pope       Sale                                              4,000,000         2.1675

26 May 2020                Turner Pope       Sale                                              2,500,000         2.1637

27 May 2020                Turner Pope       Sale                                                 250,000             1.95

28 May 2020                Turner Pope       Purchase                                         750,000           1.875

29 May 2020                Turner Pope       Purchase                                         500,000             1.78

2 June 2020                 Turner Pope       Exercise of warrants                   22,000,000               0.5

3 July 2020                  Turner Pope       Sale                                              1,000,000          2.1125

17 July 2020                Turner Pope       Purchase                                      1,000,000       1.90258
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6.5     Irrevocable Undertakings

Irrevocable undertakings (“Irrevocable Undertakings”) to accept, or procure the acceptance of,

the Offer have been received by DeepVerge from the following persons in respect of the following

interests in Modern Water Shares:

6.5.1  Modern Water Directors and the following shareholders:

                                                                       Number of  Modern        % of  Modern Water 
Name                                                                       Water Shares         issued share capital

Simon Humphrey                                                          1,882,000                               0.36%

Nigel Burton                                                                  4,300,000                               0.82%

Gerard Brandon                                                          10,000,000                               1.91%

6.5.2  Further details of  Irrevocable Undertakings

All of the undertakings in paragraphs 6.5.1 above will cease to have effect in the event that

(i) the Announcement is not released by 11.59 p.m. on 28 August 2020, (ii) the Offer

document has not been posted within 28 days of the date of the Announcement, or such

later time as may be agreed by the Panel, (iii) any competing offer is made which is

declared wholly unconditional (if implemented by way of a takeover offer) or otherwise

becomes effective (if implemented by way of a scheme of arrangement) or (iv) if the Offer

is withdrawn or lapses.

7.       Dealings in DeepVerge Shares

7.1     Dealings in relevant securities of  DeepVerge by DeepVerge Directors

The table below shows dealings in the relevant securities of DeepVerge during the Disclosure

Period by the DeepVerge Directors and their immediate families, related trusts and connected

persons.

                                                                                                                                          Price per
                                                                                                         Number of      Old DeepVerge 
                                                                                                  Old DeepVerge                     Share  
Date                                                      Name                         Shares acquired                    (pence)

20 March 2020                                     Ross Andrews                      1,000,000                        0.89

18 March 2020                                     Gerard Brandon                   1,100,000                        0.83

16 December 2019                              Gerard Brandon                  1,084,511*                          1.5

16 December 2019                              Camillus Glover                  1,084,510*                          1.5

16 December 2019                              Fionan Murray                     1,084,510*                          1.5

* Shares subscribed for pursuant to the placing and subscription announced 9 December 2019
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7.2     Dealings in relevant securities of  DeepVerge by Modern Water Directors

The table below shows dealings in the relevant securities of DeepVerge during the Disclosure

Period by the Modern Water Directors and their immediate families, related trusts and connected

persons. As Gerard Brandon sits on the Board of both DeepVerge and Modern Water, the below

disclosure is a duplicate of that detailed in 7.1 above.

                                                                                                                                          Price per
                                                                                                         Number of      Old DeepVerge 
                                                                                                  Old DeepVerge                     Share  
Date                                                      Name                         Shares acquired                    (pence)

18 March 2020                                     Gerard Brandon                   1,100,000                        0.83

16 December 2019                              Gerard Brandon                  1,084,511*                          1.5

* Shares subscribed for pursuant to the placing and subscription announced 9 December 2019

8.       Interests and dealings – General

8.1     As at the last day of the Disclosure Period, save as disclosed in this document, neither

DeepVerge, nor any of the DeepVerge Directors, nor any member of their immediate families,

related trusts or (so far as the DeepVerge Directors are aware) connected persons nor any

persons acting in concert with DeepVerge nor any person with whom DeepVerge or any person

acting in concert with DeepVerge has an arrangement had an interest in or right to subscribe for

any relevant securities of DeepVerge or Modern Water (whether conditional or absolute and

whether in the money or otherwise), including any short position under a derivative, any

agreement to sell or any delivery obligation or right to acquire another person to purchase or take

delivery, nor had any of the foregoing dealt in any relevant securities of DeepVerge or Modern

Water during the Disclosure Period.

8.2     As at the last day of the Disclosure Period, save as disclosed in this document, neither

DeepVerge nor any person acting in concert with DeepVerge has borrowed or lent (including for

these purposes any financial collateral arrangements of the kind referred to in Note 4 to Rule 4.6

of the Code) any relevant securities of Modern Water or DeepVerge.

8.3     As at the last day of the Disclosure Period, save as disclosed in this document, neither Modern

Water, nor any of Modern Water Directors, nor any member of their immediate families, related

trusts nor (so far as Modern Water Directors are aware) connected persons had an interest or

right to subscribe for relevant securities of Modern Water or any relevant securities of DeepVerge

(whether conditional or absolute and whether in the money or otherwise), including any short

position under a derivative, any agreement to sell or any delivery obligation or right to require

another person to purchase or take delivery, nor had any of the foregoing dealt in any relevant

securities of Modern Water or any relevant securities of DeepVerge during the Disclosure Period.

8.4     As at the last day of the Disclosure Period, save as disclosed in this document, no person acting

in concert with Modern Water and no person with whom Modern Water (or anyone acting in

concert with Modern Water) has an arrangement had an interest in or right to subscribe for any

relevant securities of Modern Water or DeepVerge (whether conditional or absolute and whether

in the money or otherwise), including any short position under a derivative, any agreement to sell

or any delivery obligation or right to require another person to purchase or take delivery, nor had

any of the foregoing dealt in any relevant securities of Modern Water or DeepVerge during the

Disclosure Period.

8.5     As at the last day of the Disclosure Period, save as disclosed in this document, neither Modern

Water nor any person acting in concert with Modern Water has borrowed or lent (including for

these purposes any financial collateral arrangements of the kind referred to in Note 4 to Rule 4.6

of the Code) any relevant securities of Modern Water or DeepVerge.

8.6     As at the last day of the Disclosure Period, save as disclosed in this document, there were no

arrangements between Modern Water or any person acting in concert with Modern Water and

any other person.
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8.7     As at the last day of the Disclosure Period, Modern Water has not redeemed or purchased any

Modern Water Shares or any securities convertible into, rights to subscribe for or options in

respect of, or derivatives referenced to Modern Water Shares during the Disclosure Period.

8.8     As at the last day of the Disclosure Period, DeepVerge has not redeemed or purchased any

DeepVerge Shares or any securities convertible into, rights to subscribe for or options in respect

of, or derivatives referenced to DeepVerge Shares between the commencement of the Offer

Period and the last day of the Disclosure Period.

8.9     Since 1 January 2019 there have been no public takeover bids by third parties in respect of

DeepVerge’s share capital.

8.10   For the purposes of this Part VII:

(a)      “acting in concert” has the meaning set out in the Code;

(b)      “arrangement” has the meaning set out in Note 11 to the definition of acting in concert;

(c)      “dealing” or “dealt” includes the following:

(i)       the acquisition or disposal of securities;

(ii)      the taking, granting, acquisition, disposal, entering into, closing out, termination,

exercise (by either party) or variation of an option (including a traded option

contract) in respect of any relevant securities;

(iii)      subscribing or agreeing to subscribe for relevant securities;

(iv)     the exercise or conversion, whether in respect of new or existing relevant securities,

of any relevant securities carrying conversion or subscription rights;

(v)      the acquisition of, disposal of, entering into, closing out, exercise (by either party) of

any rights under, or variation of, a derivative referenced, directly or indirectly, to

relevant securities;

(vi)     entering into, terminating or varying the terms of any agreement to purchase or sell

relevant securities; and

(vii)     any other action resulting, or which may result, in an increase or decrease in the

number of relevant securities in which a person is interested or in respect of which

he has a short position;

(d)      “derivative” includes any financial product whose value, in whole or in part, is determined

directly or indirectly by reference to the price of an underlying security;

(e)      “Disclosure Period” means the period commencing on 28 August 2019 (being the date 12

months prior to the commencement of the Offer Period) and ending on the Latest

Practicable Date;

(f)       “relevant securities of DeepVerge” means DeepVerge Shares and securities convertible

into, or rights to subscribe for, options (including traded options) in respect thereof and

derivatives referenced thereto;

(g)      “relevant securities of Modern Water” means Modern Water Shares and securities

convertible into, or rights to subscribe for, options (including traded options) in respect

thereof and derivatives referenced thereto;

(h)      ownership or control of 20 per cent. or more of the equity share capital is regarded as the

test of associated company status and “control” means an interest or interests in shares

carrying 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights attributable to the share capital of a

company which are currently exercisable at a general meeting, irrespective of whether the

holding or aggregate holding gives de facto control; and

(i)       a person is treated as having an “interest in relevant securities” if he has long economic

exposure, whether absolute or conditional, to changes in the price of those securities (and

4.3.3
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a person who only has a short position in securities is not treated as interested in those

securities). In particular, a person is treated as “interested” in securities if:

(i)       he owns them;

(ii)      he has the right (whether conditional or absolute) to exercise or direct the exercise

of the voting rights attaching to them or has general control of them;

(iii)      by virtue of any agreement to purchase, option or derivative, he;

(A)      has the right or option to acquire them or call for their delivery; or

(B)      is under an obligation to take delivery of them,

whether the right, option or obligation is conditional or absolute and whether it is in

the money or otherwise; or

(iv)     he is a party to any derivative:

(A)      whose value is determined by reference to their price; and

(B)      which results, or may result, in his having a long position in them.

9.       Market quotations

The following table shows the Modern Water Closing Price and the DeepVerge Closing Price as derived

from the data aggregations services on:

(a)      the first business day of each of the six months immediately prior to the date of this document;

(b)      27 August 2020, being the last business day prior to the commencement of the Offer Period; and

(c)      the Latest Practicable Date:

                                                                          Price per Modern                                    Price per 
Date                                                              Water Share (pence)         DeepVerge Share (pence)*

1 May 2020                                                                            1.10                                            1.55

1 June 2020                                                                           1.95                                          1.825

1 July 2020                                                                           1.75                                         1.725

3 August 2020                                                                      2.025                                            2.05

27 August 2020                                                                      2.80                                            4.05

1 September 2020                                                                 3.25                                            3.40

1 October 2020                                                                    3.125                                            33.5

12 October 2020                                                                    2.95                                            30.5

*For dates prior to 16 September 2020, the prices above are for Old DeepVerge Shares (i.e. before the 10:1 Share

Consolidation).

10.     Material contracts                                                                                                                           

10.1   The following contracts (not being in the ordinary course of business) have been entered into by

the members of the DeepVerge Group in the two years preceding the date of this document and

are or may be material or contain any provision under which any member of the DeepVerge

Group has an obligation or entitlement which is or may be material to such member of the

DeepVerge Group as at the date of this document:

(i)       Pursuant to the terms of an asset purchase agreement (“Enhance APA”) between,

amongst others, the Company, Integumen, Inc. and Enhance Skin Products, Inc

(“Enhance”) dated 1 October 2016, Integumen, Inc. acquired substantially all of its assets

and certain liabilities relating to its Visible Youth product. (“Assumed Liabilities”). The

Company guaranteed to Enhance the due and punctual performance, observance and

discharge by Integumen, Inc. of all of Integumen, Inc.’s obligations under the Enhance

APA. Despite the terms of the Enhance APA, most of the liabilities were not formally

assigned or novated from Enhance to Integumen, Inc.

4.4.4
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On 12 April 2019, the Company entered into a debt settlement and release agreement

(“Enhance Settlement Agreement”) with Enhance, Donald Nicholson, Dr Samuel S. Asculai

and Drasko Puseljic (the “Releasing Parties”).

Under the terms of the Enhance Settlement Agreement, the Releasing Parties agreed, in

full and final satisfaction of the Assumed Liabilities and certain other liabilities owed to the

Releasing Parties under the terms of the Enhance APA, to accept from DeepVerge (as

guarantor of Integumen, Inc.’s obligations):

1.       a total cash sum of £198,595, of which £66,800 was paid to Enhance and £131,795

was paid direct to other creditors of Enhance in respect of the Assumed Liabilities;

2.       the issue and allotment of 19,708,858 Old DeepVerge Shares in satisfaction of a

further £275,924 owed to Enhance and other creditors of Enhance in respect of the

Assumed Liabilities, of which 8,439,072 Old DeepVerge Shares were issued to

Enhance and 11,269,786 Old DeepVerge Shares were issued direct to the other

creditors; and

3.       the transfer of the entire issued share capital of Visible Youth Limited from the

Company to Enhance.

The Company gave certain warranties and undertakings to Enhance in relation to Visible

Youth Limited, Visible Youth Ireland Limited and Integumen, Inc.

Conditional on the cash payments being made and 19,708,858 Old DeepVerge Shares

being issued, the Releasing Parties agreed to release Integumen, Inc. and the Company

from all indebtedness, liabilities, obligations, actions, rights, causes of action, damages,

claims, set-offs and demands whatsoever, whether in England and Wales or elsewhere,

whether or not presently known to them or to the law, and whether in law or equity, which

the Releasing Parties had, have or can, shall or may have, including but not limited to all

indebtedness, liabilities, obligations, actions, rights, causes of action, damages, claims,

set-offs and demands arising out of or connected with the Enhance APA or any other

matter arising out of or connected with the relationship between the Company, Integumen,

Inc. and the Releasing Parties.

Under the terms of the Enhance Settlement Agreement, it was also agreed that the right to

repayment of an intercompany loan owing from Integumen, Inc. to the Company would be

novated from the Company to Visible Youth Limited in consideration for the payment of £1.00.

(ii)      Pursuant to a services provision agreement dated 1 December 2016 between DeepVerge

and Mercuriali Limited (“Mercuriali”) DeepVerge owed Mercuriali certain fees and

expenses (“Fees and Expenses”). DeepVerge and Donald Nicholson were also parties to

a letter of appointment dated 29 March 2017 appointing Donald Nicholson as a director

of DeepVerge. The Company had not paid the fee (“Appointment Fee”) under the letter of

appointment since 31 December 2017.

Under the terms of debt settlement and release agreement between the Company,

Mercuriali and Donald Nicholson dated 12 April 2019 (“Mercuriali Settlement Agreement”)

Mercuriali and Donald Nicholson agreed, in full and final satisfaction of the Fees and

Expenses and the Appointment Fee, to accept from DeepVerge:

1.       a cash payment to Mercuriali of £31,878;

2.       the issue and allotment to Donald Nicholson of 3,928,571 Old DeepVerge Shares;

and

3.       a cash payment to Donald Nicholson of £8,000 (net of any tax and national

insurance).

Conditional on the cash payments being made and 3,928,571 Old DeepVerge Shares

being issued, Mercuriali and Donald Nicholson agreed to release the Company from all

indebtedness, liabilities, obligations, actions, rights, causes of action, damages, claims,

set-offs and demands whatsoever, whether in England and Wales or elsewhere, whether
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or not presently known to them or to the law, and whether in law or equity, which Mercuriali

and Donald Nicholson had, have or can, shall or may have, including but not limited to all

indebtedness, liabilities, obligations, actions, rights, causes of action, damages, claims,

set-offs and demands arising out of or connected with the services provision agreement

and the letter of appointment or any other matter arising out of or connected with the

relationship between the Company, Mercuriali and Donald Nicholson.

(iii)      Pursuant to a share purchase and assignment agreement dated 14 September 2018

between (1) the Company and (2) MediNova AG (“MediNova”), the Company agreed to

sell the entire issued share capital of TSpro GmbH (“TSpro”) to MediNova in consideration

for the payment of €1.00. The sale of TSpro was conditional on MediNova divesting itself

of its holding of DeepVerge Shares. The Company gave limited warranties in favour of

MediNova in respect of the shares in TSpro. The share purchase and assignment

agreement is governed by the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany.

(iv)     Venn Life Sciences Limited (“Venn”) was owed £421,000 by the Company in respect of

liabilities that were assumed by the Company when it acquired Innovenn (UK) Limited from

Venn. Pursuant to an agreement dated 12 April 2019 between (1) the Company and

(2) Venn it was agreed to convert the above sum into 30,071,428 Old DeepVerge Shares.

Venn agreed that any disposal of DeepVerge Shares held by them for the two years from

2 May 2019 would be effected through the Company’s broker so as to ensure an orderly

market in DeepVerge Shares.

(v)      On 4 March 2019 the Company acquired specialised hi-tech laboratory equipment from

Cellulac Limited (“Cellulac”) in consideration of which the Company issued Cellulac with

£400,000 of secured loan notes. On 2 May 2019 Cellulac converted these loan notes into

26,666,666 Old DeepVerge Shares at an issue price of 1.5 pence per DeepVerge Share

and the security was released.

(vi)     On 12 April 2019, the Company also entered into a number of ancillary assignment and

settlement agreements and settlement agreements with other creditors of Enhance in

respect of the Assumed Liabilities but these do not result in payments or issues of

DeepVerge Shares in excess of those provided for in the Enhance Settlement Agreement.

(vii)     Pursuant to two conditional share purchase agreements dated 12 April 2019 between

(i) the Company and Fionán Murray, Colin O’Sullivan, James O’Sullivan and Jon Carroll

and (ii) the Company and all the remaining shareholders of Rinocloud Limited the

Company agreed to acquire the entire issued share capital of Rinocloud for the sum of

£3,000,000 which was satisfied by the issue of 214,285,714 Old DeepVerge Shares at an

issue price of 1.4 pence per DeepVerge Share.

(viii)    Pursuant to a lock-in agreement dated 12 April 2019 between (1) the Company,

(2) SPARK, (3) Turner Pope and (4) certain shareholders of Rinocloud (being Fionán

Murray, Eoin Murray, Helena Dominguez Morales, Enterprise Ireland, James O’Sullivan,

Colin O’Sullivan, Jon Carroll, Munster Pensioneer Trustees Limited, Susan Murray, James

Corcoran, Joseph Murray, Ron Immink and Shenzhen Intebridge Cambridge Technology

Investment Fund LLP) (together “the Rinocloud Locked-In Persons”) the Rinocloud

Locked-In persons agreed not to, and to procure that their related parties would not,

dispose of any interests in DeepVerge Shares held by them for 12 months following

Admission (as defined therein). For the following 12 month period, the Rinocloud Locked-

In Persons agreed not to, and to procure that their related parties would not, dispose of

any interest in DeepVerge Shares held by them unless such disposals were effected

through the Company’s broker so as to ensure an orderly market in DeepVerge Shares.

The above restrictions do not apply in certain limited circumstances, including disposals by

way of acceptance of a recommended takeover offer for the entire issued share capital of

the Company.

(ix)     Pursuant to a lock-in agreement dated 12 April 2019 between (1) SPARK, (2) Turner Pope,

(3) the Company and (4) Cellulac, Cellulac agreed not to, and to procure that its related

parties would not, dispose of any interests in DeepVerge Shares held by it for 12 months

following Admission (as defined therein). For the following 12 month period, Cellulac
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agreed not to, and to procure that its related parties would not, dispose of any interest in

DeepVerge Shares held by it unless such disposals were effected through the Company’s

broker so as to ensure an orderly market in DeepVerge Shares. The above restrictions do

not apply in certain limited circumstances, including disposals by way of acceptance of a

recommended takeover offer for the entire issued share capital of the Company.

(x)      Pursuant to a placing agreement dated 12 April 2019 between (1) the Company, (2) Turner

Pope and (3) SPARK Turner Pope agreed to use its reasonable endeavours, as agent for

the Company, to procure placees for 162,061,646 Old DeepVerge Shares by way of

conditional and firm placings. This agreement contained warranties from the Company in

favour of Turner Pope and SPARK in relation to, inter alia, the accuracy of the information

in a related circular to the Company’s shareholders and other matters relating to the

Company and its business. In addition, the Company agreed to indemnify Turner Pope and

SPARK in relation to certain liabilities they might incur in respect of such placing.

Under the terms of this agreement, the Company:

1.       issued warrants to Turner Pope to subscribe for an aggregate of 8,142,857

DeepVerge Shares (before the Share Consolidation) at an exercise price of 1.4

pence per Old DeepVerge Share at any time between 2 May 2019 and 2 May 2022;

and

2.       issued warrants to subscribers in the placing and certain other investors in the

Company to subscribe for an aggregate of 98,214,285 Old DeepVerge Shares at an

exercise price of 2.0 pence per Old DeepVerge Share at any time between 2 May

2019 and 2 May 2021.

(xi)     Pursuant to a placing agreement dated 9 December 2019 between (1) the Company,

(2) Turner Pope and (3) SPARK Turner Pope agreed to use its reasonable endeavours, as

agent for the Company, to procure placees for 87,999,999 Old DeepVerge Shares by way

of conditional and firm placings. This agreement contained warranties from the Company

in favour of Turner Pope and SPARK in relation to, inter alia, the accuracy of the

information in a related circular to the Company’s shareholders and other matters relating

to the Company and its business. In addition, the Company agreed to indemnify Turner

Pope and SPARK in relation to certain liabilities they might incur in respect of such placing.

Under the terms of this agreement the Company issued warrants to Turner Pope to subscribe

for an aggregate of 5,279,999 Old DeepVerge Shares at an exercise price of 1.5 pence per

DeepVerge Share at any time between 16 December 2019 and 16 December 2022.

(xii)     Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 12 June 2020 between (1) the Company and (2)

Cellulac Limited, Cellulac Limited agreed to lend the Company the sum of £400,000 at an

interest rate of 5% per annum for a term of two years. This loan is unsecured. The loan

may be drawn down in four monthly instalments of £100,000 each with effect from 30 June

2020 to 30 September 2020. No instalments were drawn down by the Company.

(xiii)    Pursuant to an investment agreement dated 28 July 2020 between (1) the Company,

(2) Riverfort Global Opportunities PCC Limited (“Riverfort”) and YA II PN, Ltd (“YA II”)

Riverfort and YA II (“Lenders”) agreed to lend the Company up to £3 million for a term of

three years of which the Company has made an initial drawdown of £1,500,000.

Interest applies on the amounts drawn down at a rate of 1.05% per month and each

drawdown must be repaid in full by the second anniversary of drawdown or, if earlier,

28 July 2023. No repayments may be made within the six months following each

drawdown. An implementation fee of 2.5% applies to each amount drawn down.

The Lenders may elect, at their discretion, after the first six months following drawdown,

to convert up to 63.3% of each amount drawn down into Old DeepVerge Shares at a price

representing a 50% premium to the average daily volume weighted average price for the

previous 5 days’ trading in Old DeepVerge Shares. In relation to the initial drawdown of

£1.5 million, up to £950,000 may be converted into Old DeepVerge Shares at an exercise

price of 2.9754 pence per share.
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Under this agreement the Lenders have been granted warrants to subscribe for 1,890,502

DeepVerge Shares at 25.7868 pence per share. Further warrants will be issuable to the

Lenders if the Company makes a further drawdown under this facility, the number of

DeepVerge Shares over which such warrants may be exercised being equal (at the

Warrant Reference Price) to 25% of the value of the amount drawn down by the Company

pursuant to this agreement. The Warrant Reference Price is the lower of (i) 1.9836 pence

and (ii) the closing mid-market price of the DeepVerge Shares on the day preceding the

date of grant of the Warrants.

The warrants may be exercised during the period of four years from the date on which the

warrant exercise becomes unconditional. The warrant exercise price is at a 30% premium

to the Warrant Reference Price being 2.57868 pence.

10.2   The following contracts (not being in the ordinary course of business) has been entered into by

a member of the Modern Water Group in the two years preceding the date of this document and

which is or may be material for disclosure:

(a)      Pursuant to a placing agreement dated 24 January 2020 between (1) Modern Water and

(2) Turner Pope, Turner Pope agreed to use its reasonable endeavours, as agent for the

Modern Water, to procure placees for 370,000,000 Modern Water Shares by way of a

conditional placing at 0.5 pence per share. This agreement contained customary

warranties and indemnities given by the Modern Water in favour of Turner Pope. This

agreement was conditional upon, among other things, none of the warranties or

undertakings given to Turner Pope being or becoming untrue, inaccurate or misleading in

any material respect. Turner Pope had the right to terminate this agreement in certain

circumstances prior to Admission (as defined therein), in particular, in the event of a

material breach of the warranties, a material adverse change in the financial position or

prospects of the Modern Water Group taken as a whole or if the agreement did not become

unconditional.

The agreement provided for Turner Pope to receive a cash commission equal to 7 per

cent. of the gross aggregate value of the funds raised from investors in the placing. In

addition, it received 92,500,000 non-transferable subscription warrants exercisable at

0.5 pence per share during the period of 3 years following Admission (as defined therein).

(b)      Pursuant to a placing agreement dated 3 September 2019 between (1) Modern Water and

(2) Turner Pope, Turner Pope agreed to use its reasonable endeavours, as agent for the

Modern Water, to procure placees for 11,335,746 Modern Water Shares by way of a

conditional placing at 1.25 pence per share. This agreement contained customary

warranties and indemnities given by the Modern Water in favour of Turner Pope. This

agreement was conditional upon, among other things, none of the warranties or

undertakings given to Turner Pope being or becoming untrue, inaccurate or misleading in

any material respect. Turner Pope had the right to terminate this agreement in certain

circumstances prior to Admission (as defined therein), in particular, in the event of a

material breach of the warranties, a material adverse change in the financial position or

prospects of the Modern Water Group taken as a whole or if the agreement did not become

unconditional.

The agreement provided for Turner Pope to receive a cash commission equal to 8 per

cent. of the gross aggregate value of the funds sourced by Turner Pope in the placing.

(c)      Pursuant to a placing agreement dated 21 January 2019 between (1) Modern Water and

(2) Turner Pope, Turner Pope agreed to use its reasonable endeavours, as agent for the

Modern Water, to procure placees for 9,000,000 Modern Water Shares by way of a

conditional placing at 6.5 pence per share. This agreement contained customary

warranties and indemnities given by the Modern Water in favour of Turner Pope. This

agreement was conditional upon, among other things, none of the warranties or

undertakings given to Turner Pope being or becoming untrue, inaccurate or misleading in

any material respect. Turner Pope had the right to terminate this agreement in certain

circumstances prior to Admission (as defined therein), in particular, in the event of a

material breach of the warranties, a material adverse change in the financial position or

prospects of the Modern Water Group taken as a whole or if the agreement did not become

unconditional.

5.3.1
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The agreement provided for Turner Pope to receive a cash commission equal to 6 per

cent. of the gross aggregate value of the funds sourced by Turner Pope in the placing. In

addition, it received 540,000 non-transferable subscription warrants exercisable at 6.5

pence per share during the period of 2 years following Admission (as defined therein).

10.3   Save as disclosed in paragraphs 11.1.2 and 11.1.3 below, there are no material contracts of

DeepVerge or Modern Water which are affected by the Offer.

11.     Service Contracts

11.1    Set out below are details of the service agreements of each of the Modern Water Directors:

11.1.1 Simon Humphrey

Mr Humphrey is engaged as Chief Executive Officer of Modern Water pursuant to the

terms of a service agreement dated 18 May 2007. Mr Humphrey is paid a salary of

£138,000 per annum and received other benefits amounting to £6,000 and pension

contributions amounting to £14,000 in the last financial year. The employment of Mr

Humphrey may be terminated by either party giving to the other twelve months’ notice.

The appointment may be terminated immediately without notice if he breaches the terms

of his appointment, fails to perform his duties, is guilty of gross misconduct and/or any

serious or persistent negligence. Modern Water will also reimburse Mr Humphrey for all

expenses reasonably incurred in the proper performance of his duties.

11.1.2 Gerard Brandon

Mr. Brandon is engaged as non-executive director of Modern Water pursuant to the terms

of a letter of appointment dated 3 March 2020. Mr. Brandon may also be required to serve

as Chairman of the Modern Water Board from time to time. The appointment was for an

initial period of two years, is continuing on the same basis and may be terminated by

either party giving to the other three months’ notice. The appointment may be terminated

immediately without notice if he breaches the terms of his appointment, fails to perform

his duties, is guilty of gross misconduct and/or any serious or persistent negligence. Mr.

Brandon receives fees of £50,000 per year for each of the first 2 years. In the event of a

change of control of Modern Water, up to the second anniversary of his appointment, Mr.

Brandon will receive his two years fee in the form of Modern Water Shares at the price of

0.5 pence per share. Modern Water will also reimburse Mr. Brandon for all expenses

reasonably incurred in the proper performance of his duties.

11.1.3 Nigel Burton

Dr. Burton is engaged as non-executive director of Modern Water pursuant to the terms

of a letter of appointment dated 19 February 2020. The appointment was for an initial

period of two years, is continuing on the same basis and may be terminated by either

party giving to the other three months’ notice. The appointment may be terminated

immediately if he breaches the terms of his appointment, is unable to perform his duties,

is guilty of gross misconduct and/or any serious or persistent negligence. Dr. Burton

receives fees of £30,000 per year for each of the first 2 years. In the event of a change

of control of Modern Water, up to the second anniversary of his appointment, Dr. Burton

will receive his two years fee in the form of Modern Water Shares at the price of 0.5 pence

per share. Modern Water will also reimburse Dr Burton for all expenses reasonably

incurred in the proper performance of his duties.

11.2    No service contracts of Modern Water Directors have been entered into or amended with Modern

Water or any of its subsidiaries within six months of the date of this document.

12.     Ratings

12.1   As far as DeepVerge is aware, no rating agency has publicly accorded DeepVerge any current

credit rating or outlook.

12.2   As far as Modern Water is aware, no rating agency has publicly accorded Modern Water any

current credit rating or outlook.
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13.     Significant change                                                                                                                         

13.1   Save as disclosed in this document in relation to the Riverfort Facility as set out in paragraph 10.1

(xii) of Part VIII of this document, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading

position of DeepVerge since 30 June 2020 (the date to which the latest published interim financial

information for DeepVerge was prepared).

13.2   There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of Modern Water since

30 June 2020 (the date to which the latest published interim financial information for Modern

Water were prepared).

14.     Litigation                                                                                                                                         

14.1   DeepVerge Group

There have been no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such

proceedings which are pending or threatened of which DeepVerge is aware) during the 12

months preceding the date of this document which may have, or have had in the recent past,

significant effects on the financial position or profitability of DeepVerge and/or the DeepVerge

Group nor, so far as DeepVerge is aware, are any such proceedings pending or threatened.

14.2   Modern Water Group

There have been no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such

proceedings which are pending or threatened of which Modern Water is aware) during the 12

months preceding the date of this document which may have, or have had in the recent past,

significant effects on the financial position or profitability of Modern Water and/or Modern Water

Group nor, so far as Modern Water is aware, are any such proceedings pending or threatened.

15.     Employees

15.1   DeepVerge                                                                                                                                       

The average number of persons, including directors, employed by DeepVerge and the

DeepVerge Group during each of the accounting reference periods set out below was as follows:

                                                  As at the date of    31 December   31 December   31 December 
                                                      this document                  2019                  2018                  2017

Management and Finance                               6                       6                       4                       4

Non-Executive Directors                                   1                       2                       2                       4

Administration                                                   2                       1                       1                       1

IT                                                                      4                       3                       –                       –

Operations                                                      14                    10                      9                       6
                                                            ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Total                                                                27                    22                    16                    15                                                            ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––

15.2   Modern Water                                                                                                                                 

The monthly average number of persons, including directors, employed by Modern Water and

the Modern Water Group during each of the accounting reference periods set out below was as

follows:

                                                  As at the date of    31 December   31 December   31 December 
                                                      this document                  2019                  2018                  2017

Executive Director                                             1                        1                        1                        1

Technical                                                            5                      16                      17                      22

Business development                                      5                      11                      15                      13

Finance, legal and administration                     4                        4                        6                        6
                                                            ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––
Total                                                                 15                      32                      39                      42                                                            ––––––––          ––––––––          ––––––––        –––––––––

16.     Financing arrangements                                                                                                                

It is estimated that full acceptance of the Offer would require the issue by DeepVerge of a maximum of

52,469,321 new DeepVerge Shares. Modern Water has 70,500,000 outstanding ‘in the money’ Broker

Warrants and 890,000 ‘in the money’ options under the Modern Water Share Option Schemes which,

if exercised before completion of the Offer, will require the issue of a further 7,050,000 and 89,000

DeepVerge Shares respectively.

2.4.3

2.4.3

2.6.1

2.5.3

3.2.5
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17.     Working Capital                                                                                                                              

In DeepVerge’s opinion, the working capital available to the Enlarged Group is sufficient for the Enlarged

Group’s present requirements (that is for at least 12 months following the date of this Document).

18.     Market Abuse Regulation Disclosures                                                                                         

References in 18.1 and 18.2 below to “DeepVerge” were shown as “Integumen” in the original

publications via the Regulatory News Service.

18.1   DeepVerge has made the following disclosures as required by the Market Abuse Regulation

596/2014 in the 12 months prior to the date of this document:

Date Title of Announcement Disclosure

9/10/2020 Update on Offer DeepVerge announces that it currently expects that

the Offer Document will be published during the

week commencing Monday 12 October 2020.

6/10/2020 DeepVerge announces the change of name from

Integumen to DeepVerge has now been officially

confirmed by the Registrar of Companies.  The

ordinary shares will trade under the name

DeepVerge plc (with ticker DVRG) from today. 

The Company announces that Labskin has received

initial orders worth c£190,000 to be completed this

quarter, with four new customers, each a global

player, with combined sales revenues of US$56

Billion in the cosmetics, personal care, and medical

device sectors. 

2/10/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from a warrant holder to exercise

warrants over 10,000 shares in the share capital of

DeepVerge at an exercise price of 20 pence.

30/09/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has signed a

Memorandum of Understanding with Water Rising

Institute, a Non Profit Organization in Detroit,

Michigan, USA, to enter a legally binding three year

Framework Agreement to be executed on or before

the 18 November 2020 for the supply of $500,000 of

equipment, consumables and services from

ecowaterOS partners, for the management and real-

time monitoring of water quality, initially in the Great

Lakes basin region of Michigan.

25/09/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from multiple warrant holders to exercise

warrants over 348,808 shares in the share capital of

DeepVerge. This consists of 82,142 warrants with an

exercise price of 20 pence and 266,666 warrants

with an exercise price of 15 pence.

25/09/2020 Offer Update DeepVerge announces that with the agreement of

the Independent Modern Water Directors,

DeepVerge has sought and obtained approval from

the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers to extend the

deadline for publication of the Offer Document.

DeepVerge currently expects that the Offer

Document will be published by Friday 9 October

2020.

First US DeepVerge

COVID-19 Detection

Agreement

Change of Name

effective; ticker update;

Four new Labskin

contracts with global

companies

Exercise of Warrants;

total voting rights

Exercise of Warrants;

total voting rights

4.2.1

2.7.1
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Date Title of Announcement Disclosure

24/09/2020 DeepVerge announces progress for its COVID-19

wastewater detection system, Microtox PD, in

collaboration with Modern Water, Avacta Group plc

and Aptamer Group Limited. The Company also

today announces the unveiling of a new

personalised COVID-19 breath test, Microtox BT,

and its complementary Digital Health Pass platform.

24/09/2020 Result of AGM Following the Annual General Meeting convened by

the Notice of AGM dated 1 September 2020,

DeepVerge announces that all resolutions were

approved by shareholders.

18/09/2020 Issue of Share Options DeepVerge announces that it has adopted a group

share option scheme on 18 September 2020 under

which Company employees will be eligible for

awards.  The share option scheme includes an EMI

scheme for UK employees and a Share Options

Scheme for Irish employees, all subject to

performance criteria.  The Company has granted

share options over a total of 1,762,220 ordinary

shares of £0.001 per share under the above

schemes. Junior staff have been granted options

with shorter vesting date and lower exercise price to

reward, retain and recognise their contribution to

date and their importance to the Company going

forward. 

18/09/2020 Interim Results DeepVerge announces its unaudited interim results

for the six months ended 30 June 2020.

16/09/2020 Exercise of Warrants DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from multiple warrant holders to exercise

warrants over 42,500 shares in the share capital of

Integumen at an exercise price of 20 pence.

15/09/2020 DeepVerge announces that at the general meeting

held earlier in the day, all the Resolutions were duly

passed.

10/09/2020 Exercise of Warrants DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from multiple warrant holders to exercise

warrants over 4,417,857 shares in the share capital

of Integumen at an exercise price of 2 pence.

08/09/2020 Exercise of Warrants Integumen announces that it has received

notification from a warrant holder to exercise

warrants over 500,000 shares in the share capital of

Integumen at an exercise price of 2 pence.

01/09/2020 Notice of AGM DeepVerge announces that it has sent a Notice of

Annual General Meeting to shareholders

28/08/2020 Exercise of Warrants DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from multiple warrant holders to exercise

warrants over 13,464,286 shares at an exercise

price of 2 pence.

28/08/2020 The Boards of DeepVerge and Modern Water

announce that they have reached agreement on the

terms of a recommended offer to be made by

DeepVerge for the entire issued and to be issued

share capital of Modern Water.

Unveiling of new

COVID-19 personalised

real-time Breath Test

and Digital Health Pass

Platform

Result of General

Meeting

Recommended All

equity offer for Modern

Water
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Date Title of Announcement Disclosure

26/08/2020 Exercise of Warrants DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from multiple warrant holders to exercise

warrants over 1,928,573 shares in the share capital

of DeepVerge at an exercise price of 2 pence.

24/08/2020 Exercise of Warrants DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from multiple warrant holders to exercise

warrants over 1,249,999 shares at an exercise price

of 2 pence.

14/08/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from multiple warrant holders to exercise

warrants over 29,404,762 shares. This consists of

26,071,429 warrants with an exercise price of 2

pence and 3,333,333 warrants with an exercise

price of 1.5 pence.

07/08/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from a warrant holder to exercise

warrants over 1,715,714 shares with an exercise

price of 2 pence.

29/07/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has secured a £3

million 3 year loan facility with Riverfort Global

Opportunities PCC Limited and YA II PN, Ltd, and

with an Initial drawdown of £1.5m.

24/07/2020 Labskin, a subsidiary of DeepVerge, announces the

launch of the world’s first remote clincal skin trials

platform.

13/07/2020  DeepVerge has signed a Material Transfer

Agreement with Avacta plc to evaluate the

immobilisation of Avacta’s affirmer® proteins on a

novel sensor for the purpose of detection of SARS-

CoV-2 in wastewater.

22/06/2020 DeepVerge has signed a Material Transfer

Agreement with the Aptamer Group Limited to

develop and manufacture aptamers to detect SARS-

CoV-2 in wastewater.

15/06/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has entered into a

£400,000 loan facility with Cellulac Limited.

15/06/2020 Final Results DeepVerge announces its final results for the year

ended 31 December 2019.

05/06/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from a warrant holder to exercise

warrants over 3,333,332 shares at an exercise price

of 1.5 pence.

Exercise of Warrants;

Total Voting Rights

Exercise of Warrants;

Total Voting Rights

DeepVerge secures £3

million funding facility

Labskin launches

remote clinical skin trials

Partners with Avacta for

novel SARS-CoV-2

sensors

DeepVerge COVID-19

MTA signed with

Aptamer Group

Unsecured Loan Facility

Agreement with Cellulac

Exercise of Warrants;

Total Voting Rights
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Date Title of Announcement Disclosure

03/06/2020 DeepVerge announces that its subsidiary, Labskin,

will begin the immediate testing of anti-viral treatments

on Labskin cloned human skin coated with SARS-

CoV-2 virus to investigate the use of consumer and

dental care products that have the potential to mitigate

the risk of transmission of the disease. Labskin has

secured access to the SARS-CoV-2 virus Category 3

laboratory at the University of Aberdeen to assess the

strain “SARS-CoV-2 England/2/2020” regarding its

transmissibility impact to and from human skin without

exposing human volunteers to dangerous clinical trial

contamination risk.

29/05/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from a warrant holder to exercise

warrants over 3,000,000 shares at an exercise price

of 1.5 pence (replacement of 28/05/2020

announcement).

28/05/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has received

notification from a warrant holder to exercise

warrants over 3,000,000 shares at an exercise price

of 1.5 pence.

06/05/2020 DeepVerge announces completion of the first batch

of reagent for Modern Water plc. Shipment has

commenced to meet the back-orders and growing

demand for water contamination detection bacteria

from existing clients. DeepVerge has doubled

production volume with a total list price value of

£500,000 per batch, after the current initial

production run.

30/03/2020 DeepVerge announces that due to the global

COVID-19 public health crisis, and in order to meet

back-orders and growing demand for water

contamination detection bacteria from existing

customers across Spain, Italy and China, production

of Modern Water’s monitoring bacteria reagent has

commenced this week, six weeks ahead of the

originally planned production date.

23/03/2020 The Company has been notified that Mr R. Andrews,

Non-Executive Chairman, has acquired 1,000,000

ordinary shares at a price of 0.89 pence per share.

18/03/2020 The Company has been notified that Mr G Brandon,

Chief Executive, has today acquired 1,100,000

ordinary shares at a price of 0.83 pence per share.

18/03/2020 DeepVerge announces that it has signed a three-

year revenue-sharing, manufacturing agency

agreement (“Agreement”) with Modern Water to

manufacture and provide logistic support for the

Modern Water’s monitoring reagent consumables.

The Agreement is for $1.25m (£1.04m) per year for

3-years, worth a total of $3.75m (£3.12m). In

addition, DeepVerge confirms a further 100%

expansion of its purpose-built product and

development laboratories in York, UK, to 6,000

square feet, adding six more laboratory rooms to

meet growing demand.

Replacement:Exercise

of Warrants; Total Voting

Rights

Labskin anti-viral

COVID19 skin and

dental tests

Exercise of Warrants;

total voting rights

Doubling of production

of Modern Water

reagent

Update re COVID 19;

confirmed orders;

investment

Director/PDMR

Shareholding

Director/PDMR

Shareholding

3 year $3.75m (£3.12m)

bacteria production

agreement
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Date Title of Announcement Disclosure

26/02/2020 DeepVerge announces the launch of EcoWaterOS,

a green-tech data management eco-system that

monitors and analyses water for bacteria

contamination using artificial intelligence.

03/02/2020 DeepVerge’s subsidiary Rinocloud announces that it

has entered into a commercial and AI development

partnership with Acumen Software (Pty) Ltd of South

Africa.

21/01/2020 DeepVerge’s subsidiary Labskin today announces

that it has signed a Memorandum of Understanding

with Innocare Group. The cooperative alliance has

been established to promote innovation and

cooperation between research institutions that will

assist commercial enterprises in China with routes to

regulatory compliance using Labskin and LabskinAI

without the need for animal testing for cosmetics and

skincare products.

DeepVerge also announced a post year-end 2019

Trading Update.

19/12/2019 Rinocloud, a subsidiary of DeepVerge has signed a

3-year Framework Agreement with Parity

Professionals Limited, a subsidiary of Parity Group

plc for the supply and roll-out of mobile enterprise

resource, data management and business tool

software services to clients from the National Health

Service, Public Sector, Utilities, Housing

Associations and Private Institutional companies.

16/12/2019 DeepVerge announces the following directors have

acquired shares : Mr G Brandon, Chief Executive, has

acquired 1,084,511 shares at 1.5 pence per share,

Mr C Glover 1,084,510 shares at 1.5 pence per share

and Mr F Murray 1,084,510 shares at 1.5 pence per

share.

09/12/2019 DeepVerge announces a subscription for new

Ordinary Shares and a placing of new Ordinary

Shares through its broker, Turner Pope, involving the

issue of, in aggregate, 91,253,530 new Ordinary

Shares at 1.5 pence per share which will raise

approximately £1.368 million (before expenses).

13/11/2019  DeepVerge announces that it has signed Heads of

Terms with Parity plc to enter a multi-year

Framework Agreement to be completed on or before

the 18 December 2019 for the supply of Artificial

Intelligent software across Parity’s National Health

Service, Central Government and Private

Institutional clients.

07/11/2019 DeepVerge announces that its Labskin subsidiary

has signed agreements with two new, and one

existing, Top 20 global cosmetic company clients for

microbiome research and development services,

worth an aggregated low six-figure value, to be

completed over the next four months.

Launch of EcoWaterOS;

Company Update

Commercial & AI

partnership with

Acumen Software

Cooperative Alliance;

Trading Update

3-year Revenue sharing

Framework Agreement

with Parity Group

Director/PDMR

Shareholdings

Placing and subscription

to raise £1.368 million

Heads of Terms -

Framework Agreement;

trading update

Microbiome and Labskin

clone R&D agreements

signed
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Date Title of Announcement Disclosure

29/10/2019 DeepVerge announces the launch of Rinodrive as

an independent Artificial Intelligent (AI) platform for

collaboration and joint venture partners as an open-

source cloud-based eco-system.

Further details of each of the above announcements can be found at DeepVerge’s website at

www.deepverge.com.

18.2   Modern Water has made the following disclosures as required by the Market Abuse Regulation

596/2014 in the 12 months prior to the date of this document:

Date Title of Announcement Disclosure

30/09/2020 Modern Water notes that DeepVerge has announced

that it has signed a Memorandum of Understanding to

enter a 3-year Framework Agreement with the

WaterRising Institute. The Framework Agreement

covers the supply of $500,000 of equipment,

consumables and services from ecowaterOS partners,

which includes Modern Water, for the management and

real-time monitoring of water quality, initially in the

Great Lakes basin region of Michigan.

25/09/2020 Offer Update Modern Water announces that with the agreement of

the Independent Modern Water Directors, DeepVerge

has sought and obtained approval from the Panel on

Takeovers and Mergers to extend the deadline for

publication of the Offer Document. DeepVerge

currently expects that the Offer Document will be

published by Friday 9 October 2020.

22/09/2020 Half-year report Modern Water reported its interim results for the 6

months ended 30 June 2020

18/09/2020 Result of GM Modern Water  announces that, at the annual

general meeting held on 19 September 2020 all

resolutions were duly passed.

24/08/2020 Final Results Modern Water announces its final results for the year

ended 31 December 2019.

11/08/2020 Modern Water announces that it has taken longer

than originally expected to finalise the audit of

financial results for the year ended 31 December

2019.

17/07/2020 Holding(s) in Company TR1 announcement by Hawk Investment Holdings

Limited that following a disposal of shares it now

holds 2.97% of the share capital.

16/07/2020 Holding(s) in Company TR1 announcement by Helium Rising Stars Fund

that following a disposal of shares it now holds

13.55% of the share capital.

13/07/2020 Modern Water notes that DeepVerge, Modern

Water’s reagent production agency partner, has

entered into a collaboration agreement with Avacta

plc (“Avacta”) for the evaluation of Avacta affimers

for the real-time identification of localised COVID-19

hotspots in wastewater, from which authorities can

be alerted through DeepVerge’s real-time alert

system to prevent the spread of the disease to the

wider community.

Launch of ind. Rinodrive

AI open-source eco-

system

Statement re

announcement by

DeepVerge

Update re 2019 Final

Results and Annual

Report

Agreement between

DeepVerge and Avacta
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Date Title of Announcement Disclosure

30/06/2020 Modern Water announces that there will be a short

delay in the publication of its audited financial results

for the year ended 31 December 2019.

02/06/2020 Exercise of Warrants Modern Water announces that it has received

exercise notices in respect of a total of 22,000,000

warrants, exercisable at 0.5 pence per ordinary

share.

26/05/2020 Modern Water announces that it has secured the

sale of its largest single order for 20 Microtrace®

PDV units and 7 sets of related consumables in

China. The total value of the order is CNY3.56

million (c£410,000).

15/05/2020 Holding(s) in Company TR1 announcement by Helium Rising Stars Fund

that following a disposal of shares it now holds

15.91% of the share capital.

13/05/2020 Modern Water announces that, following the

collaboration agreement with Ion Exchange (India)

Ltd an order for stage one of a two stage project with

a total value of c. £900,000 project has been

received.

06/05/2020 Production Update Modern Water announces that DeepVerge has

commenced shipping to meet the back-orders and

growing demand for water contamination detection

bacteria from existing clients.

30/03/2020 Modern Water announces that orders for water

contamination detection bacteria consumables have

increased by 46% in Q1 2020 compared to Q1 2019.

18/03/2020 Holding(s) in Company TR1 announcement by Spreadex that following a

disposal of shares it now holds <3% of the share

capital.

18/03/2020 Modern Water announces that it has signed a three-

year revenue sharing manufacturing agency

agreement with DeepVerge to manufacture, and

provide logistic support for the supply of Modern

Water’s water monitoring reagent consumables to

Monitoring Division clients on behalf of Modern

Water.

04/03/2020 Appointment of Director Modern Water announces the appointment of

Gerard James Brandon to the Board of Modern

Water as Chairman.

28/02/2020 Holding(s) in Company TR1 announcement by Spreadex that it holds <3%

of the share capital.

26/02/2020 Modern Water announces that it has signed a non-

binding heads of terms with Cellulac plc to enter a

multi-year framework services agreement to be

completed on or before 31 March 2020 for the

supply of water contamination monitoring

equipment, services and decontamination

membrane solutions across Cellulac’s sales,

marketing and distribution channels in waste-water,

chemical, bio chemical, biofuel and biodegradable

plastic industries. 

Delay in Publication of

2019 Final Results

Sichuan China orders

c£0.4m of Modern

Water units

First Modern Water

wastewater AMBC order

for India

Increase in Orders for

Reagent Consumables

Agreement signed with

DeepVerge

Agreement signed &

EcoWaterOS Consortium

99

174138      Proof 11 Tuesday, October 13, 2020 11:30



Date Title of Announcement Disclosure

20/02/2020 Directorate Change Modern Water confirms the appointment of Dr Nigel

Burton to the Board of Modern Water as a non-

executive director, and that Piers Clark and Mike

Townend, non-executive chairman and non-

executive director, respectively, have resigned from

the Board.

18/02/2020 Holding(s) in Company TR1 announcement by Janus Henderson that it now

holds <5% of the share capital.

18/02/2020 Holding(s) in Company TR1 announcement by Helium Rising Stars Fund

that following an acquisition of shares it now holds

19.89% of the share capital.

18/02/2020 Holding(s) in Company TR1 announcement by Hawk Investment Holdings

Limited that following an acquisition of shares it now

holds 3.30% of the share capital Hawk Investment

Holdings Limited.

14/02/2020 Modern Water announces the result of its general

meeting.

28/01/2020 Modern Water announces a circular has been

posted, and a general meeting convened to approve

the placing.

24/01/2020 Modern Water announces placing of £1.85 million, in

a placing of 370,000,000 new shares at a price of 0.5

pence per share, subject to approval by

shareholders at a general meeting.

23/12/2019 Modern Water announces that it has secured the

sale of its largest single order for its Microtox® CTM

to a customer in China with an order value of

US$335,000; and that it has signed a collaboration

agreement with Ion Exchange (India) Ltd, a large

international specialist in water and environment

management. 

25/11/2019 Modern Water announce that it secured the sale of

its largest by volume All-Membrane Brine

Concentrator technology ("AMBC"), to be used in

South Korea's first deep seawater salt production

project.

Further details of each of the above announcements can be found at Modern Water’s website at

www.modernwater.com.

Result of General

Meeting

Posting of Circular and

Notice of General

Meeting

Conditional Placing,

Board Changes &

Notice of GM

CTM Order and

Collaboration Agreement

Sale of AMBC for Korea

Salt Production Facility
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19.     Fees and expenses

19.1   DeepVerge’s fees and expenses                                                                                                   

The following table sets out an estimate of the aggregate fees and expenses (excluding VAT)

expected to be incurred by DeepVerge in connection with the Offer (assuming full acceptance).

Estimated cost                                                                                                                               (£)

Financing arrangements                                                                                                             n/a

Financial and corporate broking advice                                                                            £125,000

Legal advice                                                                                                                      £125,000

Accounting advice                                                                                                               £30,000

Public relations advice                                                                                                                n/a

Other professional services                                                                                                  £5,000

Other costs and expenses                                                                                                  £39,000
                                                                                                                                         ––––––––

Total                                                                                                                                 £324,000

                                                                                                                                         ––––––––
19.2   Modern Water’s fees and expenses

The following table sets out an estimate of the aggregate fees and expenses (excluding VAT)

expected to be incurred by Modern Water in connection with the Offer.

Estimated cost                                                                                                                               (£)
Financing arrangements                                                                                                             n/a

Financial and corporate broking advice                                                                            £115,000

Legal advice                                                                                                                        £85,000

Accounting advice                                                                                                                       n/a

Public relations advice                                                                                                                n/a

Other professional services                                                                                                        n/a

Other costs and expenses                                                                                                          n/a
                                                                                                                                         ––––––––

Total                                                                                                                                   £200,000

                                                                                                                                         ––––––––
20.     DeepVerge Shares

20.1   Dividends                                                                                                                                        

The DeepVerge Shares entitle their holders to participate in the profits of the Company to the

extent that these are distributed to holders of DeepVerge Shares. The Company may (subject to

the provisions of the Act) by ordinary resolution declare dividends to be paid to members in

accordance with their respective rights and their respective interests provided that no dividend

shall be paid otherwise than out of profits of the Company available for distribution and no

dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the directors. The DeepVerge Directors may

from time to time pay such interim dividends as appear to them to be justified.

All dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid or credited as

paid on the DeepVerge Shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which

the dividend is paid. No amount paid or credited as paid in advance of calls shall be regarded as

paid on shares for this purpose.

All dividends unclaimed for a period of 12 years after the payment date for such dividend shall if

the directors so resolve be forfeited and shall revert to the Company.

20.2   Voting

Subject to any special terms as to voting upon which any DeepVerge Shares may for the time

being, be held, on a show of hands every member who (being an individual) is present in person

(or by proxy) or (being a corporation) is present in person by its duly appointed representative

shall have one vote and on a poll every member present in person or by representative or proxy

shall have one vote for every DeepVerge Share held by him.

4.3.2.5

4.5.1
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20.3   Pre-emption rights

There are no rights of pre-emption under the Articles in respect of transfers of DeepVerge

Shares. In certain circumstances, the Company’s shareholders have statutory pre-emption rights

under the Companies Act in respect of the allotment of new shares in the capital of the Company.

Unless disapplied with shareholder approval, these statutory pre-emption rights require the

Company to offer new shares for allotment to existing shareholders on a pro rata basis before

allotment to other persons.

20.4   Return of  capital

Subject to any preferred, deferred or other special rights, or subject to such conditions or

restrictions to which any shares in the capital of the Company may be issued, on a winding-up

or other return of capital, the holders of ordinary shares are entitled to share in any surplus assets

remaining after the distribution of the Company’s liabilities pro rata to the amount paid up or

deemed to be paid up on their ordinary shares. A liquidator may, with the sanction of a special

resolution of the Company and any other sanction required by the Companies Act, divide

amongst the members in specie or in kind the whole or any part of the assets of the Company,

those assets to be set at such value as he deems fair. A liquidator may also vest the whole or

any part of the assets of the Company in trustees on trusts for the benefit of the members.

20.5   Form of  DeepVerge Shares                                                                                                           

The Offer Shares will be in registered form, will be freely transferable and will rank equally with

the New DeepVerge Shares in issue at the time the Offer Shares are allotted and issued pursuant

to the terms of the Offer.

The Company’s Registrars, Neville Registrars, whose address is at Neville House, Steelpark

Road, Halesowen B62 8HD, maintain the Company’s register of members.

20.6   Markets                                                                                                                                            

The DeepVerge Shares are admitted to trading on AIM and no other market. Application will be

made for the New DeepVerge Shares to be admitted to trading on AIM and no other market.

21.     General

21.1   Save as disclosed in this document, no agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any

compensation arrangement) exists between any member of the DeepVerge Group or any person

acting in concert with it for the purpose of the Offer, and any of the directors, recent directors,

shareholders or recent shareholders of Modern Water (or any person interested or recently

interested in Modern Water Shares) having any connection with or dependence upon the Offer.

21.2   Save as disclosed in this document, no proposal exists in connection with the Offer regarding any

incentivisation arrangement with members of Modern Water management who are interested in

Modern Water Shares that any payment or other benefit be made or given by DeepVerge, or any

person acting in concert with DeepVerge to any Modern Water Director as compensation for loss

of office or as consideration for or in connection with his retirement from office.

21.3   Save as disclosed in this document, there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding by

which any of the Modern Water Shares acquired by DeepVerge pursuant to the Offer will be

transferred to any other person, save that DeepVerge reserves the right to transfer any such

Modern Water Shares acquired to any member of the DeepVerge Group.

21.4   There are no agreements or arrangements to which DeepVerge is a party which relate to the

circumstances in which it may or may not invoke or seek to invoke a condition of the Offer.

21.5   Save as disclosed in paragraph 6 of Part I and paragraph 9 of Part II of this document, there are

no conflicts of interest that DeepVerge, Modern Water or any of their respective shareholders

may have in respect of the Offer.

21.6   Save as disclosed in this document, the emoluments of the current DeepVerge Directors will not

be affected by the Offer.

4.3.2.2

4.3.2.3

4.4.2

3.4.1
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21.7   SPARK Advisory Partners Limited has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the

issue of this document with the inclusion herein of the references to its name in the form and

context in which it appears.

21.8   Cairn Financial Advisers LLP has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of

this document with the inclusion herein of the references to its name in the form and context in

which it appears.

21.9   The business address of Turner Pope Investments (TPI) Limited, brokers to DeepVerge plc, is 8

Frederick’s Place, London EC2R 8AB. Turner Pope Investments (TPI) Limited has given and has

not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this document with the inclusion herein of the

references to its name in the form and context in which it appears. Turner Pope Investments (TPI)

Limited has interests in the Company as set out in paragraph 3.3 of Part VIII of this document.

21.10 The business address of Jeffreys Henry LLP, Chartered Accountants, is Finsgate, 5-7 Cranwood

Street, London EC1V 9EE. Jeffreys Henry LLP has given and has not withdrawn its written

consent to the issue of this document with the inclusion of its name and report in the form and

context in which they appear and accepts responsibility for them. The report from Jeffreys Henry

LLP is dated the same date as this document. Jeffreys Henry LLP is a member firm of the

Institute of Chartered Accountants.

21.11  All references to time in this document and the Form of Acceptance are to London time unless

the context requires otherwise.

21.12 Where information has been sourced from a third party, this information has been accurately

reproduced, and as far as DeepVerge is aware and is able to ascertain from information provided

by that third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information

inaccurate or misleading.

22.     Documents on display                                                                                                                   

22.1   A copy of this document is available free of charge at the websites of DeepVerge and Modern

Water at (respectively) www.deepverge.com and www.modernwater.com promptly following the

publication of this document and in any event by no later than 12 noon on the business day

following the publication of this document until the end of the Offer Period (or, if later, the end of

any competition reference period). 

22.2   Copies of the following documents have been published on the websites of DeepVerge and

Modern Water websites at (respectively) www.deepverge.com and www.modernwater.com and

will be available until the end of the Offer Period (or, if later, the end of any competition reference

period or any period specified below):

22.2.1 the Irrevocable Undertakings to accept (or procure the acceptance of) the Offer referred

to in paragraph 6.5 above;

22.2.2 the articles of association of DeepVerge (until the first anniversary of the date of this

document);

22.2.3 the articles of association of Modern Water;

22.2.4 the historical financial information referred to in Parts V and VI of this document (until the

first anniversary of the date of this document);

22.2.5 the consent letters referred to in paragraph 21 above of SPARK, Cairn, Turner Pope and

Jeffreys Henry (until the first anniversary of the date of this document);

22.2.6 the material contracts referred to in paragraph 10 above;

22.2.7 the Announcement;

22.2.8 the Form of Acceptance; and

22.2.9 this document.

1.4.1

6.1

1.3.1
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For the avoidance of doubt, the content of the websites referred to in paragraphs 22.1 and 22.2 above

is not incorporated into and does not form part of this document and such content will not form part of

this document unless it is specifically incorporated by reference into this document.
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PART IX

BASES AND SOURCES

Unless otherwise stated in this document:

1.1     financial information relating to DeepVerge has been extracted from the audited accounts of

DeepVerge for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 and the unaudited interim report for

the six month period ended 30 June 2020;

1.2     financial information relating to Modern Water has been extracted from the audited accounts of

Modern Water for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 and the unaudited interim report

for the six month period ended 30 June 2020;

1.3     the value of the fully diluted share capital of Modern Water is calculated on the basis of:

(a)      524,693,214 Modern Water Shares in issue on 12 October 2020 (being the last business

day prior to the publication of this Document);

(b)      890,000 ‘in the money’ options outstanding under the Modern Water Share Schemes on

12 October 2020 (being the business day prior to the publication of this Document) and

which are capable of exercise; and

(c)      80,078,000 warrants, comprising 70,500,000 ‘in the money’ warrants and 9,578,000 ‘out

of the money’ warrants outstanding on 12 October 2020 (being the last business day prior

to the publication of this Document);

1.4     the number of New DeepVerge Shares to be issued in respect of full acceptance of the Offer is

calculated based upon the number of Modern Water Shares in issue (as described in sub-

paragraph 1.3 above) resulting in the issue of approximately 52,469,321 New DeepVerge

Shares;

1.5     the market capitalisation of the Enlarged Group is calculated on the basis of 113,544,451

DeepVerge Shares in issue as at 12 October 2020 (being the last business day prior to the

publication of this document) and 52,469,321 New DeepVerge Shares to be issued pursuant to

the Offer;

                                                                                                              Number of         Number of
                                                                                                                Securities    Voting Rights

Before the Offer                                                                                  113,544,451      113,544,451

After the Offer                                                                                     166,013,772      166,013,772

1.6     all share prices for DeepVerge Shares and Modern Water Shares are derived from the AIM

Appendix of the Daily Official List;

1.7     the ISIN for DeepVerge Shares is GB00BMGWZY29 and the ISIN for Modern Water Shares is

GB00B1XF5X66;

1.8     all share prices quoted for DeepVerge Shares and Modern Water Shares are closing prices; and

1.9     references to €/£ exchange rates are derived from spot rates as at the date of conversion.

4.3.1a

4.6.4
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PART X

DEFINITIONS

In this document and the Form of Acceptance, the following words and expressions have the following

meanings, unless the context requires otherwise:

“Act” or “Companies Act” the Companies Act 2006 (as amended or re-enacted);

“Acquisition” the proposed acquisition by DeepVerge of the entire issued and

to be issued share capital of Modern Water pursuant to the Offer;

“Admission” the admission of the New DeepVerge Shares to trading on AIM

in accordance with Rule 6 of the AIM Rules;

“AIM” the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange;

“AIM Rules” the rules applicable to companies governing their admission to

AIM, and following admission their continuing obligations to AIM,

as set out in the AIM Rules for Companies published by the

London Stock Exchange from time to time;

“AMBC” All-Membrane Brine Concentration, the headline technology for

Modern Water’s Membrane Division;

“Announcement” the announcement of the Offer dated 28 August 2020 made by

DeepVerge and Modern Water;

“Articles” the articles of association of Modern Water as at the date of the

Offer and “Article” shall mean any article of those Articles;

“Broker Warrants” the ‘in the money warrants’ comprising warrants to subscribe for

Modern Water Shares at 0.5 pence per share granted by Modern

Water to Turner Pope on 31 March 2020 and expiring on

16 February 2023, of which 70,500,000 remain outstanding;

“Business Day” or “business day” a day (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) on

which banks are generally open for business in the City of

London;

“Cairn” Cairn Financial Advisers LLP the nominated adviser, and

independent financial adviser to Modern Water for the purposes

of Rule 3 of the Code;

“Cellulac” Cellulac plc, a company in which DeepVerge has a 9.35 per

cent. shareholding;

where a share or other security is not in uncertificated form (that

is, not in CREST);

“Closing Price” the closing middle market quotation of a Modern Water Share or

a DeepVerge Share (as the case may be) as derived from the

AIM Appendix of the Daily Official List;

“CMA” the Competition and Markets Authority;

“Code” the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers, issued by the Panel;

“Conditions” the conditions to the Offer which are set out in Part III of this

document;

“connected person” as defined in section 252 of the Act;

“CREST” the relevant system (as defined in the CREST Regulations) in

respect of which Euroclear is the Operator (as defined in the

CREST Regulations);

“certificated” or in “certificated
form”
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“CREST Manual” the CREST Manual referred to in agreements entered into by

Euroclear and available at www.euroclear.com/CREST;

“CREST payment” has the meaning given in the CREST Manual;

“CREST Proxy Instruction” the appropriate CREST message to make a proxy appointment

by means of CREST;

“CREST Regulations” the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001 No.

3755);

“CREST sponsor” a CREST participant admitted to CREST as a CREST sponsor;

“Daily Official List” the daily official list of the London Stock Exchange;

“Dealing Disclosure” the announcement concerning dealings in relevant securities of

any party to the Acquisition required for the purposes of Rule 8

of the Code;

“DeepVerge” or “Company” DeepVerge plc (previously called Integumen plc);

the board of directors of DeepVerge and “DeepVerge Director”

means any member of the DeepVerge board of directors;

“DeepVerge Group” DeepVerge and its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings

(each as defined in the Act);

“DeepVerge Shares” ordinary shares of 0.1 pence each in the capital of the Company;

“DeepVerge Shareholders” holders of DeepVerge Shares;

“Disclosed” the information which has been fairly disclosed by or on behalf

of Modern Water: (i) in writing prior to the date of this document

to DeepVerge or DeepVerge’s professional advisers (in their

capacity as such in relation to the Acquisition); (ii) in the Annual

Report and Financial Statements of Modern Water; (iii) in the

Announcement; (iv) in this Document; or (v) in any other public

announcement made by Modern Water after 31 December 2019

and prior to the date of this Announcement in accordance with

the Market Abuse Regulation, the AIM Rules or the Disclosure

Guidance and Transparency Rules;

the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules of the FCA

under FSMA and contained in the FCA’s publication of the same

name (as amended from time to time);

“document” this document which comprises an offer document under the

Code and an Exemption Document for the purposes of the

Annex to Regulation EU2017/1129;

“EC Merger Regulation” Council Regulation 139/2004/EC (as amended);

“electronic form” as defined in the Code;

“Enlarged Group” the combined businesses of the DeepVerge Group and the

Modern Water Group following the completion of the Offer;

“Enlarged Share Capital” the issued share capital of DeepVerge as enlarged by the

Acquisition and the issue of the New DeepVerge Shares;

“Euroclear” Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited, a company incorporated under

the laws of England and Wales;

“Existing DeepVerge Shares” ordinary shares of 0.1 pence each in the capital of the Company;

“FCA” the UK Financial Conduct Authority;

“First Closing Date” 3 November 2020;

“Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules” or “DTRs”

4.3.1a

“DeepVerge Directors”

or “DeepVerge Board”
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“First Tranche” the first tranche of Offer Shares to be allotted and issued upon

the Offer being declared unconditional as to acceptances (which

shall be issued to those Modern Water Shareholders who have

validly accepted the Offer at that point);

“Form of Acceptance” the form of acceptance and authority relating to the Offer which

has been sent to Modern Water Shareholders who hold Modern

Water Shares in certificated form with this document;

“FSMA” the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended);

“hard copy form” as defined in the Code;

“HMRC” HM Revenue and Customs;

“holder” a registered holder of shares, including any person entitled by

transmission;

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the

European Union;

“Independent DeepVerge Directors” Ross Andrews, Camillus Glover and Fin Murray;

Simon Humphrey and Nigel Burton;

“in the money” refers to options and warrants in Modern Water with exercise

prices at below the Offer Price;

“Latest Practicable Date” 8 October 2020;

“London Stock Exchange” London Stock Exchange plc;

“Modern Water” Modern Water plc;

the board of directors of Modern Water and “Modern Water

Director” means any member of the Modern Water board of

directors;

“Modern Water Group” Modern Water and its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings

(as defined in the Act);

“Modern Water Options” the 890,000 outstanding options over Modern Water Shares

under the Modern Water Share Schemes;

“Modern Water Shareholders” holders of Modern Water Shares;

“Modern Water Shares” ordinary shares of 0.25 pence each in the capital of Modern

Water;

“Modern Water Share Schemes” the Modern Water plc Enterprise Management Incentive (EMI)

Share Option Plan and the Modern Water Inc 2014 Stock and

Option Plan;

“New DeepVerge Shares” the DeepVerge Shares of 0.1 pence each in the capital of the

Company which are to be issued pursuant to the Offer;

“Opening Position Disclosure” the announcement required for the purposes of Rule 8 of the

Code containing details of interests or short positions in, or rights

to subscribe for, any relevant securities of a party to the Offer if

the person concerned has such a position;

“Offer” the recommended offer by DeepVerge for the entire issued

share capital of Modern Water;

“Offer Period” the period commencing on 28 August 2020 and ending in

accordance with the rules of the Code;

“Independent Modern Water
Directors”

4.3.1a/b

“Modern Water Directors”

or “Modern Water Board”
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“Offer Price” 3.05 pence per Modern Water Share, being the implied price of

the Offer calculated using the closing mid-market share price of

a DeepVerge Share on the Latest Practicable Date;

“Offer Shares” the DeepVerge Shares to be issued to shareholders of Modern

Water by way of consideration under the Offer;

“Old DeepVerge Shares” the ordinary shares of 0.01 pence which were the subject of the

Share Consolidation on 16 September 2020;

“Overseas Shareholders” Modern Water Shareholders who are resident in, ordinarily

resident in, or citizens of, jurisdictions outside the United

Kingdom;

“out of the money” refers to options and warrants in Modern Water with exercise

prices above the Offer Price;

“Panel” the UK Panel on Takeovers and Mergers;

“participant ID” means the identification code or membership number used in

CREST to identify a particular CREST member or other CREST

participant;

“persons with information rights” as defined in the Code;

the lawful currency of the United Kingdom;

“Proposals” the Acquisition and Admission;

“Proposed Director” Dr Nigel Burton;

“Prospectus Regulation Rules” the Prospectus Regulation Rules made by the FCA pursuant to

section 73A of the FSMA;

“Receiving Agent” Neville Registrars Limited, a company incorporated under the

laws of England and Wales;

“Registrar of Companies” the Registrar of Companies for England and Wales, within the

meaning of the Act;

“Registrars” or “Neville Registrars” Neville Registrars Limited, a company incorporated under the

laws of England and Wales;

“Regulatory Information Service” one of the regulatory information services authorised by the

London Stock Exchange to receive, process and disseminate

regulatory information in respect of companies trading on AIM;

“Restricted Jurisdiction” the United States, Canada, Australia, South Africa, Republic of

Ireland, Japan and any other jurisdiction where extension or

acceptance of the Offer would violate the law of that jurisdiction;

“Restricted Overseas Shareholder” a person (including, without limitation, an individual, partnership,

unincorporated syndicate, limited liability company,

unincorporated organisation, trust, trustee, executor,

administrator or other legal representative) in, or resident in, or

any person whom DeepVerge (following consultation with

Modern Water) reasonably believes to be in, or resident in, any

Restricted Jurisdiction and persons in any other jurisdiction

(other than US persons or persons in the UK) whom DeepVerge

(following consultation with Modern Water) is advised to treat as

restricted overseas persons in order to observe the laws of such

jurisdiction or to avoid the requirement to comply with any

governmental or other consent or any registration, filing or other

formality which DeepVerge (following consultation with Modern

Water) regards as unduly onerous;

“Rinocloud” Rinocloud Limited, a subsidiary of the Company;

“pounds”, “£”, “pence”, “p” or

“Sterling”
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“SDRT” stamp duty reserve tax;

“Securities Act” the United States Securities Act 1933, as amended, and the

rules and regulations promulgated under such Act;

“Share Consolidation” the consolidation which took place on 16 September 2020

whereby every ten Old DeepVerge Shares of 0.01 pence each

were consolidated into one DeepVerge Share of 0.1 pence;

“SPARK” SPARK Advisory Partners Limited, financial adviser and

Nominated Adviser to DeepVerge;

“TTE Instruction” transfer to escrow instruction;

“Turner Pope” Turner Pope Investments (TPI) Limited, the Company’s broker;

“UK” or “United Kingdom” the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

“UK GAAP” generally accepted accounting principles in the United Kingdom;

in respect of a share or other security, where that share or other

security is recorded on the relevant register of the share or

security concerned as being held in uncertificated form in

CREST and title to which may be transferred by means of

CREST;

“US” or “United States” the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any

state of the United States of America and the District of Columbia

and all other areas subject to its jurisdiction;

“US Exchange Act” the US Securities Exchange Act 1934, as amended;

“US Person” as defined in Regulation S, as promulgated under the US

Securities Act;

“US Securities Act” the United States Securities Act 1933, as amended, and the

rules and regulations promulgated under such Act; and

“VAT” value added tax as provided under the Value Added Tax Act

1994.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references in this document to “GBP”, “£”, “pounds sterling”, “pounds”,

“sterling”, or “pence” are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.

For the purposes of this document, the expressions “subsidiary”, “subsidiary undertaking”, “associated

undertaking” and “undertaking” have the respective meanings given by the Act.

References to an enactment include references to that enactment as amended, replaced, consolidated

or re-enacted.

In this document, references to the singular include the plural and vice versa, unless the context

otherwise requires.

This document was published on 13 October 2020.

“uncertificated” or in

“uncertificated form”
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